
Democratic Services Contact Officer: Ian Senior, 03450 450 500 democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

26 May 2015 
 
To: Chairman – Councillor Lynda Harford 
 Vice-Chairman – Councillor David Bard 
 All Members of the Planning Committee - Councillors Brian Burling, 

Anna Bradnam, Pippa Corney, Kevin Cuffley, Sebastian Kindersley, Des O'Brien, 
Deborah Roberts, Tim Scott, Ben Shelton and Robert Turner 

Quorum: 3 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend the next meeting of PLANNING COMMITTEE, which will be held in the 
COUNCIL CHAMBER, FIRST FLOOR at South Cambridgeshire Hall on  
WEDNESDAY, 3 JUNE 2015 at 10.00 a.m. 
 
Members are respectfully reminded that when substituting on committees, subcommittees, and 
outside or joint bodies, Democratic Services must be advised of the substitution in advance of 
the meeting.  It is not possible to accept a substitute once the meeting has started.  Council 
Standing Order 4.3 refers. 
 
Yours faithfully 
JEAN HUNTER 
Chief Executive 
 

The Council is committed to improving, for all members of the 
community, access to its agendas and minutes.  We try to take all 
circumstances into account but, if you have any specific needs, 

please let us know, and we will do what we can to help you. 
 

AGENDA 
 

 PAGES 
 PUBLIC SEATING AND SPEAKING 
 Public seating is available both in the Council Chamber (First Floor) and the Public 
Gallery / Balcony (Second Floor). Those not on the Committee but wishing to speak at 
the meeting should first read the Public Speaking Protocol (revised May 2013) 
attached to the electronic version of the agenda on the Council’s website. 
   

 PROCEDURAL ITEMS   
 
1. Apologies   
 Councillor Anna Bradnam has sent Apologies. To receive apologies 

for absence from other committee members.  
 

   
2. Declarations of Interest  5 - 6 
 
3. Minutes of Previous Meeting   
 To authorise the Chairman to sign the Minutes of the meeting held  

 South Cambridgeshire Hall 
Cambourne Business Park 
Cambourne 
Cambridge 
CB23 6EA 
t: 03450 450 500 
f: 01954 713149 
www.scambs.gov.uk 



on 13 May 2015 as a correct record. The minutes are available at 
www.scambs.gov.uk 

   
 PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND OTHER DECISION ITEMS   
 
4. Hauxton: Proposed diversion of public footpath no. 1 under 

Section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
 7 - 16 

 The report from Cambridgeshire County Council, and Appendix B 
(Order plan), are attached to the electronic version of the agenda on 
the Council’s website and included in the printed copy of the 
agenda. Appendix A and Appendices C to I are attached to the 
electronic version of the agenda only. 

 

   
5. S/2365/14/OL - Barrington (Former CEMEX Cement Works, 

Barrington Cement Plant, Haslingfield Road) 
 17 - 40 

 
6. S/2791/14/OL - Melbourn (Land East of New Road)  41 - 70 
 
7. S/0070/15/FL - Melbourn (40 Medcalfe Way)  71 - 78 
 
8. S/2625/14/FL - Cottenham (1 Lambs Lane)  79 - 90 
 
9. S/0152/15/FL - Great Shelford (1 Mingle Lane)  91 - 100 
 
10. S/0572/15/FL - Great Shelford (2 Granhams Road)  101 - 108 
 
11. S/1013/15/FL - Cottenham (Cambridge Waste Management 

Park, Waterbeach) 
 109 - 120 

 
12. S/0619/15/FL - Impington (3 The Crescent)  121 - 132 
 
13. S/0324/15/FL - Linton ( 2 High Street)  133 - 138 
 
14. S/1888/14/OL - Dry Drayton (Hackers Fruit Farm)  139 - 152 
 
15. S/2829/14/FL - Fowlmere (Rear of Lanacre, Chrishall Road)  153 - 162 
 
16. Public Speaking Protocol - Review of arrangements at Planning 

Committee meetings 
 163 - 172 

 
 INFORMATION ITEMS   
 
17. Enforcement Report  173 - 178 
 
18. Appeals against Planning Decisions and Enforcement Action  179 - 180 
 



 
OUR LONG-TERM VISION 

 
South Cambridgeshire will continue to be the best place to live, work and study in the country. 
Our district will demonstrate impressive and sustainable economic growth. Our residents will 
have a superb quality of life in an exceptionally beautiful, rural and green environment. 
 
 

OUR VALUES 
 

We will demonstrate our corporate values in all our actions. These are: 
• Working Together 
• Integrity 
• Dynamism 
• Innovation 
  



 GUIDANCE NOTES FOR VISITORS TO SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE HALL 
 Notes to help those people visiting the South Cambridgeshire District Council offices  
While we try to make sure that you stay safe when visiting South Cambridgeshire Hall, you also have a 
responsibility for your own safety, and that of others. 
 
Security 
When attending meetings in non-public areas of the Council offices you must report to Reception, sign in, 
and at all times wear the Visitor badge issued.  Before leaving the building, please sign out and return the 
Visitor badge to Reception. 
Public seating in meeting rooms is limited. For further details contact Democratic Services on 03450 450 
500 or e-mail democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 
 
Emergency and Evacuation 
In the event of a fire, a continuous alarm will sound.  Leave the building using the nearest escape route; 
from the Council Chamber or Mezzanine viewing gallery this would be via the staircase just outside the 
door.  Go to the assembly point at the far side of the staff car park opposite the staff  entrance 

• Do not use the lifts to leave the building.  If you are unable to use stairs by yourself, the 
emergency staircase landings have fire refuge areas, which give protection for a minimum of 1.5 
hours.  Press the alarm button and wait for help from Council fire wardens or the fire brigade. 

• Do not re-enter the building until the officer in charge or the fire brigade confirms that it is safe to 
do so. 

 
First Aid 
If you feel unwell or need first aid, please alert a member of staff. 
 
Access for People with Disabilities 
We are committed to improving, for all members of the community, access to our agendas and minutes. 
We try to take all circumstances into account but, if you have any specific needs, please let us know, and 
we will do what we can to help you.  All meeting rooms are accessible to wheelchair users.  There are 
disabled toilet facilities on each floor of the building.  Infra-red hearing assistance systems are available in 
the Council Chamber and viewing gallery. To use these, you must sit in sight of the infra-red transmitter 
and wear a ‘neck loop’, which can be used with a hearing aid switched to the ‘T’ position.  If your hearing 
aid does not have the ‘T’ position facility then earphones are also available and can be used 
independently. You can get both neck loops and earphones from Reception. 
 
Toilets 
Public toilets are available on each floor of the building next to the lifts. 
 
Recording of Business and Use of Mobile Phones 
We are open and transparent about how we make decisions. We allow recording, filming and photography 
at Council, Cabinet and other meetings, which members of the public can attend, so long as proceedings 
at the meeting are not disrupted.  We also allow the use of social media during meetings to bring Council 
issues to the attention of a wider audience.  To minimise disturbance to others attending the meeting, 
please switch your phone or other mobile device to silent / vibrate mode. 
 
Banners, Placards and similar items 
You are not allowed to bring into, or display at, any public meeting any banner, placard, poster or other 
similar item.  Failure to do so, will result in the Chairman suspending the meeting until such items are 
removed. 
 
Disturbance by Public 
If a member of the public interrupts proceedings at a meeting, the Chairman will warn the person 
concerned.  If they continue to interrupt, the Chairman will order their removal from the meeting room.  If 
there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Chairman may call 
for that part to be cleared. The meeting will be suspended until order has been restored. 
 
Smoking 
Since 1 July 2008, South Cambridgeshire District Council has operated a Smoke Free Policy. No one is 
allowed to smoke at any time within the Council offices, or in the car park or other grounds forming part of 
those offices. 
 
Food and Drink 
Vending machines and a water dispenser are available on the ground floor near the lifts at the front of the 
building.  You are not allowed to bring food or drink into the meeting room. 
 



   
 

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
The law allows Councils to consider a limited range of issues in private session without members of the Press and 
public being present.  Typically, such issues relate to personal details, financial and business affairs, legal privilege 
and so on.  In every case, the public interest in excluding the Press and Public from the meeting room must outweigh 
the public interest in having the information disclosed to them.  The following statement will be proposed, seconded 
and voted upon.   
 
"I propose that the Press and public be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the following item 
number(s) ….. in accordance with Section 100(A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that, if 
present, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph(s) ….. of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act.” 
 
If exempt (confidential) information has been provided as part of the agenda, the Press and public will not be able to 
view it.  There will be an explanation on the website however as to why the information is exempt.   

 
Notes 

 
(1) Some development control matters in this Agenda where the periods of consultation and representation 

may not have quite expired are reported to Committee to save time in the decision making process. 
Decisions on these applications will only be made at the end of the consultation periods after taking into 
account all material representations made within the full consultation period. The final decisions may be 
delegated to the Corporate Manager (Planning and Sustainable Communities). 

 
(2) The Council considers every planning application on its merits and in the context of national, regional and 

local planning policy. As part of the Council's customer service standards, Councillors and officers aim to 
put customers first, deliver outstanding service and provide easy access to services and information. At all 
times, we will treat customers with respect and will be polite, patient and honest. The Council is also 
committed to treat everyone fairly and justly, and to promote equality. This applies to all residents and 
customers, planning applicants and those people against whom the Council is taking, or proposing to take, 
planning enforcement action.  More details can be found on the Council's website under 'Council and 
Democracy'. 



This page is left blank intentionally.



 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Public Speaking  
at meetings of the Planning Committee 

 
 

Approved May 2013 
Reaffirmed May 2014 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Annex

Page 1



 

 

 

 

What is the Planning Committee? 
 
The Council’s Planning Committee consists of 13 District Councillors and is responsible for the determination of 
the larger, more complex or sensitive planning applications submitted to the Council.  It also deals with other 
matters such as some public rights of way, the protection of important hedgerows, tree preservation and the 
administration and enforcement of building regulation regimes for existing or proposed buildings.  A complete 
list of matters decided by the Planning Committee can be found by looking at the Council’s Constitution (insert 
link).  

When and where do Planning Committee meetings take place? 
 
The Planning Committee meets in the Council Chamber at South Cambs Hall, Cambourne Business Park, 
Cambourne, Cambridge, CB23 6EA at 10.00am on a Wednesday, which is usually the first Wednesday each 
month.  Further details, including contacts, directions, and variations to dates are available on the Council’s 
website (www.scambs.gov.uk and follow the links from ‘Your Council’) or by phoning Democratic Services on 
03450 450 500. 

Can anyone attend Planning Committee meetings? 
 
Meetings of the Planning Committee are open to the public, so anyone is able to attend.  A range of people with 
differing interests in specific applications observe these meetings, whether they are applicants or an applicant’s 
agent, objectors, neighbours or other residents, local District Councillors or members of Parish Councils. 
Despite being a public meeting, in some very occasional cases the law does allow the committee to consider 
some matters in private.  For example, an application may contain information of a personal or commercially 
sensitive nature that the Council would not be able to publicise.  In every case, however, the public interest in 
excluding the press and public from the meeting room must outweigh the public interest in having the 
information disclosed. 

Can anyone speak at Planning Committee meetings? 
 
The Planning Committee welcomes public speaking and participation from outside of the Committee’s 
membership.  Other than Members of the Planning Committee and the Council’s officers, there are four main 
categories of other people able to speak at meetings of the Committee: - 
 

(1) Objector  
(2) Supporter (usually the applicant or planning agent) 
(3) Parish Council representative (but not the Clerk) 
(4) Local District Councillor(s).   

 
Parish Councils and local Members speak as part of the planning process, regardless of whether they support 
or oppose an application.  Objectors and Supporters speak as part of the specific application and, except in 
exceptional circumstances identified by the Committee Chairman prior to the meeting, number one in favour 
and one against.  Where more than one objector or supporter exists, they are encouraged to agree between 
themselves on a presentation that covers all their concerns. 
 
In exceptional circumstances, the Committee Chairman may opt to make special arrangements such as where 
a neighbouring parish is perceived as being significantly affected by a proposal, or for a Portfolio Holder to 
speak. 

Page 2



 

 

 

What can people say and for how long can they speak? 
 
Each speech is limited to three minutes.  Speakers are advised to restrict themselves to material planning 
considerations such as: 
 
• Design, appearance, layout, scale and landscaping 
• Environmental health issues such as noise, smells and general disturbance 
• Highway safety and traffic issues 
• Impact on trees, listed buildings, biodiversity, conservation areas and other designated sites. 
• Loss of an important view from public land that compromises the local character 
• Planning law and previous decisions including appeals  
• National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Policy Guidance 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework  
• Visual and residential amenity 
 
Committee members will not be able to take into account issues such as:  
 
• boundary and area disputes 
• perceived morals or motives of a developer 
• the effect on the value of property 
• loss of a private view over adjoining land (unless there is a parallel loss of an important view from public 

land) 
• matters not covered by planning, highway or environmental health law 
• covenants and private rights of access  
• suspected future development, 
• processing of the application, 
• the retrospective nature of a planning application 
 
Speakers should be careful not to say anything derogatory or inflammatory, which could expose them to the risk 
of legal action.  After the objector and supporter have spoken, Committee members may ask speakers to clarify 
matters relating to their presentation.  If those registered to speak are not present in the meeting room by the 
time the relevant item is considered, the Committee won’t be able to wait, and will determine the application – 
officers will be able to say whether a particular item is at the beginning, middle or end of the agenda, but cannot 
give an accurate idea of when it will be considered. 
 
Committee members will have read the written reports prepared for them, so speakers should try to avoid 
repeating points that are already explained in that material.  

Can public speakers give Committee members written information or 
photographs relating to an application or objection? 
 
Yes, but not at the meeting itself. Councillors will be given lots of information to read and digest before the 
meeting, so need to be given as much time as possible to read or view the information.   
 
Please send such information, preferably by e-mail, to Democratic Services (ian.senior@scambs.gov.uk), who 
will circulate the information for you.  In practical terms, such information will not be distributed earlier than 
seven days or later than two days before the meeting.  Please do not supply information directly to members of 
the Planning Committee. 
 
Projection equipment operated by Council officers is available in the Council Chamber.  

Page 3



 

 

 

How are applications considered?  
 
The appropriate planning officer will introduce the item. Committee members will then hear any speakers’ 
presentations.  The order of speaking will be as stated above   The Committee will then debate the application 
and vote on either the recommendations of officers in the agenda or a proposal made and seconded by 
members of the Committee. Should the Committee propose to follow a course of action different to officer 
recommendation, Councillors must give sound planning reasons for doing so. 
 

 
The Council is committed to improving, for all members of the community, 

access to its agendas and minutes.  We try to take all circumstances into account 
but, if you have any specific needs, please let us know, and we will do what we 

can to help you. 
 

Further information is available from Democratic Services, South Cambridgeshire District Council, South Cambs Hall, 
Cambourne Business Park, Cambourne, Cambridge, CB23 6EA – Telephone 03450 450 500. 

democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 
 

Updated: 8 May 2013 
 

Page 4



Form devised: 29 October 2012 

Planning Committee 
 

Declarations of Interest 
  
1. Disclosable pecuniary interests (“DPI”)  
A  DPI is where a committee member or his/her spouse or partner has any kind of beneficial interest in 
the land under consideration at the meeting. 
 
 2.  Non-disclosable pecuniary interests 
These are interests that are pecuniary involving a  personal financial benefit or detriment but do not 
come within the definition of a DPI.  An example would be where a member of their family/close friend 
(who is not their spouse or partner) has such an interest. 
 
3. Non-pecuniary interests 
Where the interest is not one which involves any personal financial benefit or detriment to the Councillor 
but arises out of a close connection with someone or some  body /association.  An example would be 
membership of a sports committee/ membership of another council which is involved in the matter under 
consideration. 
 
I have the following interest(s) (* delete where inapplicable) as follows: 
 
Agenda 

no. 
Application Ref. Village Interest 

type 
Nature of Interest 

 

S/  

 
 
 
1*  2*  3* 
 
 
 

 

 

S/  

 
 
 
1*  2*  3* 
 
 
 

 

 

S/  

 
 
 
1*  2*  3* 
 
 
 

 

 
 
Address/ L ocation of land where applicable 
 
 
Signature: ………………………………………… 
 
Name  …………………………………………     Date    ………………………….. 
  
  

Agenda Item 2

Page 5



Page 6

This page is left blank intentionally.



www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk

Date:
To: Legal and Democratic Services Manager, South 

Cambridgeshire District Council 
From: Robert Kemp, Asset Information Definitive Map Officer CC1305  
Ref: 119/1 

Report on the proposed diversion of part of Public Footpath No.1, Hauxton 

1 Purpose 

1.1 This report is prepared for South Cambridgeshire District Council by Cambridgeshire 
County Council in their role as agent for South Cambridgeshire District Council in 
processing public path orders under s157 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, 
under the memorandum dated February 2007. 

1.2 To report on the proposed diversion of part of Public Footpath No.1 Hauxton, required to 
enable development of the former Bayer Crop Science site in Hauxton. 

1.3 Contents

 Appendix A:  A copy of the diversion application.  

 Appendix B:  A map showing the effect of the proposals.

 Appendix C: The Planning Applications and Decision notices.

 Appendix D: Consultation Responses.  

 Appendix E:  Site Visit Photographs.   

 Appendix F:  An Aerial Photograph of the site 

 Appendix G:  Memorandum of Agreement with South Cambridgeshire District Council.

 Appendix H:  Memo from Cambridgeshire County Council Service Director Infrastructure 
Management and Operations giving approval for this diversion. 

Appendix I: Confirmation from Redrow Homes of the proposed surface of the path. 

2 Background 

2.1 The land is owned by Harrow Estates. The applicant for this diversion was Harrow 
Estates. The land is in the process of being sold to Redrow Homes who will be 
continuing the development to the site; including taking forward this footpath diversion. At 
the present time the land is still owned by Harrow Estates but both parties are in favour 
of this proposed footpath diversion.

2.2 This diversion order is required to implement a planning permission in relation to planning 
application numbers S2308/06/O and S/2269/10 which were submitted to South 
Cambridgeshire District Council on 1 December 2006 and 20 December 2010. The 
application is for the Demolition of Buildings, Remediation of land and formation of a 
development platform and the redevelopment of 8.7 Hectares of previously developed 
land for a mix use including up to 380 dwellings, office floor space and retail floor space 

Agenda Item 4

Page 7



www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk

and provision of Open Space at Land East of the A10 known as the Former Bayer Crop 
Science Ltd Site, Hauxton.

2.3 The diversion of the footpath therefore falls to be determined by the relevant planning 
authority under section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. Copies of the 
planning application decision notices can be found at Appendix C.

2.4 In February 2007, South Cambridgeshire District Council entered into an Agreement with 
Cambridgeshire County Council providing that all Public Path Order applications under 
section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 should be processed by the 
County Council, acting as agents for the District Council. A copy of the Agreement is 
attached at Appendix G. 

3 Site Description 

3.1 Site photos of the existing route and proposed route taken on 13 November 2012 can be 
seen at Appendix E. An aerial photograph of the site can be found at Appendix F. 

3.2 Existing
The current legal line of Hauxton Public Footpath No. 1 commences at its junction with 
Hauxton Public Footpath No.5 near The Mill House at Ordnance Survey Grid Reference 
(OSGR) TL 4323 5264 (Point A on the plan) and then proceeds in an east-south-easterly 
direction along the western bank of the Riddy Brook for approximately 105 metres to 
Point B before running south-south-east for approximately 30 metres to OSGR TL 4333, 
5256 (Point C) where the path crosses a footbridge and proceeds in an east-north-
easterly direction for approximately 17 metres to OSGR TL 4334, 5257 (Point D on the 
plan) on the west bank of the River Cam where the path continues in a south-south-
easterly direction towards Hauxton Village. The length of the section of the existing route 
to be diverted is approximately 154 metres. 

3.3 Proposed
The proposed diversion route would commence at OSGR TL 4323 5266 on the western 
bank of the River Cam at the point where Hauxton Public Footpaths No.4 and No.5 meet 
(Point E). The path would then proceed along the western bank of the River Cam in a 
generally south-easterly direction for 122 metres to OSGR TL 4333 5259 (Point F). The 
path would then proceed in a south-south-easterly direction for approximately 24 metres 
to OSGR TL 4334 5257 (Point D). The length of the proposed diversion route would be 
approximately 146 metres and would have a width of 2 metres. 

4 Legal Framework 

4.1 Section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 allows that: 

(1)  Subject to section 259, a competent authority may by order authorise the stopping 
up or diversion of any footpath or bridleway if they are satisfied that it is necessary to 
do so in order to enable development to be carried out—

(a) in accordance with planning permission granted under Part III, or 
(b) by a government department. 

Page 8



www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk

(2)  An order under this section may, if the competent authority are satisfied that it 
should do so, provide— 

(a) for the creation of an alternative highway for use as a replacement for the one 
authorised by the order to be stopped up or diverted, or for the improvement of 
an existing highway for such use; 

(b) for authorising or requiring works to be carried out in relation to any footpath or 
bridleway for whose stopping up or diversion, creation or improvement provision 
is made by the order; 

(c) for the preservation of any rights of statutory undertakers in respect of any 
apparatus of theirs which immediately before the date of the order is under, in, 
on, over, along or across any such footpath or bridleway; 

(d)  for requiring any person named in the order to pay, or make contributions in 
respect of, the cost of carrying out any such works.’ 

4.2 An Order shall come into effect once the new route has been certified by either the order-
making authority or the highway authority as being of a satisfactory standard for public 
use. In this instance the County Council as highway authority will undertake the 
certification.

4.3 The Equality Act 2010 consolidated previous disability legislation. There is currently little 
formal guidance on how the Act interacts with existing rights of way legislation. However, 
it is generally understood to require order-making authorities to take into account the 
reasonable needs of disabled people (using the term in its broadest sense) in considering 
changes to the rights of way network. The Act requires authorities to be more proactive in 
recording their thought-processes in making their decisions. A recent Planning 
Inspectorate decision said that the Act only applies to the alternative route in a diversion. 
Section 7.5 below documents the position in relation to this case. 

5 Cambridgeshire County Council Policy (including 
maintenance)

5.1 The County Council’s own policy (approved by Cabinet in 2003 and revised on 25 May 
2010) requires that certain criteria are met if a public path diversion order is to be made. 
The policy is set out with public path orders under the Highways Act 1980 in mind, but it 
is sensible to consider the criteria in relation to any proposal under the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990, because any new path will be vested in Cambridgeshire County 
Council as the highway authority and as such responsible for managing them. The 
highway authority is also responsible for protecting and asserting the public’s existing 
rights, and not allowing them to be removed unless the legal tests are met. The Policy 
criteria are as follows: 

i. Pre-application consultations have been carried out with the prescribed bodies. 
ii. The existing route is available for use and any ‘temporary’ obstructions have been 

removed, in order to allow a comparison to be made. Any request for exemption will 

Page 9



www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk

be decided by the Director Highways & Access as to whether or not that is 
appropriate.

iii. A suitable alternative path is provided for every path that is to be diverted. 
iv. The proposed new route is substantially as convenient to the public as the original 
v. The proposed new route is not less convenient for maintenance than the original 
vi. No objections are received to the proposals during the statutory consultation period 

prior to making an order. However, the County Council will review this criterion in 
individual cases in light of objections and potential public benefit of the proposal. 

vii. The maintenance burden on the County Council is no greater than that of the original. 
If the maintenance burden is greater, the landowner may be required to enter into a 
maintenance agreement with the County Council. 

viii. A minimum width of 2m is provided for a diverted footpath, and a minimum width of 
4m for a diverted bridleway. In exceptional cases, e.g. cross-field paths, it may, taking 
into account all the available facts, require such a width as it considers reasonable 
and appropriate.

ix. That all the works required to bring the new route into operation are carried out at the 
expense of the landowner and to the County Council’s specifications unless otherwise 
agreed.

5.2 Where there is a desire line on the ground that is not on the definitive route because that 
is obstructed we will consider that to be evidence of a desire to get from points A-B, and 
will require the definitive route to be opened up or diverted onto the desire line or another 
mutually agreed route. 

6 Consultations 

6.1 The local Ramblers’ Association, South Cambridgeshire District Council, Hauxton Parish 
Council, Local County and District Council Members, the prescribed user groups and the 
utility companies were all consulted about the proposals.  The following replies have 
been received (copies are attached as Appendix D): 

6.2 The Cambridge Ramblers Group pre-application comments stated that the proposed 
route has been used by the public for a number of years and that an established path 
already exists and that provided that a minimum width of 2 metres was available they 
had no objection to the proposals. In their letter in response to the formal consultation the 
Cambridge Ramblers Group had no objection to the proposed diversion having been 
assured by the case officer that 2 metres width existed along the whole of the proposed 
diversion route. The Ramblers accepted the need by the applicant to close the section of 
the legal route of footpath No.1 that runs inside the former Bayer Crop Science factory 
site whilst works were ongoing in the site. The Ramblers also commented that they 
assumed that the temporary fencing that has been erected along the boundary of much 
of Footpath No1 will be removed as the development proceeds. 

6.3 South Cambridgeshire District Council’s Ecology Officer acknowledged that the section 
of Footpath No.1 that will be extinguished by the proposed diversion will become part of 
the Riddy Walk within the proposed development and that the proposed diversion route 
is the route already in use by the public and therefore the public will not see any change 
from the proposals. 

6.4 Hauxton Parish Council has no objection to the proposed diversion.  

Page 10



www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk

6.5 South Cambridgeshire District Councillor  Lockwood stated that the proposed diversion 
legitimises the current walked route and therefore she has no objection.

6.6 Anglian Water, National Grid, Atkins, Open Reach and Virgin have no objections to the 
proposals. 

6.7 The Environment Agency was consulted during the formal consultation period and no 
response was received. 

6.8 No other responses were received. 

7 Grounds for stopping up and provision of alternative route: 
 Town & Country Planning Act 1990 and Equality Act 2010 

7.1 The re-routing of part of this public footpath from its existing route to the proposed new 
route is required in order to implement a planning permission granted under part III of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990. Section 1 (a) of the act is therefore satisfied (see 
section 4.1).

7.2 The new route will provide an alternative path. The proposed new route will legitimise the 
path alongside the western bank of the River Cam that has been used by the public for 
some years. The new footpath will be provided in accordance with the Highway 
Authority’s policy for public footpaths. 

7.3 The applicant has agreed to undertake the necessary works required to implement the 
proposed new route at their own expense.

7.4 The rights of statutory undertakers will not be affected. Subsection 2 of the act is 
therefore satisfied. 

7.5  In terms of the Equality Act 2010, the diversion would be neutral and could be considered 
an improvement, in that the current legal route has a bridge to cross and the proposed 
route does not require path users to cross over the Riddy Brook but instead remains on 
the western bank of the River Cam. 

8 Grounds for diversion: Cambridgeshire County Council 
criteria as Highway Authority including Maintenance Liability 

8.1 Pre-application consultations have been carried out by the applicant. 

8.2 The current legal line of the footpath is currently obstructed. The legal line has been 
closed by a temporary traffic regulation order for health and safety reasons whilst the 
former Bayer Crop Sciences site is re-developed. Given the existence of a nearby 
alternative along the proposed diversion route, which is open and available for public 
use, it is reasonable to waive the requirement that the existing route be available for use 
in this case. 

8.3 The proposed new route is substantially as convenient to the public as the original if not 
more convenient as users will no longer have to cross the Riddy Brook but will remain on 
the western bank of the River Cam. It is also likely to be at least as appealing as the 

Page 11



www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk

original route for users as a walk beside the river with views of Hauxton Mill. The existing 
route and the proposed route are very similar in length. 

8.4 The proposed new route would not be less convenient for maintenance than the original 
as there will no longer be a bridge across the Riddy Brook to maintain and the proposed 
route will have a similar natural surface to the current route. The current bridge is the 
responsibility of Cambridgeshire County Council to maintain by virtue of the 1974 
diversion order which previously altered the route of the path. 

8.5 Cambridgeshire County Council Bridges Team were consulted as to consider any liability 
issues which could arise from moving the path and they confirmed that no piling works 
were required. There are therefore no maintenance or liability issues on behalf of the 
Cambridgeshire County Council.  

8.6 No objections were received during the statutory consultation period. The County 
Council’s other requirements regarding width and works for making an order have all 
been met. The proposed new route would have a width of 2 metres.

8.7 Where diversion orders to Rights of Way have been made in order to make way for 
development to be undertaken a certification clause is included. This requires that a new 
route will not come into effect until the County Council as Highway Authority has deemed 
it satisfactory. 

8.8 The County Council Service Director of Infrastructure, Management and Operations 
considered this application on 16th August 2013. The director concluded that he had no 
objection in principle to the proposed diversion as set out in the report, but needed to be 
satisfied that the new path would be constructed to a sufficient standard to withstand 
increased usage resulting from the new development in the area. A further report on the 
current condition of the path was prepared which concluded that the following works 
needed to be undertaken to stabilise the surface of the path alongside the river: 

! Raise the low spots along the length of the route to the remaining surface height. 
! Raise the newly built up low spots and existing surface by 25 mm using a suitable 

compacted stone to ensure a consistent level surface along the whole route of the 
diverted path. 

! Raise the sides using treated wooden boards or recycled plastic boards pegged into 
the ground to retain suitable compacted stone and to give a full two metre width at the 
height above. 

On 6th February 2015 the developer of the site (Redrow Homes) confirmed in writing (see 
Appendix I) that they were planning to create a Hoggin Footpath with a timber peg and 
board edging, satisfying the above requirements. This was discussed with the Rights of 
Way Officer who was also satisfied with this proposal. On 5th March 2015 The County 
Council Service Director of Infrastructure Management and Operations agreed that 
Cambridgeshire County Council as Highway Authority should approve the application to 
divert part of Footpath No.1 Hauxton.

Page 12



www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk

9 Conclusions 

9.1 It is considered that the application to divert part of Public Footpath No.1 Hauxton meets 
the requirements of s.257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the policy of 
Cambridgeshire County Council.   

10 Recommendations

10.1  That South Cambridgeshire District Council, as Planning Authority, indicate to 
Cambridgeshire County Council that the Order should be made.

10.2  That an Order is made to divert part of the Public Footpath No.1 Hauxton, as requested 
by the applicant. 

10.3 That the final route be inspected by the Cambridgeshire County Council as Highways 
Authority and certified as satisfactory before the Order comes into effect.

LIST OF DOCUMENTS

A Copy of the application to divert part of the public footpath No.1 
Hauxton 

B Map showing the proposed diversion 

C Copy of planning application S/2308/06/O 

D Consultation Responses 

E Site photographs

F Aerial Photo of the Site 

G Copy of Memorandum of Agreement between the District Council and 
Cambridgeshire County Council 

H
Memorandum from Cambridgeshire County Council Service Director 
Infrastructure Management and Operations giving approval for this 
diversion. 

I Confirmation of surface of the path from Redrow Homes. 

Page 13



Page 14

This page is left blank intentionally.



Page 15



Page 16

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 3 June 2015 
AUTHOR/S: Planning and New Communities Director  

 
 
Application Number: S/2365/14/OL 
  
Parish(es): Barrington 
  
Proposal: Outline application for the demolition of all 

existing buildings and structures, and 
redevelopment to provide up to 220 
residential units, formal and informal open 
space including allotments, car parking for 
Barrington Primary School, new 
pedestrian and cycle links to Barrington 
village and Foxton station, and associated 
works - details of vehicular site access 
arrangements are submitted for approval, 
with all other matters (layout, scale, 
appearance and landscaping) reserved for 
future approval. 

  
Site address: Former CEMEX Cement Works, 

Barrington Cement Plant, Haslingfield 
Road, Barrington 

  
Applicant(s): Cemex UK Properties Ltd 
  
Recommendation: Delegated approval subject to completion 

of S106 Agreement. 
  
Key material considerations: The main issues are whether the proposed 

development would provide a suitable 
site for housing, having regard to the 
principles of sustainable development and 
housing land supply, scale of 
development, impact on the village 
character and landscape, impact on 
heritage assets, level of services and 
facilities, access and transport, drainage 
and ecology. 

  
Committee Site Visit: Yes  
  
Departure Application: Yes 
  
Presenting Officer: Andrew Fillmore 
  
Application brought to Committee because: The application proposal raises 

considerations of wider than local interest.   
  

Agenda Item 5

Page 17



Date by which decision due: 3 June 2015  
 

 Executive Summary 
  

1. This proposal seeks outline permission (access only for approval) for a residential 
development of up to 220 dwellings outside the adopted village framework on a 
brownfield site. The development would not normally be considered acceptable in 
principle as a result of its location. However two recent appeal decisions on sites 
in Waterbeach have shown the district does not currently have a 5 year housing 
land supply, and therefore the adopted LDF policies in relation to the supply of 
housing are not up to date. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
states there is a presumption in favour of sustainable development, and where 
relevant policies are out of date, planning permission should be granted for 
development unless the adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the 
NPPF taken as a whole.  
 

2. In this case officers are of the view, that on balance, the limited range of services 
and facilities including employment opportunities in Barrington and surrounding 
villages and the impact on the character of the village does not significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits that include redevelopment of a derelict 
brownfield site which will deliver up to 220 dwellings, including 40% affordable, 
towards the required housing land supply.  

 
Planning History 

 
3. The site and surroundings (quarry) have been subject to a number of planning 

applications, the most relevant of which is county matters consent reference 
S/01080/10CW. This permission relates to part of the quarry to the north of the 
application site and allows for: 
 
‘Importation, by rail, of the requisite inert material, for a period of 5 years, to 
partially infill an existing quarry void and provide for the restoration of the western 
and north-western areas of Barrington Quarry to a combination of agriculture and 
nature conservation after-uses, and all associated works including railway 
refurbishment and the retention and continued use of the existing weighbridge, 
office and workshop’. 
 

4. This consent is in the process of being implemented with the upgrade to the 
railway line underway, and with the importation of the inert material schedule to 
begin in 2015. The conditions attached to this permission require the works to 
have finished by 31 December 2018, and any additional importation would require 
further planning consent from Cambridgeshire County Council.   
 

5. The full site history is set out in Appendix A.  
 

 Policy 
  

6. National 
National Planning Policy Framework 

      Planning Practice Guidance  
 
7. South Cambridgeshire LDF Core Strategy DPD, 2007 

ST/2 Housing Provision 
ST/6 Group Villages 

Page 18



               
8.  Adopted Local Development Framework, Development Control Policies 

DP/1 Sustainable Development 
DP/2 Design of New Development 
DP/3 Development Criteria 
DP/4 Infrastructure and new development 
HG/1 Housing Density 
HG/3 Affordable Housing 
SF/6 Public Art and New Development 
SF/10 Outdoor Playspace, Informal Open Space and New Developments 
SF/11 Open Space Standards 
NE/1 Energy Efficiency 
NE/3 Renewable Energy Technologies in New Development 
NE/4 Landscape Character Areas    
NE/6 Biodiversity 
NE/7 Sites of Geological Importance  
NE/9 Water and Drainage Infrastructure  
NE/10 Foul Drainage – Alternative Drainage Systems  
NE/11 Flood Risk 
NE/12 Water Conservation 
NE/14 Lighting Proposals 
NE/15 Noise Pollution  
NE/16 Emissions 
CH/2 Archaeological Sites 
CH/3 Listed Buildings 
CH/4 Development within the curtilage or setting of a Listed Building   
SF/10 – Outdoor Play Space, Informal Open Space and New Developments 
SF/11 – Open Space Standards 
TR/1 Planning for More Sustainable Travel 
TR/2 - Car and Cycle Parking Standards 
TR/3 Mitigating Travel Impact 
TR/4 Non-motorised Transport 

 
9. Supplementary Planning Document(s) 

District Design Guide SPD – adopted 2010 
Public Art SPD- Adopted 2009 
Development Affecting Conservation Areas SPD – Adopted 2009 
Health Impact Assessment SPD – March 2011 
Affordable Housing SPD – March 2010 
Open Space in new Developments SPD – Adopted 2009 
Listed Buildings SPD – Adopted July 2009 
Trees and Development Sites SPD – Adopted January 2009 
Landscape in new development SPD – Adopted March 2010 
Biodiversity SPD – Adopted July 2009   
 

10. South Cambridgeshire emerging Local Plan 
S/1 Vision 
S/2 Objectives of the Local Plan 
S/3 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
S/5 Provision of new jobs and homes 
S/7 Development Frameworks 
S/10 Group Villages 
S/12 Phasing, Delivering and Monitoring 
CC/1 Mitigation and adoption to climate change 
CC/3 Renewable and low carbon energy in new developments 

Page 19



CC/4 Sustainable design and construction 
CC/6 Construction methods 
CC/7 Water quality 
CC/8 S sustainable drainage systems 
CC/9 Managing flood risk 
HG/1 Design principles 
HG/2 Public art in new development 
NH/2 Protecting and enhancing landscape character 
NH/4 Biodiversity 
NH/6 Green infrastructure 
NH/11 Protected Village Amenity Areas 
NH/14 Heritage assets 
H/7 Housing density 
H/8 Housing mix 
H/9 Affordable housing 
SC/8 Open space standards 
SC/11 Noise pollution 
SC/13 air quality 
T/I Parking provision       
  

Consultations by South Cambridgeshire District Council as Local Planning     
Authority 
 

Parish Councils  
  

11. Barrington Parish Council (Full comments set out in Appendix B) - Recommend 
refusal. Comments can be summarised as: 
 

• Recommend refusal on the grounds of unsustainable development.  
• The scale of development is disproportionate 
• It proposes a 47% increase in housing in a village with one shop, one    
            pub, one primary school, an aged village hall and an aged sports   
            pavilion, poor transport links and no local health care 
• Main effects are not mitigated in the proposed S106 despite a number  
            of meetings to explain the villages needs to CEMEX  

 
The cumulative impact of these environmental, social, and economic effects is 
that Barrington village will be significantly, adversely impacted, - permanently. The 
proposed development fails the test of sustainability and permission should be 
refused. 
 

12. Further response received 21 April 2015 (Appendix C) opposing the application 
for the following reasons: 
• The planning system is plan led, and it is for the local authority in 

consultation with the public to decide where development should go 
• The Local Plan identifies the site as unsuitable for housing  
• The government wants to see truly sustainable development, not 

development at any cost 
• The correspondence from Harston Surgery makes it clear the site is 

unsustainable 
   

13. Haslingfield Parish Council – There is nothing in this application which appears 
properly sustainable in the long term. In particular, although the application ticks 
the appropriate boxes by providing a lot of opportunities for walking and cycling 
connection to Barrington and Foxton, the main mode of transportation for 

Page 20



residents will be by car. We do not agree with the projected traffic flows, which will 
result in considerable increase in traffic through Haslingfield. Since there appears 
to be no provision for improved public transport the planning application appears 
unsustainable. There are existing problems with queuing of vehicles at the 
Haslingfield Road junction with the A603 which will be exacerbated. There is no 
provision for cyclists and walkers between Barrington and Haslingfield. Although 
the development proposed makes use of a brownfield site, what is proposed is an 
opportunistic proposal lacking any real merit, being an isolated development 
without proper infrastructure and services to sustain it creating adverse situations 
in the surrounding settlements. At the time of commentating of the SCDC Local 
Plan, we expressed support for properly developed large settlements such as 
Waterbeach, Northstowe, Cambourne and elsewhere, where there could be a full 
provision of infrastructure and public services. We remain supportive of such 
developments but this one does not meet any desirable criteria and Haslingfield 
Parish Council must therefore express its objection to the proposal.   

 
14. Orwell Parish Council – Voted against the potential development of the 

Barrington site after a public meeting to discuss the impacts and a meeting of 
Parish Councillors. This lead to the overall conclusion that this development is not 
sustainable. The key points leading to this decision can be summarised as 
concerns over:   

 
• Increased traffic noise and congestion during construction 
• Impacts of the railway journeys in and out of the quarry on local traffic 
• Increased traffic flow through Orwell High Street/Fischers Lane and 

Barrington Rd 
• Increased congestion on the main junctions leading out of the village 
• Further overload of local services such as schools, public transport, health 

services which are not planned for 
• No provision defined that would adequately prevent further development of 

the site for housing 
 
15. Shepreth Parish Council – Refuse. The Council has a number of concerns, 

namely traffic and augmented problems with the safety of the A10 junction, 
increased demand at Shepreth Station and schooling. Most pertinently it is 
inexplicable that as a neighbouring village to Barrington, Shepreth is not even 
mentioned in the planning application which will undoubtedly have a tremendous 
impact on the village and infrastructure.  
 

16. The principal concern is the huge increase in traffic through Shepreth and 
particular effect on the two A10 junctions into the village. Specifically, the Frog 
End West Side approach to the A10 junctions which has been on the District and 
County accident cluster list over many years with a long record of fatalities and 
injuries reinforced by further accidents in 2014. With 220 new houses locally this 
is potentially at least 300 additional cars driving through the village. Therefore 
some kind of traffic lights would be imperative at this junction as a bare minimum. 

 
17. Secondly, the upsurge in the use of Shepreth Station and car park is undeniably 

bound to occur. Commuters living in the new development will not necessarily use 
Foxton Station, Shepreth is just as close and accessible. Train services and 
parking must be considered and improved to cope with the influx.       

 

Page 21



18. Thirdly, the application does not provide for adequate school places for the 
expansion in children living in Barrington and the likely knock on effects for 
Shepreth children who attend Barrington school. 
 

19. Foxton Parish Council - Refuse. It is outside the SCDC Local Plan, and is ill 
timed because it has been submitted prior to the new Local Plan being approved 
and published. A development of this scale will adversely affect the beautiful 
historic rural village of Barrington, and will cause conflict with local infrastructure 
(traffic, sewage, etc), especially when considered along with other development 
proposed for the area. The additional traffic will have an impact on surrounding 
villages (particularly Haslingfield and Shepreth) and Foxton will be affected by the 
increase in traffic on Barrington Road and Cambridge Road. Foxton is also 
directly affected by the pedestrian and cycle access to Foxton station, of which 
there is no details in the submitted plans.   
 

20. Meldreth Parish Council – No objection. The access road to the houses appears 
to be a shared access with the quarry so that domestic traffic and heavy 
commercial vehicles will be mixed together on the road, causing a potential 
hazard to pedestrians and vehicles, this is especially of concern with the amount 
of children there may be in the area. 
   
South Cambridgeshire District Council  

 
21. SCDC Urban Design – The overall mix and density of housing and open space 

provision appear acceptable, and the proposals for new pedestrian/cycle links to 
Barrington and the school encouraged. The application is in outline form and any 
design for new housing would be developed at a later date. 
 

22. SCDC Landscape – Thought needs to be given to how the development 
landscape will connect with the existing and future landscapes. Both pedestrian 
and vehicle access, rear garden boundaries, dwellings and parking areas are all 
shown as connecting with the external landscape. Significant landscape 
treatments, particularly to the north of the development, will be required to 
integrate it into the landscape and to mitigate against any adverse landscape and 
visual effects, viewed from public rights of way to the north.  

 
23. SCDC Historic Buildings – New development considered to be sufficiently 

screened/separated from Conservation Area and historic buildings to prevent any 
detrimental impact.  

 
24. SCDC Trees – The site for the bulk of the development is largely devoid of any 

significant trees due to historic land use. The area for the proposed car parking 
will require some tree clearance, however the secluded location of the car parking 
will not have a significant impact on amenity provided by existing trees. 
Conditions recommended.   

 
25. SCDC Ecology – No objection. The applicant has now provided a greater level of 

commitment to the provision of a diverse range of habitats and mitigation. The 
submitted Nature Conservation Management Plan (NCMP) provides some 
reassurance that the masterplan and the habitats that it presents can be delivered 
at the reserved matters stage. The submitted NCMP and the illustrative 
masterplan and the parameters plan should be listed as approved 
documents/plans should any permission be granted. 

 

Page 22



26. Environmental Health (Noise) – The restoration activities associated with the 
quarry (county planning reference S/01080/10/CW) does not afford an adequate 
level of protection for future residents against noise if the two were to co-exist. 
Recommend refusal unless a Grampian style condition or S106 is imposed 
preventing the commencement of any residential development until the county 
minerals permission for restoration activities have been completed in full or 
additional noise mitigation measures to address the restoration activities is 
agreed. These measures would indicate siting of earth bunds/acoustic fences, 
operational noise management plan, reduction in hours when restoration 
permitted and dust mitigation and management strategy.  
    

27. Environmental Health (Contamination) – The Environmental Statement 
highlighted that mitigation measures are required to minimise the adverse effects 
posed by ground conditions which broadly comprise the need for further 
investigation/characterisation of contamination followed by remediation most likely 
in the form of hotspot removal and import clean soil material. I am in general 
agreement with these proposals, however I would recommend that further gas 
monitoring is required. Recommend conditions. 

 
28. SCDC Environmental Health (Air Quality) – We are satisfied with the report. 

Recommend conditions relating to the emission levels of vehicles used in the 
construction of the site and a requirement that 10% of the buildings total predicted 
energy requirement will be from on-site renewable energy sources 

 
29. SCDC Housing – The applicant has offered 40% affordable housing and has not 

raised the issue of viability. Given the former use of the site is brownfield we 
would wish to see that 40% affordable housing is deliverable on this site. The 
overall housing mix does not offer any 2 bedroom accommodation and is heavily 
weighed with 43% of the housing being 4 bedroom or more.   

 
Cambridgeshire County Council  
 

30.  CCC Minerals and Waste – Cambridgeshire County Council, as the Minerals 
Planning Authority, are content with the applicants submission that the housing 
development is not in conflict with Core Strategy CS26.   
 

31. CCC Waste Disposal Authority – The requirements of the RECAP Waste 
Management Design Guide needs to be taken into account and a contribution 
sought for Household Recycling Centre. 
 

32. CCC Libraries and lifelong learning – Request contributions for an additional 
mobile library stop or equivalent provision to serve the 690 residents anticipated 
to arise from this development.  
 

33. CCC Floods and Water - There is a need to ensure that run off from new 
developments is carefully managed so that surface water flood risk is not 
increased in surrounding areas or water quality reduced to nearby water bodies.  
 

34. CCC Sports – It is important that discussions continue regarding on site provision 
of formal and informal open space. Whatever is chosen discussions need to be 
finalised before planning permission is granted on who will actually pay for the 
upkeep and ongoing maintenance of formal open space areas.   
 

Page 23



35. CCC Arts – There is potential here to provide public art, with the best approach 
for a group of interested parties, including local people, to assess what is required 
and put forward an arts provision plan.  
 

36. CCC Health – No objection, subject to a condition requiring the provision of a 
Health Impact Assessment prior to the submission of any reserved matters 
application.   
 

37. CCC Highways – No objection. Subject to conditions including a requirement that 
the proposed car park opposite the school is only provided if this is deemed 
necessary following a review of the schools Travel Plan.   

 
38. CCC Highways (Transport Assessment) – No objection. Subject to securing the 

following measures: pedestrian/cycle link to Foxton station, two bus stops near 
the development access  on Haslingfield Road, Travel Plan and upgrade of the 
proposed footpath to the south of the site. 
 

39. CCC Education – The development is very close to Barrington School and the 
county would be looking for the provision of safe walking/cycling routes from all 
parts of the residential development to the primary.  

 
40. CCC Archaeology – No objection. Recommend a condition. We have been 

provided with further details of the proposals and of the current site conditions and 
land use. From this it is clear that the major impacts of the development will be 
within previously disturbed ground, with less impact in areas where archaeology is 
likely to survive. Although there may be some disturbance, this is likely to be less 
intrusive than we previously considered. In view of this I am writing to withdraw 
our previous objection and advise archaeological issues can be addressed 
through the inclusion of suitable conditions. Also advise that we consider the 
industrial heritage of the site to be of significance and that conditions should be 
included to address the recording of this important aspect of the site history.      

 
Other 
 

41. NHS Property Services – There is no spare capacity at Melbourn, Comberton 
and Harston. The NHS would therefore be seeking contributions in order to 
provide more capacity at these surgeries.  
 

42. Harston Surgery – (Response to the LPA) We currently have 1878 patients per 
whole time GP, which is just above the national list. It is clear that without an 
extension at Harston no further significant number of patients can be registered, 
and it is important that planners and decision makers are aware of this and have a 
definite strategic plan with NHS England as to how they expect primary health 
care services to be provided.  

 
43. We do have outline plans as to how we could extend the surgery to provide at 

least one extra consultation room and significant extra administrative space 
without losing car parking. We understand there may be some S106 funds 
available to build an extension; whilst the council have been open about their 
availability the allocation is to NHS England and they have given no indication that 
these funds will be allocated to Harston surgery. 

 
44. (Response to the Parish Council) We are in the process of applying for S106 

monies from NHS England, and if granted we will build an extension to 
accommodate the extra patients generated from the 200-300 houses planned for 

Page 24



the Hauxton site. After this we cannot expand anymore and the only option left 
would be to build new. NHS England have informed us they rule this possibility 
out completely. 

 
45. (Further response to the LPA) If we are successful in securing the S106 monies 

from the Hauxton development, we can go ahead and build an extension to the 
surgery to accommodate the extra 500-600 patients. As we have no idea if we will 
be successful in our application, to say we are happy to take on more patients 
from Barrington and Foxton developments is premature. NHS England must have 
a strategic plan in place as to where these extra 1700+ patients are going to 
register.      
 

46. Natural England – No objection. The application is in close proximity to the 
Barrington Chalk pit and Barrington Pit SSSI. Natural England is satisfied that the 
proposed development being carried out in strict accordance with the details of 
the application will not damage or destroy the interest features for which the site 
has been notified.    

 
47. Police Architectural liaison Officer – No objection. Barrington sees relatively 

low levels of crime, and the proposed layout is in general terms acceptable.  
 
48. National Grid – National grid will not be affected by this application.  
 
49. Sport England – Sport England does not wish to comment on this application. 
 
50. NetworkRail – A number of level crossings are located within the surrounding 

area of the application site. The safety of the operational railway and of these 
crossings is of highest importance to Network Rail. The proposed 220 dwellings is 
likely to have an effect on the level crossings. It is probable the use of the old rail 
link between Barrington and Foxton station would increase use of the Barrington 
road foot crossing. Networkrail is keen to discuss further the opportunities to 
improve safety at the crossing.       

 
51. English Heritage – Express concern that residential development of the site in 

close proximity to the quarry may prevent the resumption of quarrying for clunch 
in the future, and that in turn would have implications for the long term availability 
of clunch and the maintenance of a number of highly graded heritage assets in 
the region. 
 

52. The development will have the appearance of a suburb or urban extension but is 
sited away from any existing settlement, and will have an awkward relationship to 
Barrington and Barrington Conservation Area. While the existing redundant 
industrial appearance of the site may be regarded as negative impact on the 
wider setting of Barrington conservation area the introduction of over 200 
dwellings will also have the potential for harm.   

 
53. Wildlife Trust – The applicants have addressed our concerns over the scale of 

importance of ecological features and scale of impacts by stating they intend to 
mitigate any impacts regardless of scale. There is an overall net loss in habitat 
area so the quality of habitat created will be key to achieving biodiversity gains. 
No objection if the implementation of high quality habitat creation and nature 
conservation management plan are secured for the long term.  
 

54. Environment Agency – (flood risk) No objection. The proposed discharge rates 
have been revised down to the equivalent greenfield conditions. Even given the 

Page 25



uncertainties involved with the brownfield run off rates, this proposal is 
significantly better over the existing situation. Pleased to see the drainage 
strategy includes removal of the culverts on site to open up the ordinary 
watercourse which will reduce flood risk and provide new habitat for wildlife. 
Whilst we have previously objected to this application, the revised drawings have 
demonstrated that the development will significantly reduce downstream flood 
risk, improve water quality through the introduction of SUDS and provide 
ecological benefits through removal of watercourses for culverts. Recommend 
conditions requiring the development be carried out in accordance with the Flood 
Risk Assessment and for the provision of a surface water drainage scheme.    

 
55. (conservation) No conservation objections. It is important the protected species 

identified are protected during any construction works. Appropriate mitigation 
measures should be put in place and any habitats provided as mitigation should 
be established before habitat is lost due to construction. 

 
56. (environment management) The development will be acceptable subject to 

conditions covering foul and surface water drainage and construction method 
statement. 

 
57. (site specific comments) The site is located above a Principal Aquifer, Water 

Framework Directive (WFD) groundwater body, WFD drinking water protected are 
and is adjacent to a watercourse that leads to River Cam/Rhee. The site is of high 
sensitivity and could present potential pollutants to controlled waters. 
Recommend conditions relating to remediation strategy and piling/foundation 
design.      

 
58. Anglian Water - (Wastewater Treatment) The foul drainage from this 

development is in the catchment of Foxton Water Recycling Centre that does not 
have the available capacity for these flows. However, an alternative Water 
Recycling Centre at Haslingfield does have the capacity and can accommodate 
the development. (Foul Sewerage Network) The sewerage system at present has 
available capacity for these flows providing the connection is made to manhole 
3002 in Chapel Hill via a pumped regime at a maximum of 3.8l/s   

 
59. Barrington Church of England School – Express reservations about the effects 

on the school. 
 

• The school would struggle with accommodation. Inline with Government 
requirements for adequate ‘pre’ and ‘after’ school provision, we have 
established a successful after school club that utilises the ‘spare’ 
classroom which would be affected by increased number of pupils. 

• As well as additional classrooms, there will be a need to assess other 
facilities required such as toilets, dining areas, play-areas, heating and 
drainage as well as car parking.  

• The impact on road safety is a concern 
• Happy Bunnies relocating to the school will cause logistical and safe 

guarding issues which have not been addressed.  
 

60. West Cambridgeshire Hundreds Group – The applicants should be held to 
account should they manage to disrupt or destroy the existing habitat, and their 
attempts at enhancements fail, as when ‘replacing’ destroyed habitat with so 
called ‘like for like’ this is all too common an occurrence, and by then it is too late, 
as the species are lost permanently.   
 

Page 26



61. Campaign for the Preservation of Rural England – Object. Number of 
dwellings is out of proportion to the village, increase in population would 
overwhelm village facilities, contrary to policy ST/6, village has poor transport 
which would encourage car ownership, unsustainable site for this scale of 
development. The site is appropriate for 10 dwellings. 
 
Representations 
 

62. Three letters of representation has been received supporting the development 
stating this would be good for the village providing much needed housing, remove 
a decommissioned industrial presence on the doorstep of the village, and make 
effective use of a brownfield site. 
 

63. 104 letters of representation have been received opposing the scheme for the 
following reasons; 

 
• Non-compliance with draft Local Plan 
• Not sustainable location 
• Adverse impact on traffic congestion 
• Lack of proper consideration of alternative sites 
• Surface water drainage and flood risk implications for Barrington 
• Insufficient impact on sewerage  
• No capacity at primary school 
• No capacity at surgery 
• Result in a satellite housing only complex  
• Disproportionate increase in size of village 
• Insufficient infrastructure 
• Lack of public transport in Barrington 
• Lack of services in the village 
• There is no need for the affordable units, recent developments have secured 

the previously unmet need 
• Adverse impact on SSSI 
• Only people to benefit will be CEMEX shareholders 
• Cycleway to station not likely to be used 

 
 Planning Comments 
 

64. The former CEMEX cement works site comprises 9.88ha of previously developed 
(brownfield) land located close to but separated from, and to the north of 
Barrington village. The factory ceased production in 2008, with the loss of 80 jobs, 
and was decommissioned in 2012 and has since remained redundant. The site is 
served by a number of vehicular access points (only one is currently in use) off 
Haslingfield Road as well as a railway line which runs from Foxton station. 
 

65. The quarry immediately to the north of the site has partly been restored to 
agriculture, with a further area waiting restoration. This land benefits from County 
Matters consent for the importation of inert material by railway, with this 
scheduled to begin in 2015. The conditions attached to this permission require the 
works to have finished by 31 December 2018 
 

66. Part of the quarry, which is not proposed to be restored, still holds limestone 
‘clunch’ which is used in the restoration of historic buildings, however the planning 
permission for extraction of this material has lapsed. Leachate (liquid that in the 
course of passing through matter extracts soluble or suspended solids) is 

Page 27



removed from the site with an average of 2 tanker movements per day between 
the hours of 07:00 and 18:00, with this proposed to continue. 
 

67. The application proposal relates to the previously developed land (cement factory) 
where consent is sought for up to a maximum of 220 residential units. Additionally 
it is proposed to provide a shared pedestrian and cycle link to Foxton railway 
station, pedestrian/cycle connections through the woodland to Barrington and a 
car park to serve the primary school, along with 2.01ha of agricultural land given 
over to formal and informal open space including allotments.  

 
68. 40% of the dwellings are to be affordable, on a 70/30 rented to shared ownership 

basis. In terms of mix at least 40% of the homes will be 1 or 2 bedroom, with circa 
25% 3 and 4 bedroom respectively.   
    

69. The application seeks outline permission (access only) with the matters of layout, 
scale, appearance and landscaping reserved.  

 
70. The development represents EIA development as defined by The Town and 

Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations and as such 
the application was accompanied by an Environmental Statement. The 
information contained within this statement has been used in assessing the 
proposal. 

 
Principle of development 

 
71. The NPPF requires Councils to boost significantly the supply of housing to identify 

and maintain a five-year housing land supply with an additional buffer as set out in 
paragraph 47. 

  
72. On the 25 June 2014 in two appeal decisions for sites in Waterbeach the 

Inspectorate concluded that the council cannot currently demonstrate a five-year 
supply of deliverable housing sites. He identified either a 3.51 or 3.9 year supply 
(each appeal was judged on its own evidence and slightly different conclusions 
reached). This is against the Strategic Market Assessment figure for objectively 
assessed needs of 19 000 homes between 2011 and 2031, which he concluded 
had more weight than the Core Strategy figure. It is appropriate for the 
conclusions reached within these appeal decisions to be taken into account in the 
council’s decision making where they are relevant. Unless circumstances change, 
those conclusions should inform, in particular, the Council’s approach to 
paragraph 49 of the NPPF, which states that adopted policies ‘for the supply of 
housing’ cannot be considered up to date where there is not a five year housing 
land supply. These policies were listed in the decision letters and are: Core 
Strategy DPD policies ST/2 and ST/5 and Development Control Policies DPD 
policy DP/7 (relating to village frameworks and indicative limits on the scale of 
new development in villages). The Inspectorate did not have to consider policy 
ST/6 but as a logical consequence of the decision this should also be a policy ‘for 
the supply of housing’.     
 

73. Where this is the case, paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that there is a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. It says that where relevant 
policies are out of date, planning permission should be granted for development 
unless the adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a 
whole, or where specific policies in the NPPF indicate development should be 
restricted. 

Page 28



 
Is the site a sustainable location for 220 residential units? 

 
74. Paragraph 17 of the NPPF sets out a number of core planning principles 

including:  
 
• encouraging the effective use of land by reusing land that has been 

previously developed, provided that it is not of high environmental quality   
 
• actively manage patterns of growth to make the fullest possible use of 

public transport, walking and cycling, and focus significant development in 
locations which are or can be made sustainable  

 
• take account of and support local strategies to improve health, social and 

cultural wellbeing for all, and deliver sufficient community and cultural 
facilities to meet local needs  

 
75. The NPPF states there are three dimensions to sustainable development: 

economic, social and environmental.   
 

Economic  
 
76. Paragraph 19 of the NPPF advises the Government is committed to ensuring that 

the planning system does everything it can to support sustainable economic 
growth, and significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic 
growth through the planning system. 
 

77. The proposed development would give rise to a number of economic benefits. In 
the short term this would include the creation of jobs in the construction industry 
as well as the multiplier effect in the wider economy arising from increased 
activity. In the long term the provision of housing would help meet the needs of 
businesses in Cambridge and London, where there will be a realistic travel option 
by train for future residents. For these reasons the scheme would bring positive 
economic benefits thus complying with this dimension of sustainable 
development.   
 
Social 
 
Provision of new housing including affordable units 

 
78. Chapter 6 of the NPPF relates to ‘delivering a wide choice of high quality homes’ 

and seeks to ‘boost significantly the supply of housing’ placing importance on 
widening the choice of high quality homes and ensuring sufficient housing 
(including affordable housing) is provided to meet the needs of present and future 
generations. 

 
79. The development would provide a clear benefit in meeting the current shortfall in 

South Cambridgeshire through delivering up to 220 residential dwellings. 40% of 
these will be affordable on a 70/30 rented to shared ownership basis in 
compliance with the development plan. In terms of mix, at least 40% of the homes 
will be one or two bedrooms and 25% three bedroom and four bedrooms 
respectively, in keeping with policy requirements. Securing both the affordable 
homes as well as the overall (affordable and open market) mix of houses can be 
achieved via S106/condition. Officers are of the view the provision of up to 220 
houses at a tenure and mix in conformance with adopted policy, is of substantial 

Page 29



benefit and significant weight should be attributed to this in the decision making 
process. 

 
80. A number of third party representations draw attention to there not being a local 

need for affordable housing within the village, with this need having already been 
met through exception sites. Developments on schemes requiring affordable 
housing provision on-site are not required to only meet the level of local need 
identified but provide accommodation for the wider need within the district.       

 
81. The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) advises that where a vacant building is 

brought back into lawful use, or is demolished to be replaced by a new building 
the developer should be offered a financial credit equivalent of the existing gross 
floorspace of relevant buildings when the local authority calculates any affordable 
housing contribution. Vacant building credit does not apply where a building has 
been abandoned. Officers are of the view, given the length of time since the last 
use of the site and owners intentions not to restart production, the buildings have 
been abandoned and no ‘credit’ is applicable towards reducing the level of 
affordable housing. 
 
Housing delivery  

 
82. The applicant suggests all of the 220 units will be delivered by 2020 (within 5 

years from date of outline consent) primarily due to the very strong demand from 
house builders (Barrington’s high values) resulting from the general attractiveness 
of the village and its proximity to the University, M11 and Foxton railway station 
which offers access to the mainline stations at both Kings Cross and Liverpool 
Street.  
 

83. Officers are of the view that whilst significant remediation of the site is necessary, 
given the applicants expertise in this matter and very strong demand in this village 
the majority, if not all, the new houses are likely to be delivered within 5 years. In 
order to encourage early delivery, officers are of the view it is reasonable to 
require the applicants to submit the last of the ‘reserved matters’ application within 
2 years from the grant of outline consent, with work to commence within 12 
months from such an application being approved.   
 
Open space 

 
84. The development includes the provision of formal and informal public open space, 

including allotments and Multi Use Games Area, covering a total of 2.01ha, 
immediately adjoining the residential units. The details of the type and 
specification of this open space is to be agreed at reserved matters stage, with 
the long term management of this land secured through the S106. The extent of 
proposed open space exceeds the guidelines set out in the adopted SPD (Open 
space in new developments) and will provide for the needs of future residents.  
 

85. Barrington is already served by a large area of both formal and informal open 
space and whilst the extent of the new provision is welcome, the wider social 
benefits are limited.  
 
Services and facilities  

 
86. Paragraph 55 of the NPPF seeks to promote sustainable development in rural 

areas advising ‘housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain the 
vitality of rural communities’, and recognises that where there are groups of 

Page 30



smaller settlements, development in one village may support services in a village 
nearby.    
 

87. Barrington village is served by relatively few services and facilities but including a 
Primary School, Public House, Church, Village Hall, shop and some formal 
sporting facilities along with an extensive area of public open space. There are no 
further retail facilities such as a bakery, butchers, pharmacy or hairdressers and 
residents are required to commute outside the village to access these day-to-day 
services. Furthermore there are no employment opportunities within the village.  

 
88. This lack of services is reflected in Barrington being designated a ‘Group Village’ 

on the Core Strategy settlement hierarchy. Group villages are described as 
‘generally less sustainable locations for new development than Rural Centres and 
Minor Rural Centres, having fewer services and facilities allowing only some of 
the basic day-to-day requirements of their residents to be met without the need to 
travel outside the village’, and new housing proposals are restricted to limited 
development which will help maintain remaining services and facilities. 

 
89. Barrington is located in close proximity to the villages of Orwell, Shepreth, 

Haslingfield, Harlton and Harston, which are all small settlements categorised as 
either ‘Group’ or ‘Infill’ villages, and as such the collective services offered locally 
is limited. 

 
90. The provision of up to 220 new houses will assist in maintaining the existing level 

of services offered in both Barrington and surrounding villages and some weight is 
given to this benefit, as per paragraph 55 of the NPPF.  

 
91. However the scale of development (220 houses) would represent a significant 

increase in the size of the village (467 properties) which does not have a range of 
services and facilities new residents would be expected to use. Furthermore these 
services are not available in adjoining villages. This lack of service provision 
weights against the proposal, and Members will need to take this into account in 
reaching a decision.      
 

92. Residents living in Barrington access primary health care services at Harston 
surgery and to a lesser extent Melbourn, with the NHS advising there is no spare 
capacity at either surgery and requesting appropriate contributions to mitigate 
this. Many of the representations from local residents draw attention to the 
difficulty in obtaining an appointment and finding parking at Harston surgery. 
Officers have visited the surgery and discussed potential options to expand the 
practice, and whilst any future development would be subject to obtaining consent 
it is likely this could be achieved (without losing car parking provision). 

 
93. The extension to the surgery would provide a single new GP consultancy room 

along with further office space, with this additional accommodation capable of 
serving 1800 patients (NHS guidelines) thus meeting the primary health care 
needs arising from both this development and at Hauxton.  
 

94. The consultation response from Harston surgery to SCDC advised there was 
capacity (subject to extending the building) to accommodate this development; 
however subsequent correspondence to the Parish Council stated this was not 
the case. When seeking clarification officers were directed to NHS England. NHS 
England guidelines are clear in advising a ratio of 1800 patients per GP. With the 
provision of an additional consultation room, this would cater for the increased 

Page 31



needs arising from both this development and the Hauxton scheme. Financial 
contributions towards extending the surgery would be secured through the S106.    
 

95. The development proposes funding for three additional classrooms at Barrington 
primary school, with there being sufficient capacity on site to deliver these. The 
funding will be secured through a S106, with no further contributions sought by 
the County Council education officials. Sufficient capacity exists at Melbourn 
Village College to accommodate the increased number of pupils. 

 
Transport  
 

96. One of the core principles of the NPPF is to ‘actively manage patterns of growth 
to make the fullest possible use of public transport’. Chapter 4 relates to 
‘Promoting sustainable transport’ and advises ‘the transport system needs to be 
balanced in favour of sustainable transport modes’, and goes on to state ‘different 
policies and measures will be required in different communities and opportunities 
to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary from urban to rural areas’. 
In summary the NPPF seeks to promote sustainable transport solutions, whilst 
recognising the difficulty of achieving this in rural areas.      
 

97. Bus provision is limited to three services, Orwell-Haslingfield-Cambridge, 
Royston-Haslingfield and Cambridge-Royston. The closest railway stations can 
be found at Foxton and Shepreth both of which are circa 3km from the site. From 
these stations regular services are offered to Cambridge and London. With limited 
bus provision and with the railway stations only realistically accessible by private 
car the village is poorly served by public transport.  

 
98. The application proposes to provide a pedestrian/cycleway link along the current 

railway line to Foxton station, with this to be installed prior to occupation of the 
first dwelling. Constructing this link, its long term maintenance and provision of 
additional cycle storage facilities at the station can be secured by S106.  

 
99. Officers are of the view this pedestrian/cycleway will encourage use of the railway 

for both new and existing residents, and is likely to prove attractive for commuters 
working in London and Cambridge (where access will be provided to the new 
station serving the Science Park). As such the provision of this cycleway/footpath 
will limit the increase in commuting by private car arising due to this development, 
as well as providing opportunities for existing residents to more easily access the 
train station by foot/cycle.   

 
100. However, for almost all other journeys (e.g. retail food shopping, leisure 

pursuits) new residents are likely to commute by private car (due to this being 
more convenient), resulting in an increase in movements. 
 

101. The county council highways authority transport assessment team raise no 
objection subject to conditions relating to the provision of the cycle/pedestrian link, 
provision of bus stops, travel plan and upgrading of the footpath connection to the 
village. County Council Highways Development Management also do not oppose 
the development subject to a requirement the car park opposite the school only 
be installed if required by the review into the schools travel plan. 
  

102. Many of the representation from both Barrington residents and those residing 
in neighbouring villages express concerns over the impact of increased traffic on 
already congested roads, highlighting queuing traffic at a number of pinch points. 

Page 32



Whilst these concerns are frustrating for local residents, the highways authority 
does not oppose the scheme on grounds of either safety or capacity.    

 
Environmental  

 
Landscape  
 

103. The existing site comprises a number of buildings including some very large 
sheds/machinery along with a tower which is a distinctive feature in the wider 
landscape. Short views of the site are restricted by the mature woodland which 
runs along Haslingfield Road and limits views in to the points of access.  
 

104. Given the site’s former industrial use and limited views, the development will 
result in a neutral impact on the landscape character. The Council’s landscape 
officer advises further landscaping is required, in particular to mitigate views from 
the north and this can be controlled by condition.   

 
Connections to Barrington 
 

105. A large number of local representations draw attention to the development site 
being separated from Barrington village, referring to the scheme as a ‘satellite’ 
housing estate or ‘Barrington North’.  
 

106. The development site is physically separated from the village by an area of 
woodland and is only proposed to be connected via two footpaths, one of which is 
to provide access to the school. With most movements to and from the site likely 
to occur by private car the development does not form a natural extension to the 
built form or encourage new residents to integrate into the village. Officers are of 
the view the built form of the development is incongruous with the established 
pattern of the settlement, and the lack of integration detracts from the merits of 
the scheme. The level of this harm is offset through the removal of a derelict 
factory site.   
  
Ecology 

 
107. The application is in close proximity to the Barrington Chalk Pit and Barrington 

Pit SSSI, with Natural England satisfied the proposed development will not 
damage or destroy the interest features for which the site has been notified and 
conclude these statutory nature conservation sites do not represent a constraint in 
determining this application.    
 

108. The Wildlife Trust note that whilst there will be an overall reduction in habitat 
loss (mainly due to arable land and open mosaic brownfield land) this can be 
adequately compensated for through an improvement to the quality of the habitat 
created. These improvements will be secured by condition/S106 and provide new 
habitat creation and an ongoing management plan.  

 
109. The Council’s ecologist is satisfied the habitat creation and management plan 

results in a diverse range of habits and provides sufficient mitigation.   
 

110. The Environment Agency request conditions relating to the disposal of foul 
and surface water drainage and provision of a construction method statement in 
the interests of environmental management. Further conditions requiring a 
remediation strategy as well as details of any piling/foundation design/boreholes 
are recommended to deal with risks associated with contamination.     

Page 33



 
Heritage assets  
 

111. A large part of Barrington village is designated a Conservation Area including 
land to either side of Haslingfield Road extending up to the boundary with Church 
Farm. Additionally the village contains a number of listed buildings.  
 

112. English Heritage advice the development will have an awkward relationship to 
Barrington Conservation Area, neither forming an independent settlement in its 
own right nor forming an integrated part of the existing village. This response 
further advises the existing redundant industrial site may be regarded as a 
negative impact on the wider setting of Barrington Conservation Area but that the 
introduction of over 200 dwellings would also have the potential for harm. 

 
113. The Council’s conservation consultant advises the new development is 

considered to be sufficiently screened/separated from both the Conservation Area 
and historic buildings to prevent any detrimental impact. 

 
114. Officers are of the view there is sufficient separation between the application 

site and village that the principle of replacing the derelict cement factory with 
residential development offers the opportunity to improve the setting of the 
Conservation Area, with the details of such a scheme considered at the reserved 
matters stage.     

 
115. There are numerous listed buildings within the wider vicinity of the site (124 

within 2km radius of site boundary), including eight within 100m as follows (Grade 
2 unless otherwise specified): Gates and Gatepiers at Barrington Hall, Lodge at 
entrance to Barrington Hall, Barrington Hall, Church Farmhouse, Primary School, 
Barn at Rectory Farm, Rectory Farmhouse and Church of All Saints (Grade 1). All 
these buildings are sufficiently separated from the development by the mature 
woodland such that no harm to their setting would arise.  

 
116. The construction of the car park and access could potentially harm the setting 

of the school and Church, however the details of the car park would be secured at 
reserved matters stage and officers are of the view this aspect of the scheme can 
be delivered without materially affecting the setting of any listed buildings or the 
Conservation Area.     

 
117. The site has been in industrial use for a prolonged period of time and is part of 

the historical context of the village, and appending a condition requiring the 
industrial heritage be recorded is reasonable and necessary.    

 
118. Cambridgeshire County Archaeology advise the site is located in an area of 

high archaeology potential with evidence of prehistoric, Roman and Saxon 
settlements, with a number of investigations in connection with the former quarry 
demonstrating the significance of the area for late Prehistoric and Roman period. 
The major impacts of the development will be within previously disturbed ground, 
with less impact where areas of archaeology is likely to survive, and it is 
considered this issue can be addressed by condition.   

 
119.  The quarry behind the site provides the only accessible source of clunch, a 

soft building stone used in the restoration of a significant number of highly graded 
listed buildings, in the county. The last consent allowing the quarrying of clunch 
has lapsed and any further quarrying would be subject to a new county matters 
planning application. English Heritage express concern this development may 

Page 34



prevent future quarrying of clunch, due to noise disturbance to the new residents, 
thus undermining the long term repair of listed buildings.      
 

120. The reserves of clunch lie within the quarry approximately 750m from the site 
with any future working involving pulling away the material from the quarry face. 
Minimal disturbance would result from this activity and future quarrying of clunch 
would unlikely be prejudiced by this development.  
 
Brownfield site 

 
121. One of the core principles in the NPPF is to encourage the effective use of 

land by reusing land that has been previously developed (brownfield land). The 
whole of the site proposed for new housing comprises previously developed land 
thus conforming with this objective of national planning policy. Officers are of the 
view significant weight should be attributed to this benefit. 
 
Loss of agricultural land 
 

122. The development will result in the loss of 2.1ha of agricultural land, which is to 
be given over to public open space. This agricultural land is grade 3, and as such 
the loss is not significant.  
 
Surface and Foul Water Drainage 
 

123. The Environment Agency advise the proposed discharge rates for surface 
water drainage are the same as the equivalent rates of greenfield runoff, and the 
proposal represents a significant betterment over the existing situation. The 
agency go on to highlight the development will significantly reduce downstream 
flood risk, improve water quality through the introduction of SUDS and provide 
ecological benefits through the removal of watercourses from culverts. 
 

124. Foul water is to be discharged via mains sewer with Anglian Water confirming 
there is sufficient capacity to cope with the development. 

 
Noise and disturbance  

 
125.     The Council’s environmental health officer advises that without mitigation 

the restoration activities associated with the quarry would result in an 
unacceptable impact on the living conditions of future residents. The quarry is 
within the control of the applicants and subject to mitigation measures such as 
installing earth bunds, acoustic fences, controlling hours of restoration no harm 
arises through noise disturbance.     
 

126. No adverse concerns are raised with regard to air quality subject to the 
appending of conditions.  

 
Other considerations  
 
National Gird, Police, Sport England     

 
127. No objections have been received from the National Grid, Police Architectural 

Liaison Officer or Sport England  
 
Restoration of the quarry 
 

Page 35



128. The County Council have confirmed the granting of residential use on this site 
will not affect the ongoing restoration of the quarry or conflict with adopted 
minerals and waste policy. 
 
Contributions  
 

129. The CIL Regulation 122 states that a planning obligation may only constitute a 
reason for granting planning permission for the development if the obligation is:  
 
(i) Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
(ii) Directly related to the development; and 
(iii) Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development  
 

130. Under Regulation 123 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 
(as amended in 2014); after 6th April 2015 a planning obligation may not 
constitute a reason for granting planning permission if since 6th April 2010 five or 
more separate planning obligations, that provide for the funding or provision of 
that project or type of infrastructure, have been entered into. Officers can confirm 
that there have not been more than 5 planning obligations for the village of 
Barrington since 6th April 2010. 
 

131. Following lengthy discussions with the planning authority, the Parish Council 
and elected members the applicant has offered the following heads of terms: 
 
• Building 3 new classrooms at Barrington Primary School at £1,010,520  
• Provision of pedestrian cycle links and improvements to Foxton Station Traffic  
      Management within Barrington Village, Bus Service and Infrastructure  
      Improvements at £2,040,00  
• New village hall and refurbishment of existing sports pavilion at £1,465,000 
• Provision of new football pitch, two tennis courts, car park serving the   
      recreation facilities, land for allotments at £292,000  
• Healthcare contribution at £185,900 
• Household waste receptacles at £17,136 
• Public open space maintenance at £200,000  
• Transfer of land to Barrington Parish Council  
 

132. Having regard to the development plan and the NPPF Officers are of the view 
that these obligations are all considered necessary to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms and without this level of contribution would not be 
confident that the development could be considered sustainable. All contributions 
have been scrutinised and are considered the result as a direct consequence of 
the development. Although the section 106 list (equivalent to £23,715 per 
dwelling) is higher than anything previously secured in the District, officers 
consider that this cost is reflective of the individual needs of the village and is 
therefore considered fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind. 
 
Conclusions 
 

133. In determining planning applications for new housing development where the 
council does not have an up-to-date 5 year housing land supply, the balancing  
exercise is skewed in favour of granting permission, unless any adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits 
when assessed against the policies of the NPPF taken as a whole. 
 

Page 36



134. Paragraphs 6-9 of the NPPF indicate that ‘sustainability’ should not be 
interpreted narrowly and that the three dimensions (economic, environmental, 
social) of sustainability should be sought jointly and simultaneously. Officers are 
of the view the proposal would have a clear direct and indirect economic 
dimension, and offers the opportunity for social benefits arising through the 
delivery of new homes, including affordable houses, which contribute to the 
council’s shortfall at a mix and tenure in conformance with the development plan, 
along with expanding the school and maintaining other services and facilities in 
Barrington and surrounding villages.  
 

135. The environmental dimension is more ambiguous. Benefits arising from the 
development include redeveloping a derelict brownfield site and new habitat 
creation. Adverse effects which arise include the development being out of 
keeping with the character of the village (significantly tempered by the industrial 
nature of the site), increase in use of the private car (tempered to a lesser degree 
through the provision of the cycleway/pedestrian link), and limited range of 
services and facilities including employment opportunities in Barrington and 
surrounding villages. 
 

136. It is appreciated Members are faced with a difficult balancing exercise. 
Planning law requires applications be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Officers are 
of the view, that on balance, the harm arising from the scheme does not 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits that include redevelopment 
of a derelict brownfield site which will deliver up to 220 dwellings, including 40% 
affordable, and as such there are material considerations which justify approval. 
For the above reasons the application is recommended for delegated approval 
subject to completion of a S106 Agreement. 
 
Recommendation 
 

137. Approve subject to conditions and completion of a Section 106 Agreement. 
Member will be updated on the list of conditions prior to the committee meeting.  

 
Background Papers 
 
Where the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 require documents to be open to inspection by members of the 
public, they must be available for inspection: -  
(a) at all reasonable hours at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council;  
(b) on the Council’s website; and  
(c) in the case of documents to be available for inspection pursuant to regulation 15, on 

payment of a reasonable fee required by the Council by the person seeking to inspect 
the documents at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council.  

 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website or elsewhere at 
which copies can be inspected.  
• Nation Planning Policy Framework 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2 
• Local Development Framework, Development Control Policies, Adopted July 2007 

http://www.scambs.gov.uk/content/local-development-framework 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Plan, Proposed Submission July 2013 

http://www.scambs.gov.uk/localplan 
  

Report Author:  Andrew Fillmore – Principal Planning Officer 

Page 37



Telephone: (01954) 713180 

Page 38



2 8

5

6

Meadows

Church

1

The Barn

4

2

Church Farm

3

CR

ED & Ward Bdy

C
S

CS

W
ar

d
B

dy

Def

TkS

SLID
LAN

E

C
D

27

29

23

25

11

10

9

8

BACK LANE

1

2

GP

41

ElSub
Sta

Lorelei

BO
O

T
LA

NE

37

PO
20.1m

Pump2226

12

2

HIGH STREET

19.8m

1a

55

1

257

9

Path (um)

3

G
re

en
woo

d

7

61

Guildhall

32 28

TCB

Barrington

Shelter

Barrington Green

18.8m

36

8

4c

4a

Alphabel

4b

The Stumps

Path
(um

)

Barrington

Hall

Bowling Green

6
4

20

Playing Field

Path
(um

)

Pavilion

Miller

14

20a

CS

ED & Ward Bdy

CD

Hous

El Sub S

House

Baracle
ve

Ile
x

13

Drain

Wheatsheaf

7
9a

9

10

8

Level

Crossing

21.6m

H
A

S
LI

N
G

FI
E

L D
R

O
A

D

El

Sub Sta

23.3m

Shed

F
B

FB

Conveyor

C
on

ve
yo

r

Engine

Tank

Track

Pond

D
rain

Moat

Sluice

18.5m

1 4

Drain

Pond

FB

Drain

Chimney

Drain

Track

Water

Track

Tank

Path
(um

)

Track

P
ond

Drain

M
ineral R

ailw
ay

(disused)

M
ineral R

ailw
ay

(disused)

Path (um)

Pond

Drain

FBs

M
inera l R

ailw
ay

(disused)

HESLERTON W
AY

10

16

32

18

40

to

Facility

Play Area

78

2

74

Sports

58 to
64

El S
ub

S
ta

56

Pond

55

Michaelmas

F
O

X
TO

N

Pond

Drain

Rive
r Cam

Dra
in

7

School

Primary

C of E

Barrington

Rectory

Far Meadow

Drain

Cottage

George

Pond

13.7m

D
rain

14.0m

Sewage Works

Track

S
ludge

B
eds

53

41

63

23

6

15

6a

37

33

B
E

N
D

Y
S

H
E

W
A

Y

54

50

52

8

M
A

LTH
O

U
S

E
W

A
Y

9

49
a

1

12
10

4

21

6

25

17

23

19

36

21

33

1

TCBLB

19.1m

Shelter

2

4

12

6

1

3

CHALLIS CLOSE

13

8

1

7

14.2m

20

22

26

24

FB

16.2m

26
a

R
O

A
D

Track

D
r a

in

16

16.1m

12
10

2

4

1

Farm

Dra
in

CLO
SE

DAPHM
OIR

CHALLIS

GREEN

3

8

7

1

5

D
rain

Pond

18.1m

Dr
ai

n

LB

LB

1
3

6

2

All Saints'
Church

War

Meml

20.0m

2

4

26

GLEBE ROAD

E
l S

ub
S

ta

1

22

14

LC

36

46

House

Posts

27

Sta

Ppg

32

Viaduct

Pump

16

5
15

40

21

D
rain

13.3m

Drain

D
ra

in

Drain

P
ath

(um
)

Foot Bridge

or

Foot

Bridge

Rh
ee

Weir

Burial

2

Ground

5

9

7

11

Bulbeck Mill

Cottage

43

1

4

45

6

HAYZEN CLOSE

4

1

Works

14

Bulbeck Mill
House

14.9m

12

Dra
in

Hall

3

M
ILL

LA
N

E

1 b

18.2m

7

LB

81

79

1

E
l S

ub
S

ta

65

69

67

5

18.4m

WEST GREEN

13

7

25

1

27a
27

R
H

E
E

M
E

A
D

O
W

El Sub Sta

23

5

11

Drain

Planning Dept - South Cambridgeshire DC

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
Scale - 1:6579
Time of plot: 16:45 Date of plot: 26/05/2015

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 800m

© Crown copyright.

Page 39



Page 40

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 3 June 2015 
AUTHOR/S: Planning and New Communities Director  

 
 
 
Application Number: S/2791/14/OL 
  
Parish: Melbourn 
  
Proposal: Outline planning application (including 

approval of access) for residential 
development of up to 199 dwellings plus a 
care home of up to 75 beds, new vehicular 
accesses from New Road, public open 
space and a landscape buffer  

  
Site address: Land East of New Road 
  
Applicant: Endurance Estates Strategic Land Ltd 
  
Recommendation: Delegated approval 
  
Key material considerations: The main issues are whether the proposed 

development would provide a suitable 
site for housing, having regard to the 
principles of sustainable development and 
housing land supply, scale of development 
and impact on character and landscape, 
services and facilities, access and 
transport, drainage, and ecology. 

  
Committee Site Visit: Yes 
  
Departure Application: Yes 
  
Presenting Officer: Paul Sexton 
  
Application brought to Committee because: The officer recommendation is contrary to 

the recommendation of refusal from 
Melbourn Parish Council 

  
Date by which decision due: 27 February 2015 
 
  
 Executive Summary 
 
1. This proposal seeks outline permission (access only for approval) for a residential 

development of up to 199 dwellings, plus a car home for up to 75 beds, on land 
outside the adopted village framework and in the countryside on a greenfield site. The 
development would not normally be considered acceptable in principle as a result of 
its scale and location. However two recent appeal decisions on sites in Waterbeach 

Agenda Item 6

Page 41



have shown that the district does not currently have a 5 year housing land supply, 
and therefore the adopted LDF policies in relation to the supply of housing are not up 
to date. The NPPF states there is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, and where relevant policies are out of date, planning permission should 
be granted for development unless the adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.  
 

2. In this case any adverse impacts of the development in terms of the scale of 
development, visual intrusion into the countryside, impact on local services and 
highways/transport are not considered to demonstrably outweigh the benefits that 
consist of a contribution of 199 dwellings towards the required housing land supply, 
including 40% affordable dwellings, and a 75 bed care home and associated 
employment benefits, in a location with good transport links and a range of services, 
and creation of jobs during the construction period, and from the care home, that 
would benefit the local economy. Given the above balance, the application is 
recommended for delegated approval, subject to the resolution of matters of detail 
discussed in the report, including the signing of a Section 106 Agreement.  

  
Planning History 

 
3. There is no relevant planning application history on the application site. 

 
4. The site was however considered as part of the Strategic Housing Land Availability 

(SHLAA) Site 3200, and was assessed at the Issues and Options Stage of the Local 
Plan as Site H7. This assessment identified the site as an ‘amber’ site suitable for 
consideration for allocation as a housing site, and found that it had some 
development potential, with a capacity for around 200 dwellings to be 
accommodated. It concluded that development would have a limited impact on 
landscape setting if a new soft green edge was created to the south. 

 
Policy 
 

5.  National 
National Planning Policy Framework 
Planning Policy Guidance 

 
6. South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Core Strategy 

ST/2 Housing Provision  
ST/5 – Minor Rural Centres 

 
7. South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Development Control 

Policies 
DP/1 – Sustainable Development 
DP/2 – Design of New Development 
DP/3 – Development Criteria 
DP/4 – Infrastructure and New Developments 
DP/7 – Development Frameworks 
HG/1 – Housing Density 
HG/2 – Housing Density 
HG/3 – Affordable Housing 
SF/6 – Public Art 
SF/10 – Outdoor Playspace, Informal Open Space, and New Developments 
SF/11 – Open Space Standards 
NE/1 – Energy Efficiency 

Page 42



NE/3 – Renewable Energy Technologies in New Developments 
NE/4 – Landscape Charcater Areas 
NE/6 – Biodiversity 
NE/9 – Water and Drainage Infrastructure 
NE/10 – Foul Drainage – Alternative Drainage Systems 
NE/11 – Flood Risk 
NE/12 – Water Conservation 
NE/14 – Lighting Proposals 
NE/15 – Noise Pollution 
NE/17 – Protecting High Quality Agricultural Land 
CH/2 – Archaeological Sites 
TR/1 Planning for More Sustainable Travel 
TR/2 – Car and Cycle Parking Standards 
TR/3 Mitigating Travel Impact 
TR/4 – Non-motorised Transport 

 
8. South Cambridgeshire LDF Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) 

Open Space in New Developments SPD - Adopted January 2009  
Affordable Housing SPD - Adopted March 2010 
Trees & Development Sites SPD - Adopted January 2009  
Landscape in New Developments SPD - Adopted March 2010  
Biodiversity SPD - Adopted July 2009 
District Design Guide SPD - Adopted March 2010 
Health Impact Assessment – Adopted March 2011 
 

9. Draft Local Plan 
S/1 – Vision 
S/2 – Objectives of the Local Plan 
S/3 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
S/5 – Provision of New jobs and Homes 
S/7 – Development Frameworks 
S/9 – Minor Rural Centres 
S/12 – Phasing, Delivering and Monitoring 
CC/1 – Mitigation and Adaptation to Climate Change  
CC/3 – Renewable and Low Carbon Energy in New Developments 
CC/4 – Sustainable Design and Construction 
CC/6 – Construction Methods 
CC/7 – Water Quality 
CC/8 – Sustainable Drainage Systems 
CC/9 – Managing Flood Risk 
HQ/1 – Design Principles 
HQ/2 – Public Art and New Development 
NH/2 – Protecting and Enhancing Landscape Character 
NH/3 – Protecting Agricultural Land 
NH/4 – Biodiversity 
NH/6 – Green Infrastructure 
H/7 – Housing Density  
H/8 – Housing Mix  
H/9 – Affordable Housing 
SC/7 – Outdoor Play Space, Informal Open Space and New Developments  
SC/8 – Open space standards 
SC/10 – Lighting Proposals  
SC/11 – Noise pollution 
SC/12 – Contaminated Land 
T/I – Parking provision       

Page 43



 
Consultation by South Cambridgeshire District Council as Local Planning 
Authority  
 

10. Melbourn Parish Council – recommends refusal. It has provided very detailed 
submissions outlining the Parish Council’s objections to the proposed development, 
including a transport assessment carried out by a highways consultant, a full copy of 
which is attached as Appendix 1. 
 

11. The Parish Council has also submitted a document summarising 1167 
representations it received as a result of its consultation process. 

 
12. In the summary of the reports the Parish Council states that its objections are on the 

grounds that: 
 

13. ‘The principle of development is unacceptable because: 
 

a. According to the adopted Proposals Map (2011) and Policy DP/7 in the 
Development Control Policies DPD 92007), the site is located in the ‘open 
countryside’ where there is a general presumption against new development; 

 
b. The proposed development is contrary to Policies S/7 and S/9 and the open 

countryside designation in the emerging Proposed Submission Local Plan 
92013/14) and; 

 
c. Notwithstanding any case on five-year housing land supply, the proposed 

development does not accord with the majority of the economic, social and 
environmental objectives set out in paragraph 7 of the NPPF (2012), and as 
such does not quality as ‘sustainable’ development under the NPPF’s 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

 
14. The proposed development is premature and risks prejudicing the emerging 

Proposed Submission Local Plan (2013/14) and its examination, and any decision or 
recommendations that the Inspector may make in the Spring/Summer. 

 
15. The applicant’s Transport Assessment (TA) and Travel Plan: (i) are flawed where 

they assign generated flows at the junction of Mortlock Street/High Street; (ii) do not 
consider the impact of development traffic generated on local conditions outside of 
the junctions modelled; and (iii) proposed works and measures to mitigate impact that 
are weak and ineffective with no guarantee or either their implementation or success. 
Until these issues are addressed, it is not possible to ascertain whether or not the 
proposed development complies with Policies DP/3 and TR/3 in the Development 
Control Policies DPD (2007) and emerging Policy TI/2 in the Proposed Submission 
Local Plan (2013/14). 

 
16. The proposed development is too large and out-of-proportion for a ‘Minor Rural 

Centre’ like Melbourn and will harm the character of the village, village life and place 
an additional burden on key village facilities, contrary to Policy ST/5 in the Core 
Strategy (2007), Policy DP/3 in the Development Control Policies DPD (2007) and 
Policy TI/2 in the Proposed Submission Local Plan (2013/14). 

 
17. The proposed development will create unnecessary landscape and visual harm to the 

surrounding environment and countryside, contrary to Policy NE/4 in the 
Development Control Policies DPD (2007) and Policy NH/2 in the emerging Proposed 
Submission Local Plan (2013/14). 

Page 44



 
18. Melbourn Parish Council has a number of other concerns about the proposed 

development, including the loss of a locally important tree, the scope for failures in 
the local sewage system, deficiencies in the applicant’s Flood Risk Assessment and 
Drainage Strategy, and other locally known highway concerns. 

 
19. Melbourn Parish Council’s 2014 consultation results clearly demonstrate that the 

majority of local respondents are opposed to the proposed development. 
 
20. In conclusion, the proposed development is contrary to the statutory development 

plan and in the absence of any overriding material considerations, should be refused 
planning permission in accordance with Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.’ 

 
21. A further representation has been received in respect of the revised Transport 

Assessment, which is attached at Appendix 2. The Parish Council comments that it 
disagrees profoundly with the conclusions of the TA. The Parish Council has also 
submitted a list of conditions it would wish to see included should consent be granted. 

  
22. Cambridgeshire County Council Highways Development Control – originally 

objected on the grounds that the proposed access conflicts with the proposed access 
for a site which has been identified within the SHLAA opposite to this site. Therefore, 
potentially creating a crossroads which, due to their poor accident record is 
unacceptable to the Local Highway Authority. 
 

23. Following further consideration of an updated access and plan, and additional 
information it has no objection in principle to the proposed access from New Road, 
subject to conditions, including the provision of a raised table junction, speed 
management measures, new footway and cycleway links along New Road. 
 

24. Cambridgeshire County Council Transport Assessment Team – commented  in 
respect of the application as originally submitted that further assessments were 
required in respect of speed survey information on New Road; clarification of 
distances that residents within the development will have to travel for public transport 
services; whether real-time information is available at the bus stops nearest the site; 
further details detailing at what time of day the survey of current traffic flows was 
carried out; suitability of proposed access to cater for traffic flows; recalculation of 
nursing home trips; revised distribution calculations and travel mode split, 
assessment of A10 Frog End and A505 junctions; detailing of mitigation measures 
including bus stops, improvements to pedestrian and cycle routes and community 
transport, and cycle stands. 
 

25. Following discussions with the applicant and the submission of further information the 
revised comments were submitted still requiring some additional information. Since 
these comments there has been further discussions with the applicant, as a result of 
which there are no objections subject to the requirements in paragraph 22 being 
secured and the following: 
 

26. Improvements to existing bus stops along High Street, including shelters and Real 
Time Passenger Information (RTPI) (design to be agreed with CCC and Melbourn 
PC); a new community transport vehicle; new on site car club to serve new residents 
and existing local residents; upgrades to the traffic signal junction in Melbourn 
including MOVA; contributions towards the safety scheme at the Cambridge 
Road/A10 junction; new cycle stands in Melbourn Village and near to the train station 
in Meldreth; contribution towards the A10 cycleway; a contribution towards improving 

Page 45



public footpath No.9 between Station Road and the railway station; travel plans to be 
secured through condition. 

 
27. SCDC Urban Design – ‘Though the site is out with the village framework, is it within 

a sustainable location, the site it is largely surrounded by development on three sides, 
and residential development continues along the opposite side of New Road beyond 
the extents of the site. The topography of the site will help minimise the impact of any 
development of this site, as the land beyond rises so the potential for any long views 
into the site is minimised. For these reasons, the principle of development on this site 
is therefore not objectionable. The number of units proposed also appears 
acceptable, though any increase should be resisted as it is likely this will be at the 
expense of the open space. 
 

28. Any development here will form a new edge to the village, and this will need to be 
considered carefully. The parameter plans includes a substantial green buffer along 
the southern boundary of the site. This appears appropriately sized to provide a 
meaningful buffer/recreational space, and should not be reduced in width as the 
detailed plans come forward.  
 

29. The vehicular access point appears logical. Given the existing boundary constraints, 
particularly the backs of houses, there are limited opportunities for connections. The 
masterplan includes a pedestrian link at the northwest corner of the site, this should 
definitely be included to increase permeability. Opportunities for connections to 
existing rights of way etc should be made wherever possible. 
 

30. There are a number of issues to address in the masterplan should a detailed 
application be developed. These include providing a suitable frontage to New Road, 
the quality of the green spaces, parking arrangements, distribution of the affordable 
housing, and incorporation of renewable energy measures. 
 

31. SCDC Landscape and Trees – Landscape – No objection. As indicated above, the 
proposed landscape buffer to the southern boundary of the site should be instigated 
to avoid or reduce the effects of the proposed development on the edge of the village 
settlement. A minimum of 10m of woodland mix vegetation should be incorporated as 
mitigation works. 
 

32. Conditions should include submission of full details of both hard and soft landscape 
works; five year replacement planting for both trees and shrubs following completion; 
‘no-dig’ construction in route protection area; boundary treatment to dwellings; 
external lighting scheme; hard landscape works to include details of kerbs, paving 
materials, edging and street furniture. 
 

33. SCDC Ecology – No objection. The South East boundary is very much welcomed 
having a minimum depth of 30m. This enables it to provide a multiple of functions 
(screening, habitat provision and public open space together with a wandering path). 
 

34. It is noted that the parameter plan has a significant overlap between the residential 
development land and the proposed strategic green buffer which equates to 10m, 
why is this? This could potential result in what looks like a large green buffer being 
reduced by 10m with a loss to habitats and open space. 
 

35. The use of partial tree screening in the South East boundary is welcomed as the 
blocks of trees do not disconnect people from the open farmland to the south. The 
blocks of trees provide a softer transition from the farmland habitats to the residential 
development and its open space. 

Page 46



 
36. Beech trees are present as hill top copses and plantations in this part of the district. 

Their use along with other chalk favouring species (privet, guelder rose and spindal) 
would be considered appropriate. 
 

37. The existing traditional orchard should be viewed as an important biodiversity 
resource for the site (albeit just offsite). The habitat appears to have been extended 
through the planting of further orchard trees around the pumping station – can this 
been confirmed as correct? What other areas of orchard planting are proposed, are 
they in the SE boundary? At the full application stage gardens backing on to the 
orchard should also be planted with some fruit trees. 
 

38. The development could adopt an orchard theme. Can a community orchard be 
established in the central open space? 
 

39. The use of soakaways in public open spaces (rather than rear gardens) would 
provide an opportunity for habitat provision and ensure that they remain well 
maintained (soakaways in gardens may be redevelopment/interfered with in future 
leading to problems). Publically accessible SUDS would provide opportunities for 
habitat integration in to features such as swales and could be planted to provide 
complementary habitats to the drier parts of the site. 
 

40. There is a degree of north to south habitat corridor provided by the trees associated 
with the paths leading to the central open space, similar is provided near to the west 
of the site. The final provision of street trees is very important to achieving these 
green links. Can it be confirmed that street trees can be and will be provided as this 
outline plan indicates? 
 

41. The proposal for fence lifting by 200mm (or simply leaving out the gravel boards at 
fence bases) is welcomed along rear boundary fences so that small animals 
(hedgehogs and amphibians) can gain access to some gardens.  
 

42. A range of specialist bird and bat boxes should be erected upon buildings. The built-
in/integrated forms are preferential to externally added ones. 
 

43. Specialist seed mixes, such as those that can provide flowering lawns, should be 
used in public open spaces where requirements are not for meadow habitats. If a 
quick sward establishment is required then the use of turf mat should be proposed. A 
reduction in basic amenity grass could act as a catalyst for a reduction in the overall 
mowing regimes of public open spaces. 
 

44. The findings of the ecological assessment of this site are accepted. That being that 
skylark, corning bunting and dunnock hold territories just off of the site, that only a 
small parcel of land has potential for reptiles and that no significant arable plants 
occur in the site. The provision of semi-natural grassland and shrub habitats within 
the green buffer will provide further nesting sites for some species of farmland bird 
that nest in hedgerows or in undisturbed rough grassland zone. 
 

45. Design Enabling Panel – concluded that this was a well-presented development 
proposal which demonstrates the evolution of the general design development to date 
but, which is capable of further improvement through further consideration. 
 

46. It stressed that its comments and opinion were based solely on the design/layout of 
the proposal. It was acknowledged that the site is outside the settlement boundary, 
and is not presently designated for development. 

Page 47



 
47. The Panel was of the view that there is scope to develop a more efficient road layout, 

with particular regard to the public open space. The Panel questioned the need to 
have the central green space bisected by a vehicular route in addition to the 
perimeter vehicular access, which served all the outward facing dwellings. 
 

48. The general approach of having areas of different character and density was broadly 
supported and encouraged. 
 

49. The siting and detail of the retirement/care home was questioned, together with 
issues such as the siting and quantity of parking (insufficient provision?). 
 

50. The scale of the care home and the impact upon the street scene on entering the site 
and in ‘opposition’ to relatively modest housing opposite with significant difference in 
scale and bulk did not convince the Panel. 
 

51. It was considered that the scheme would benefit from a more active relationship to 
New Road and provide more visual engagement, notwithstanding the potential to 
maintain some perimeter planting and screening to the road. 
 

52. The south east linear green space was supported, and the potential to provide buffer 
planting but still maintain views, both in and out of the development, was encouraged. 
The opportunity to create a space of significant external interest and activity should 
be explored and developed. As well as physical activity this might include an element 
of public art. 
 

53. It was considered that there is scope for significant landscaping to the north east and 
south perimeters, and to respond differently accordingly to the neighbouring land use 
and character e.g. the need to maintain mutual privacy from houses to the north. The 
opportunity to have a softer buffer/some continuity of fruit trees and orchard to the 
east, and the scope for breaks in a substantial planting and green buffer to the south 
and open farmland beyond. 
 

54. With regard to the dwellings fronting the central green space, scope for some 
increase in height and bulk at least in part. This in turn would allow some breaks in 
built up frontage to create greater visual permeability and maintain views, or at least 
glimpses, beyond the site, such as the framed views illustrated within the ‘Initial Ideas 
Plan’. 
 

55. Consideration has been given to the car users experience as they drive through the 
development, but the same thought needs to be given to the pedestrian experience. 
There is scope to improve and enhance the quality of the pedestrian connections 
across the site, especially linking into the linear green space, with minimised road 
crossings and tying in with open vistas in and out of the site, again as shown in the 
‘Initial Ideas Plan’. 
 

56. The Panel would strongly encourage any potential links to surrounding streets and 
land, and thereby prevent this potential development becoming one large cul de sac. 
 

57. Further consideration/detail needs to be given regarding the nature of the central 
green space, how it will be used and what it will contain. The inclusion of orchards in 
this particular location was questioned. 
 

Page 48



58. The potential to maximise dwelling orientation for optimal use of renewable energy 
sources should be a design driver (it was noted, and welcomed, that it is intended to 
provide a minimum 20% renewable energy). 
 

59. It was noted that the car park provision obviated the need for parking courts, with a 
presumption in favour of curtilage parking, which was supported and encouraged. 
 

60. It would appear that the housing/dwelling mix is appropriate, but the distribution of 
affordable dwellings needs further consideration, with pepper-potting across the site 
being strongly encouraged. 
 

61. Cambridgeshire County Council Education – The County Council initially provided 
informal comments on the emerging development proposals in response to questions 
raised about the capacity of existing education provision in the village.  County 
Council Officers have not met with the developers to formally comment on the 
emerging proposals. 
 

62. County Council officers have met with the local County Councillor, District Councillors 
and representatives of Melbourn Parish Council to discuss the emerging proposals 
and the implications of these on education provision in the village. 
 

63. In providing comments on the planning application, the County Council needs to be 
mindful of the existing provision in the village as well as the ability to secure additional 
capacity through the expansion of this provision. This is particularly important in 
considering a development of this scale, which is unlikely to generate sufficient 
additional demand to justify the development of new education provision. 
 

64. County Council officers also need to be mindful of the ability and/or willingness of 
developers to secure or contribute towards the mitigation of the impact of the 
development.  With regards to developments of this scale this can mean the 
developer being willing to make S106 contributions towards the expansion or 
provision of additional capacity.  Through discussions on previous planning 
applications it has been made clear that if developers are willing to make appropriate 
contributions, the County Council would be at significant risk if they opted to object to 
the planning application. 
 

65. This last point is particularly relevant in consideration of the planning application 
submitted in this case.  County Council officers recognise that there is significant 
concern from many people within Melbourn about the capacity of existing provision to 
cope with the additional demand for places created by the proposed development.   
 

66. Early Years 
 

67. Early years provision in Melbourn currently consists of the pre-school, located 
adjacent to the primary school and the Little Hands Nursery.  Both settings operate at, 
or close to, capacity and have limited opportunity for further expansion within their 
existing accommodation.  
 

68.  With existing pressures on provision in the village the County Council is already 
exploring opportunities for expansion of capacity of the existing providers to ensure 
that the two settings can provide sufficient places to meet the existing need.   
 

69. There would therefore, be a need, for the developer to provide mitigation, in the form 
of a S106 contribution to enable the Council to either promote the expansion of one of 
the existing settings or to develop a new setting in the village. 

Page 49



 
70. There is concern that a S106 contribution would not be sufficient, as existing premises 

and sites may not offer sufficient capacity for further expansion.  At this stage the 
County Council considers that there is the opportunity to explore expansion of the pre-
school provision linked to the primary school site, as part of work to increase capacity 
at the primary school. 
 

71. Primary Education 
 

72. Melbourn Primary School currently operates with a Published Admission Number 
(PAN) of 45.  The school is already operating over capacity, having made over 
admissions in many year groups to accommodate increasing demand from within the 
village resulting from demographic changes and recent housing development.  
 

73.  Demographic forecasts for the village suggest that there is a need to expand the 
school to meet the existing demand from within the village, regardless of the potential 
for further housing development in the village.  There is therefore, a clear need for the 
developer to provide appropriate mitigation to address this additional demand. 
 

74. Although it is accepted that there are some concerns that the current school site offers 
limited opportunity for further expansion, the County Council believes that there is the 
potential for the school to be expanded by a further half a form of entry (15 places in 
each year group).  This would allow the school to operate a two class structure across 
all year groups, and would create sufficient additional places to meet the existing and 
forecast demand which would be expected from this site and other proposed housing 
developments currently identified in the village. 
 

75. In this regard, although the County Council recognises the very real concerns 
expressed by the Parish Council at a recent meeting to discuss the development 
proposals, it is confident that it is possible to mitigate the impact of the development.  
In doing so, it is anticipated that the County Council as well as providing additional 
teaching space, would be able to improve the overall educational environment at the 
school. 
 

76. Currently, with no detailed scheme for the expansion of the school, the County Council 
can only seek contributions based on the standard formula approach used by the 
District Council.  This is far from ideal, and could lead to the County Council needing 
to secure additional investment from within its own five-year capital programme.  This 
is a consequence of the pace and timing of the scheme coming forward for 
development.  It is recognised and accepted however, that, subject to the developer 
making an appropriate contribution, proportionate to the impact of the development, 
the County Council is not in a position to object to the development proposals as 
submitted. 
 

77. Secondary education 
 

78. Melbourn Village College is the local secondary school serving the village.  The 
college currently operates with a PAN of 148.  However, the school currently has 
significant capacity within all year groups.  Notwithstanding the increasing demand for 
school places across the County, this is forecast to remain the case for the 
foreseeable future. 
 

79. Reflecting the level of existing capacity at the Village College, the County Council 
does not have any concerns that the proposed development would have an adverse 
impact on the available secondary school capacity. 

Page 50



 
80. In conclusion the County Council does have some concerns that the impact of this 

development may be challenging to mitigate, especially in terms of early years and 
primary school provision.  However, the County Council has previously identified that 
the primary school site has the capacity to enable the expansion of the school to 
become a 420 place, 2 form of entry school. 
 

81. For this reason, whilst retaining some concerns about the impact of the development, 
it is assumed that the developer will make an appropriate contribution to mitigate the 
impact of the proposed development.  With a contribution towards mitigating the 
impact of the development proposals, there is no basis for the County Council to 
object to the development proposals as set out in the planning application regarding 
education provision.  
 

82. Since submitting the above the County Council has now advised that the capital 
programme includes a programme for providing 2 permanent classrooms which will 
replace the existing temporary classrooms on the school site. Mitigation for the 
development would be to increase the capacity to a 2FE school by providing a further 
4 classrooms in addition to the 2 previously mentioned. Early years mitigation could be 
found by relocating the current pre-school to a new building elsewhere on the school 
land, and thereby free up a further classroom which may be used by the primary 
school.  
 

83. Cambridgeshire Archaeology – Archaeological evidence extends across the site 
and includes funerary and occupation remains of Middle Bronze Age date. Earlier 
evidence appeared to be confined to relict occupation soils containing Neolithic 
worked flints, which were preserved in the top of natural depressions in the chalk, but 
no ‘cut features’ of this date were seen in the evaluation trenches. Later evidence 
included a Roman trackway – part of the long-distance route of ‘Ashwell Street’, along 
with associated features that had a clear relationship to it, and are considered 
contemporary. 19th century land divisions and tracks were also present. 
 

84. The Heritage Statement indicates that no extant heritage assets of national 
importance will be affected by this proposed development, and that no new assets of 
equivalent status exist on site. This statement is accepted. 
 

85. While significant, none of the newly encountered archaeological evidence is 
considered to be of national importance or of sufficient local importance to prevent the 
scheme from going ahead. The construction impacts of the scheme could be mitigated 
by conducting a programme of archaeological work to conserve the interest of the 
archaeological deposits, features and monuments through their appropriate recording, 
analysis and publication. 
 

86. There are no objections to development from proceeding in this location, but consider 
that the site should be subject to a programme of archaeological investigation secured 
through the inclusion of a phased negative condition. 
 

87. Cambridgeshire County Council Minerals and Waste – comments that the 
submitted documentation omit any reference of the adopted Minerals and Waste Core 
Strategy (July 2011) and the linked RECAP Waste Management Design Guide SPD 
(February 2012). These both have policies and guidance which need to be reflected in 
the development’s Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) and the 
Waste Audit and Strategy going forward. This is particularly important for both 
constructional and operational phases of the development. 

 

Page 51



88. Operational Waste – although at present only the TA makes reference to the South 
Cambridgeshire District Council waste collection service vehicles it is important that 
the applicant is aware of the other requirements set out within the RECAP Waste 
Management Design Guide SPD. This will take account of the need for recycling 
facilities and a financial contribution to the Household Recycling Centre service. This 
will need to be considered as part of the RECAP Tool Kit and Contributions 
Assessment that will need to be submitted at the Reserved Matters application stage. 
This requirement can also be secured by planning condition. 
 

89. Compliance with the RECAP Waste Management Design Guide can be secured by 
condition and the submission of a CEMP can be required by condition.  

 
90. Cambridgeshire County Council Floods and Water – comments that it is positive 

that the site has considered the use of source control SuDS features such as 
permeable paving, however there may be restrictions on the ability of the Highways 
Authority to adopt these types of SuDS as part of a residential roads, therefore it 
should be considered at the early stages whether there are any other types of SuDS 
that can be used in the street scene, such as the use of infiltrating rain gardens. 
Overall there should be more emphasis on SuDS greenways across the site to try and 
enhance the ecology, amenity or street scene benefits that SuDS can bring more 
widely. Further detailed design is required to demonstrate how exceedance flows 
above the 1 in 100 year plus climate change event will be dealt with across the site 
without increasing flood risk to adjacent areas. 
 

91. There is a need to ensure that run off from new developments is carefully managed so 
that surface water flood risk is not increased in surrounding areas or water quality 
reduced to nearby water bodies. Also that the SuDS are adopted and provision is 
made for its maintenance, in perpetuity. 

 
92. Cambridgeshire County Council Sports, Arts and Museums – Reference about 

how the new population will be accessing sports, museums and arts facilities should 
be provided. Developers stated that they have considered the Public Art SPD before 
compiling the application but there is no mention of public art being provided within the 
site. 
 

93. The County Council suggests that contributions are sought towards sports, museums 
and arts provision to support existing facilities, e.g. the sports facilities at the Village 
College site could be enhanced. The amount will be compatible with SCDC standards 
for sport and general guidance for arts and museums. 
 

94. Developers should be aware that there will be increased demand and that 
leisure/recreational/cultural facilities are important for community cohesion. 
 

95. Consider avoid putting LEAPs in the middle of housing. It leads to older children 
congregating and making noise late into the night. 

 
96. Cambridgeshire County Council Libraries and Lifelong Learning – Melbourn is 

currently served by 2 mobile library stops and a volunteer run Library Access Point. 
The development will be over half a mile from the Library Access point and therefore 
we will be asking for a contribution of £28.92 per increased head of population for a 
new mobile stop to serve the residents of this new development, especially the 75 
residents of the care home. 

 
97. Environment Agency – comments that the proposed development will only meet the 

requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework if the following measures as 

Page 52



detailed in the Flood Risk Assessment submitted with this application are implemented 
and secured by way of a planning condition. These are the demonstration of how 
appropriate protection and maintenance of the surface water drainage scheme will be 
achieved, and the provision of details of long term ownership/adoption of the surface 
water drainage scheme. 
 

98. Conditions should also be included to deal with any contamination not previously 
identified which is found, and any remediation strategy required, and securing a 
scheme for the provision and implementation of a scheme for pollution prevention and 
control of the water environment. 
 

99. Anglian Water – Initially commented that the foul drainage from the development is in 
the catchment of Melbourn Water Recycling Centre that will have available capacity 
for these flows. The sewerage system at present has available capacity for these 
flows. 
 

100. Following the receipt of correspondence from Melbourn Parish Council expressing 
concerns about the impact of further development in Melbourn, Anglian Water has met 
with representative to discuss their issues. 
 

101. Initial desktop assessment indicated the network should be able to accommodate the 
development site without detriment and this formed the basis for Anglian Water’s initial 
response to this planning consultation. However, Anglian Water has commenced 
detailed modelling of the foul network serving Melbourn to identify the impact of further 
development and to confirm if mitigation is required. The modelling will not be 
completed until the end of June 2015. With this in mind, it recommends, if the Council 
are minded to grant permission that a drainage condition is applied. 
 

102. Anglian Water has indicated that on completion of the modelling of the Melbourn foul 
network if the proposed new development site at land east of New Road is identified 
as requiring mitigation, it will work proactively with the Developer to decide the 
optimum way forward. Dependent on the site and the network the mitigation could be 
a number of options, from a pump station and rising main to drain the site to the 
network, to additional storage or upsizing of existing infrastructure to deal with 
expected flows from the number of properties being planned. In strategic terms it 
indicates that the process can be completed from underwriting to commissioning of 
any asset in 18 months, but again this is dependent on the type of works that are 
required. 

 
103. Environmental Health Scientific Officer (Contaminated Land) – is satisfied that a 

condition relating to contaminated land is not required. 
 

104. Environmental Health Officer – No objection in principle provided issues raised are 
dealt with by condition or similar in order to minimise potential adverse impacts on 
existing and future residents, the wider community/living environment, and to protect 
quality of life, amenity and health. The conditions are also necessary in delivering and 
facilitating a sustainable quality development, and to ensure there is proper service 
provision. 
 

105. Conditions are recommended to control construction noise, vibration and dust; 
operational noise impact assessment and a scheme for noise insulation or other noise 
mitigation in respect of the proposed care home and electricity; operational odour 
control scheme (care home); artificial lighting scheme; operational waste and 
recycling/waste management strategy. 
 

Page 53



106. A Local Equipped Area of Play (LEAP) appears to be proposed immediately to the 
rear of existing residential properties in Clear Crescent. In this location there is the 
potential for noise and disturbance to be caused to existing premises. However, the 
degree of any impact cannot be fully determined until further detailed design is 
submitted for consideration. Further noise impact assessment may be required when 
detailed design proposals are submitted for approval. 
 

107. The submitted Energy and Sustainable Design Statement states that to meet 
renewable energy requirements, one of the options available are Biomass Boilers, for 
both the housing and care home. Before it is confirmed that this is suitable in this 
location, an air quality impact assessment may be required to determine if such 
systems are acceptable in terms of local air quality impacts and effects. In addition, as 
the supply of fuel for such biomass boilers is likely to include HGV type vehicular 
deliveries, the hours when such deliveries can take place my need to be restricted to 
daytime to protect amenity. 
 

108. Housing Development Officer – The applicant is proposing 199 dwellings plus a car 
home of up to 75 beds. The affordable housing contribution on this application and 
equates to 80 dwellings, which the applicant is suggesting in this outline application to 
be 70% rented and 30% intermediate. This offer is currently policy compliant, and in 
line with the Affordable Housing SPD. 
 

109. Within the Design and Access Statement the applicant makes reference to the 
proposed housing mix and that the starter homes of 1 bed apartments should fall 
within the affordable housing provision, but not within the market provision. 
 

110. Policy DP/2 does reflect a housing mix of at least 40% 1 or 2 bedroom homes, and is 
a reflection of the entire housing market, and not just the affordable homes as 
suggested by the applicant. There should be 1 bed homes within the market provision.  
 

111. The emerging Local Plan is suggesting a slightly different housing mix of at least 30% 
1 and 2 bed homes, at least 30% 3 bed homes and at least 40% 4 bed homes, with 
10% flexibility. 
 

112. The affordable housing should be evenly distributed throughout the development, and 
good quality design and layout should allow for tenure neutrality. The affordable 
homes should at least meet the old HCA space standards as a minimum as affordable 
homes are not under-occupied. 
 

113. The is no affordable housing provision required within the 75 bed care home, but 
Strategic Housing would like to better understand the model that the applicant 
proposes to use in the provision of this type of housing given that recently an older 
person housing scheme (Southwell Court) was recently shut in Melbourn, with 
financial reasons being cited.   
 

114. From recent discussions with the county and health partners there would appear to be 
a shortage of residential care homes in the District and there was particular 
disappointment with the care home that closed in Melbourn. 
 

115. NHS Property Services – states that capacity for Primary Care services in Melbourn 
is provided by the Orchard Surgery. The surgery is now at capacity and, as indicated 
in relation to the proposed development at Victoria Way, will need to build and 
extension in order to provide capacity for new residents of both sites. 
 

Page 54



116. In line with the contribution requested for Victoria Way, the NHS seeks a contribution 
of £638 per dwelling, indexed, equating currently to £140,360 (£13398 of which relates 
to the care home). It is proposed that this contribution should be made at the 
commencement of development as the additional capacity would be needed as soon 
as possible. 
 

117. Orchard Surgery (Melbourn) comments that it has discussed how it could 
accommodate the significant increase in patient numbers that could arise from this 
and proposed large scale developments in the area. NHS England has already 
indicated that support would not be given to a new surgery development, and the 
Surgery has considered a possible extension to its current premises. After monitoring 
the daily usage, it has become increasingly evident that there appears to be 
insufficient car parking to accommodate any significant increase in patient numbers. 
 

118. In addition there is concern amongst the Partners with the unstable and constantly 
changing economic/funding rules applied to General Practice such that they would not 
wish to commit financially to an extension of the surgery premises at this time. This 
could result in the Surgery being unable to accommodate the additional numbers of 
patients proposed and may eventually lead to the closure of the list to new patients in 
order to protect the delivery of safe and timely medical care to current patients.  
 

119. Environmental Health (Public Health Specialist) – comments that the Housing 
Impact Assessment (HIA) has been assessed as Grade B, which meets the required 
standard of the HIA SPD policy.  
 

120. Although the HIA is weak in places its main objective is to identify possible health 
impacts resulting from the development, and this has been undertaken and reported 
within the HIA. This has been assessed as Grade B as the weaknesses do not 
materially affect the submitted application. However, due to the nature of the 
development (care home) it is recommended that a condition is included in any 
planning consent requesting a further health impact assessment at reserved matter 
stage. This could be a rapid or screening HIA particularly to focus on design of the 
care home and its surroundings. 
 

121. Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service – requests that adequate provision is 
made for fire hydrants, to be secured by planning condition, or a Section 106 
agreement. 
 

122. The Trees Officer’s comments will be reported 
 

Representations 
 

123. 257 letters have been received from 176 households (172 in Melbourn), objecting on 
the following grounds: 

 
• Adding 199 new homes in Melbourn in one go (an increase of 10% in 

population) will place too much strain on the infrastructure, which are already 
overloaded. 

• Overdevelopment of the site.  NPPF states that applications must be 
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. Neither the current nor emerging Local 
Plan provide for development of this site. 

• Site is outside the village envelope. 

Page 55



• New housing stock is necessary, but this development will cause 
unacceptable harm to the village. Onus is on the Council to allocate suitable 
land for development. This site was previously rejected. 

• Development contrary to Policies S/2, S/4 and S/9 of the Submission Local 
Plan. 

• The site on the outskirts of the village, with only one road in and out, will result 
in an isolated development and harm Melbourn’s sense of community. 

• Traffic in Melbourn is a problem already, with vehicles using unsuitable 
residential roads as rat runs and traffic jams occurring regularly at the traffic 
lights in the centre of the village. Beechwood Avenue and Back Lane are 
already used as a rat run. Access onto Cambridge Road north of the village is 
needed. Congestion at A505/New Road at peak times. Frog End junction is 
dangerous. Existing speed limits are ignored. 

• New Road is not capable of supporting the additional traffic. It already has 
traffic calming measures needed due to existing traffic volumes it carries. 

• Access to site is opposite existing accesses on New Road, leading to potential 
for accidents and congestion. 

• Already congestion in High Street, New Road, and Mortlock Street in 
particular. The traffic lights and outside the Primary School and Co-op are 
already problem areas. 

• Significant flaws in the Transport Statement. 
• Prejudice access to land at 36 New Road – allocated site. 
• Children of the village should be able to have all their education in the village. 

Even at the moment pre-schools and the primary school are full. Money that 
will be provided by the developer will not be sufficient to provide for the new 
development. 

• Health services should be available in the village, and at the moment the GP 
and NHS dentist are full. There are long waiting times for appointments. 

• Melbourn is a centre for surrounding villages. There are proposals for 
development going in for these too. What is being done to look at the 
cumulative effect of all these local proposals? 

• Concern about capacity of sewage and surface water drainage systems. 
Problems with flash flooding. There has been decrease in water pressure 
since the development in Victoria Way. 

• The site floods. 
• Not sustainable. 
• Detrimental impact on landscape and wildlife. Impact of emergency access on 

TPO tree. 
• Increase in pollution, with health impacts. 
• Will the care home be run by the Council as this is what is needed. 
• Care home is not needed as two in the village already, one of which has 

recently closed. 
• Proposed old people’s home will mean more heavy traffic in and out i.e. 

ambulances and supply lorries. 
• Need for new general store to support development. 
• Melbourn becoming town rather than village. 
• Three storey houses are out of keeping. 
• 199 houses deliberately proposed to be under 200 which would require 

additional amenities to be provided 
• Safety risk to pedestrians, particularly children walking to school. 
• Need to provide additional recreational space. 

Page 56



• Assumption that people will walk to Meldreth Station unrealistic, as evidenced 
by chaos of cars at peak time in the station car park. People would not walk to 
other facilities in the village, putting additional pressure on roads and parking. 

• Train service is at capacity during peak hours. 
• Buses are slow and unreliable. 
• Biking to Cambridge not a safe option, particularly as now the Royston-

Cambridge bike highway has been put on hold. Cycle routes to and from the 
development site are not good. 

• Not well related to existing facilities. 
• Existing roadside footpaths do not extend as far as the site. Those that do 

exist are often narrow and in a poor state of repair 
• Extra policing will be required. 
• The existing green edge to the village is adequate. 
• Detrimental impact on residential amenity. Loss of views out of village. Impact 

to rear of West Barn, New Road. Noise and light pollution from the care home. 
• Irreversible loss of high quality Grade 1 or 2a agricultural land.  
• Brownfield land should be developed first. 
• Where would the additional employment required come from? 
• Impact of construction traffic. 
• There has already been a lot of building work in the village over the last few 

years. 
• Already approval for 65 houses on opposite side on New Road, with more 

planned. 
• Impact on response time of ambulances. Impact of additional traffic on 

regional ambulance centre – not mentioned in the application 
• Contributes nothing to the village, other than a few affordable houses. 
• Precedent for further development of land to the south. 
• Impact on Foxton crossing. 
• Inadequate local consultation by developer. 
• 86% of the village are against the proposal. The local view should be 

supported. 
 
124. County Councillor Susan van de Ven has submitted comments on the application, 

which are attached as Appendix 3.  
 
Applicants Representations 
 

125. A letter from the applicant’s agent responding to points raised by Melbourn Parish 
Council is attached as Appendix 4. 
 
Site and Proposal 
  

126. The site is located to the east of New Road, immediately to the south east of existing 
dwellings in Clear Crescent and Fordham Way. It comprises approximately 10.9 
hectares of primarily open arable land, the southern side of which slopes upwards in 
gradient, away from the village. 
 

127. The site is bounded to the north east by East Farm, to the west by New Road and the 
rear of the curtilage of two former barns, now in residential use, and to the south by 
arable land, which continues to rise more steeply away from the village.  
 

128. On the opposite side of New Road are residential properties, including Victoria Way. 
Land to the rear of Victoria Way, and the land associated with 36 New Road is a 
proposed residential allocation in the emerging plan. Members granted consent for the 

Page 57



erection of 64 dwellings on the land to the rear of Victoria Way at the December 2014 
meeting (Ref; S/2048/14/OL), and there is an application currently under consideration 
for the erection of 26 dwellings at 36 New Road (Ref; S/0287/15/OL). 
 

129. Some planting exists along the north west boundary of the site with existing properties 
in Clear Crescent and Fordham Way, including 3 trees which are the subject of a Tree 
Preservation Order (TPO). There is a hedgerow and orchard planting to the north east 
of the site. There is also a TPO on a Horse Chestnut tree on the site frontage in the 
north west corner of the site. This tree is shown as being removed. 
 

130. The outline application, with all matters reserved part from access, proposes the 
erection of up to 199 dwellings, a care home of up to 75 beds, landscaping, vehicular 
access and formal and informal open space. An illustrative masterplan is submitted in 
order to demonstrate that the site can accommodate the amount of development 
proposed. 
 

131. Vehicular and pedestrian access is proposed to New Road. The application states that 
this has been designed to be compatible with the proposed access which would serve 
the allocated residential development on the opposite side of New Road. In addition 
and pedestrian and cycle access is proposed at the northern end of the site, which will 
also serve as an emergency access point.  A new footway is proposed along the east 
side of New Road from the site access to connect to the existing footway to the north 
west. 
 

132. The application is accompanied by a Design and Access Statement, Planning 
Statement, 5-Year Housing Land Supply Report, Transport Assessment, Landscaping 
and Visual Assessment, Arboricultural Assessment, Heritage Statement, Flood Risk 
Assessment, Foul Sewage Utilities Assessment, Ecology Report, Archaeology 
Evaluation Report, Energy and Sustainability Statement, Heath Impact Assessment, 
Ground Investigation Report, and Geophysical Survey Report. 

 
Planning Considerations 
 

133. Housing Land Supply 
 

134. The National Planning Policy Framework (2012) (NPPF) requires councils to boost 
significantly the supply of housing and to identify and maintain a five-year housing 
land supply with an additional buffer as set out in paragraph 47. 
 

135. On the 25 June 2014 in two appeal decisions for sites in Waterbeach the Inspector 
concluded that the Council cannot currently demonstrate a five-year supply of 
deliverable housing sites.  He identified either a 3.51 or 3.9 year supply (each appeal 
was judged on its own evidence and slightly different conclusions reached). This is 
against the Strategic Housing Market Assessment figure for objectively assessed 
needs of 19,000 homes between 2011 and 2031, which he concluded had more 
weight than the Core Strategy figure.  It is appropriate for the conclusions reached 
within these appeal decisions to be taken into account in the Council’s decision 
making where they are relevant.  Unless circumstances change, those conclusions 
should inform, in particular, the Council’s approach to paragraph 49 of the NPPF, 
which states that adopted policies “for the supply of housing” cannot be considered up 
to date where there is not a five year housing land supply.  Those policies were listed 
in the decision letters and are: Core Strategy DPD policies ST/2 and ST/5 and 
Development Control Policies DPD policy DP/7 (relating to village frameworks and 
indicative limits on the scale of development in villages).The Inspector did not have to 

Page 58



consider policies ST/6 and ST/7 but as a logical consequence of the decision these 
should also be policies “for the supply of housing”. 
 

136. Where this is the case, paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that there is a presumption 
in favour of sustainable development. It says that where relevant policies are out of 
date, planning permission should be granted for development unless the adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole, or where specific 
policies in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted (which includes land 
designated as Green Belt in adopted plans. 
 

137. Principle of development 
 

138. The site is located outside the Melbourn village framework and in the countryside 
where Policy DP/7 of the LDF and Policy S/7 of the Draft Local Plan states that only 
development for agriculture, horticulture, forestry, outdoor recreation and other uses 
which need to be located in the countryside will permitted. The erection of a residential 
development of up to 199 dwellings, and care home of up to 75 beds, would therefore 
not under normal circumstances be considered acceptable in principle. However, this 
policy is considered out of date due to the current lack of a 5 year housing land 
supply.  
 

139. Melbourn is identified as a Minor Rural Centre under Policy ST/5 of the LDF and 
Policy S/9 of the Draft Local Plan. These are villages where there is a reasonable 
range of services and facilities, and residential developments of up to 30 dwellings are 
normally supported in policy terms. The erection of up to 199 dwellings, plus care 
home, would exceed the amount of residential dwellings allowed in such locations and 
would not support the strategy for the location of housing across the district. However, 
this is policy is considered out of date due to the current lack of a 5 year housing land 
supply. 
 

140. Deliverability 
 
141. The applicant has agreed that the time period allowed for submission of reserved 

matters can be reduced to 1 year from the date of consent. An indicative timetable has 
been submitted which states that reserved matters and contracts will be dealt with in 
year 1, with up to 50 dwellings and the care home being constructed in year 2, with 50 
dwellings in each of the following years, and completion in year 5. 

 
142. The results of the modelling being undertaken by Anglian Water are not known, and 

therefore the extent of new works, if any, which may be required to provide capacity 
for proposed development are yet to be identified. However, officers are of the view 
that the indication given by Anglian Water that works would normally be expected to 
be carried out within 18 months, means that the deliverability of the scheme should not 
be prejudiced  

  
143. Officers are of the view that the applicant has demonstrated that the site can be 

delivered within a timescale whereby significant weight can be given to the 
contribution the proposal could make to the 5 year housing land supply. 

 
144. Sustainability of development 
 
145. The NPPF states that there are 3 dimensions to sustainable development, economic, 

social and environmental. The aspects are considered in the assessment of 
highlighted issues below. 

Page 59



 
146. Economic 
 
147. Paragraph 19 of the NPPF advises the Government is committed to ensuring that the 

planning system does everything it can to support sustainable economic growth, and 
significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth through 
the planning system. 

 
148. The proposed development would give rise to a number of economic benefits. In the 

short term this would include the creation of jobs in the construction industry as well as 
the multiplier effect in the wider economy arising from increased activity. In the long 
term the provision of housing would help meet the needs of businesses in Cambridge 
and London, where there will be a realistic travel option by train for future residents. 
The applicant states that the proposed care home would create at least 40 full time 
equivalent jobs in the care industry. For these reasons the scheme would bring 
positive economic benefits thus complying with this dimension of sustainable 
development.  

 
149. Social 
 
150. Provision of new housing including affordable dwellings:  
 
151. Chapter 6 of the NPPF relates to ‘delivering a wide choice of high quality homes and 

seeks to ‘boost significantly the supply of housing’ placing importance on widening the 
choice of high quality homes and ensuring sufficient housing (including affordable 
housing) is provided to meet the needs of present and future generations. 

 
152. The development would provide a clear benefit in helping to meet the current shortfall 

in South Cambridgeshire through delivering up to 199 residential dwellings. 40% of 
these units will be affordable, with a 70/30 tenure split in favour of rented properties. 
This equates to 80 dwellings, excluding the care home. The applicant has indicated 
that the affordable units will be distributed throughout the development in small groups 
or clusters. Density is indicated at being 35 dwellings per hectare over the net 
developable area. 

 
153. The applicant indicates that the mix of market housing will be in accord with Policy H/8 

of the emerging Local Plan. The affordable housing can be secured through a Section 
106 Agreement. Officers are of the view the provision of up to 199 houses is a benefit 
and significant weight should be attributed this in the decision making process. 

 
154. The applicant has provided a letter from a group interested in providing the care home 

element of the scheme. 
 
155. Open Space: 
 
156. Areas of formal and informal public open space are shown on the indicative layout 

plan. These include an informal linear green space of approximately 1.8ha, which will 
define the south east boundary of the site, and will create a soft green edge to the 
village, and approximately 0.6ha of formal play space, with a central open space 
surrounded by dwellings. The extent of proposed open space exceeds the guidelines 
set out in the adopted SPD (Open space in new developments) and will provide for the 
needs of future residents, although the wider social benefits are more limited. 

 

Page 60



157. The details of the type and specification of the open space areas is to be agreed at 
reserved matters stage, with the long term management of this land, along with 
appropriate off-site and maintenance contributions, secured through the S106.  

 
158. Services and Facilities: 
 
159. Paragraph 55 of the NPPF seeks to promote sustainable development in rural areas 

advising ‘housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of 
rural communities’. 

 
160. As a Minor Rural Centre, Melbourn is a village where there is a reasonable range of 

services and facilities. These include a Village College (1.6km), Primary School 
(0.75km), Church (0.9km), a range of shops, a number of public houses, doctor’s 
surgery (0.6km), dentist, with a railway station in Meldreth (1.7km. Distances are 
approximate and taken from the centre of the site. 

 
161. The nearest bus stop is located on the High Street, which is some 900m from the centre of 

the application site, and is outside the easy walking distance of 800m. 
 
162. The development overall is considered to be located within an acceptable distance of 

local services such as to not dissuade residents from looking at alternative means of 
transport other than the private car. 

 
163. Both the NHS and Orchard Surgery have confirmed that there is currently no capacity 

at the surgery to cater for the new development, and that the premises will need to be 
extended so that it can accommodate the additional patients that will be generated by 
this and the development site to the west of New Road. Whilst it may be physically 
possible to extend the building, additional car parking cannot be achieved on the site. 
The applicant initially entered into discussions with NHS Property Services about 
provision of a new surgery building on the site, however this was not supported by 
NHS. 

 
164.  At the current time a specific scheme for extension of the premises has not  been 

identified, and therefore the NHS has requested a contribution on the basis of a sum 
per person, in line with that sought for the recently consent development on land off 
Victoria Way. This will be secure through the Section 106 Agreement. The Highway 
Authority is seeking a cyclepath from the development site along New Road to the 
Orchard surgery, which will improve connectivity. 

 
165. The County Council has identified the need for funding for a total of 4 additional 

classrooms (2 of which are already committed) at Melbourn Primary School, with there 
being sufficient capacity on site to deliver these. There is also a need for additional 
early years provision. The funding will be secured through the S106. Sufficient 
capacity exists at Melbourn Village College to accommodate the increased number of 
pupils. It is hoped that early years provision can also be secured at the Primary School 
site, with community access being secured. 

 
166. Transport: 
 
167. There has been considerable local concern from both Melbourn Parish Council and 

residents regarding the potential highway implications of a development of this scale. 
These concerns relate to the new access and traffic on New Road, but extend further 
afield and include the impact on the New Road/Orchard Road junction, the junction of 
New Road/A505, the junction of Cambridge Road/A10. 

 

Page 61



168. The County Council has considered the Transport Assessment submitted with the 
application, and initially required to the applicant to undertake significant additional 
work, as highlighted in paragraph 23 above. 

 
169. Following consideration of this additional information it has raised no objection, subject 

to the applicant either providing, or contributing towards either new highway works or 
improvements to existing highway infrastructure. 

 
170. At the proposed entrance to the site a raised table junction will be created, and 

existing traffic calming features removed. A new footpath link will be provided along 
the east side of New Road from the site entrance to link to the existing footpath further 
north on New Road. The applicant is also being asked to provide a footpath/cycleway 
along New Road, as far as the entrance to the Doctor’s Surgery. The Highway 
Authority is confident that this can be provided within the existing public highway, 
although there may be some sections where a full 2m width is not achievable. These 
works should be secured by a Grampian style condition. There is not space within the 
public highway to provide a cycleway to the High Street junction. 

 
171. Speed humps along New Road are to be replaced with cycle friendly speed cushions. 

A new car club is to be set up to sever new and existing residents. A new community 
transport vehicle is sought to cater for the needs of the development. These will be 
secured at the expense of the applicant. 

 
172.  The nearest bus stops to the site are on High Street, near Vicarage Close. It has not 

been possible to secure new bus stops closer to the site, however the Highway 
Authority is seeking to secure improvements to existing stops through the provision of 
shelters and a RTPI system. These works can be secured through the Section 106 
Agreement at the expense of the applicant. 

 
173. The Highway Authority has identified that the traffic light junction between New Road, 

High Street and Station Road, is likely to be at capacity by 2020, but that the 
introduction of a more flexible mode of control, such as a MOVA, if correctly set up, 
will provide some additional capacity, and is considered to be a suitable mitigation for 
this development on this occasion. These works can be secured through the S106 at 
the expense of the applicant. 

 
174. The Highway Authority is also seeking a contribution from the applicant towards 

improvements to the Cambridge Road/A10, with the amount being based upon 
percentage increase in traffic at this junction likely to be generated by the 
development. 

 
175.  New cycle stands are to be provided in Melbourn village and near to the train station in 

Meldreth, and a contribution is sought for improvements towards improving footpath 
No.9 between Station Road and Meldreth Station, with the overall scheme costing 
£81,600. A contribution, proportionate to the new development, is also being sought 
towards the Cambridge Road cycle improvements scheme, and the Royston A10 
cycle scheme. 

 
176. Travel plans for the development can be secured through condition, and should relate 

to both the residential and care home elements. 
 
177. Environmental   
 
178. Landscape: 
 

Page 62



179. The proposal represents a large scale development beyond the existing south east 
edge of the village, and the site is prominently viewed when approaching the village 
along New Road from the higher land to the south. The application documentation 
recognises that the development will have an impact on the visual character of this 
part of the village. However, the site will represent and extension of an area of 
relatively modern development at the edge of the village and provides an opportunity 
to secure an increased landscape buffer. 

 
180. The illustrative masterplan shows a significant area of planting proposed along the 

south east boundary of the site. The Landscapes Officer has assessed the application 
and concluded that there are no objections on landscape grounds, subject to the 
landscape buffer being secured. The conditions suggested in paragraph 32 can be 
included in any consent. 

 
181. Ecology: 
 
182. The Ecology Officer has considered the report submitted with the application and has 

raised no objection. The proposed landscape buffer officer’s potential for significant 
ecological enhancement. Many of the points raised by the Ecology Officer can be 
dealt with during detailed discussions prior to the reserved matters submission, with 
the ecological enhancements being secured by conditions attached to the outline 
consent. 

 
183. Trees:  
 
184. The main area of the site does not contain existing trees, however there are a number 

along the north east boundary, including 3 Horse Chestnuts which are covered by a 
TPO. The application documentation proposes felling of the Horse Chestnut tree of the 
New Road frontage, as a result of the proposed emergency access to the 
development. The arboricultural report submitted with the application states that there 
is Bacterial Bleeding Canker throughout the stem, and needs to be felled. The health 
of the tree is contested by the Parish Council, with the tree being of significant local 
value. The comments of the Trees Officer will reported, but the loss of this tree should 
be prevented unless proven essential due to the issues identified in the arboricultural 
report.  

 
185. Heritage Assets: 
 
186. The proposed development does not have a direct impact on the Conservation Area, 

There are no listed buildings close to the site. 
 
187. Cambridgeshire Archaeology comments that the Heritage Statement indicates that no 

extant heritage assets of national importance will be affected by this proposed 
development, and that no new assets of equivalent status exist on site. This statement 
is accepted. It has no objections to development proceeding in this location, but 
considers that the site should be subject to a programme of archaeological 
investigation secured through the inclusion of a phased negative condition. This 
condition can be included in any consent. 

 
188. Residential Amenity: 
 
189. The construction phase of a development of this scale will have an impact on 

residential amenity. However this impact can be mitigated by the inclusion of 
conditions requiring submission of a Construction Environmental Management Plan, 
and restrictions on hours of deliveries and operation of power driven machinery.  

Page 63



 
190. Officers are confident that the impact of the residential element of the development, in 

terms of overlooking, loss of light and overbearing impact on existing properties, can 
be mitigated by appropriate layout and design at the reserved matters stage. 

 
191. Officer share the concerns about the location of the proposed care home element of 

the scheme, and this will require further consideration at the reserved matters stage to 
ensure that the proposed building, car parking areas and associated lighting do not 
result in a loss of amenity to existing adjacent properties in New Road. 

 
192.  Notwithstanding the above the development of this site will inevitably impact on 

existing residential amenity as the site is currently open agricultural land. 
 
193. Design and Layout: 
 
194. The application is in outline and there detailed design and layout are not for 

consideration at this stage. The Urban Design Officer and Design Enabling Panel were   
of the view that further improvements could be made to what was already a well 
presented scheme. These matters can be considered further prior to the submission of 
a reserved matters application. 

 
195. Officers are of the view that the illustrative scheme demonstrates that the site can 

physically accommodate the scale of development proposed. 
 
196. Surface Water Drainage: 
 
197. The site lies in Flood Zone 1.The Environment Agency has not raised an objection and 

is of the view that surface water drainage from the site will not be an issue, subject to 
suitable conditions being included in any consent. 
 

198. The local concerns relating to surface water drainage are noted, however proposed 
discharge rates for surface water drainage will be required to be the same as the 
existing rates of greenfield runoff, and a SuDS scheme will be required. The 
application indicates that the development will utilise on site infiltration and storage 
methods to ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. 
 

199. Foul Water Drainage: 
 
200. There have been concerns expressed about existing drainage problems in the village, 

albeit on the north east side. However, it is important to ensure that this development 
does not exacerbate existing problems. The results of the modelling of the existing 
system and Melbourn works will identify if any mitigation is required as a result of 
these works. Anglian Water has recognised that it is required to carry out any 
mitigation works required, and officers are of the view that these should be able to be 
secured within a timescale which will not prejudice deliverability of the scheme. 
However, as the extent of any works required are not yet known, any consent would 
be delegated, and the matter brought back to Members for further consideration if as a 
result of the findings the deliverability of the scheme was materially compromised. 

 
201. A foul water drainage scheme can be secured through a Grampian style condition. 
 
202. Energy Efficiency: 
 
203. The application is accompanied by an Energy and Sustainability Statement which 

indicates demonstrates that the proposed development will provide 20% of its required 

Page 64



energy from renewable sources, thereby exceeding the 10% development plan 
requirements. The report identifies options such as PV panels, solar thermal panels, a 
biomass boiler to serve the care home, and passive heating through building 
orientation. A scheme can be secured by condition. 
 
Contributions 
 

204. The CIL Regulation 122 states that a planning obligation may only constitute a reason 
for granting planning permission for the development if the obligation is:  

 
(i) Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
(ii) Directly related to the development; and 
(iii) Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development  
 

205. Under Regulation 123 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as 
amended in 2014); after 6th April 2015 a planning obligation may not constitute a 
reason for granting planning permission if since 6th April 2010 five or more separate 
planning obligations, that provide for the funding or provision of that project or type of 
infrastructure, have been entered into. Officers can confirm that there have not been 
more than 5 planning obligations for the village of Melbourn since 6th April 2010. 
 

206. The Section 106 Agreement is currently being discussed with the applicant but should 
include the following: 
 
Building of new classrooms and the provision of Early Years facilities at Melbourn 
Primary School, with the sums to be secured being £826,229.55 (£11,719 per pupil) 
and £417,900. 
Healthcare contribution at £140,360 
Sports space at £200,000 – a deficit in sports space has been identified for projects 
in the village.  
Indoor community space at £100,000 – a deficit has been highlighted in Melbourn, 
notwithstanding the provision of new hub. This is identified for use as part of the 
primary school project where community access for groups would be secured 
Libraries and Lifelong Learning at £13,812.19 
Household waste receptacles at £13,830.50 
Highway infrastructure contributions including Cambridge Road cycleway 
improvements £17,850, Royston A10 cycle scheme £5,640, new community 
transport vehicle £45,000, Cambridge Road/A10 junction safety scheme £21,120. 
Figures for the bus stop improvements are to be agreed once details of the scheme 
are agreed. The level of contribution to the improvements to footpath No.9 are to be 
agreed. 
 

207. Matters such as the footpath, cycleway provision and speed measures in New Road, 
and improvements to the traffic signal junction will be secured by condition. 

 
208. Having regard to the development plan and the NPPF Officers are of the view that 

these obligations are all considered necessary to make the development acceptable 
in planning terms and without this level of contribution would not be confident that the 
development could be considered sustainable. All contributions have been scrutinised 
and are considered the result as a direct consequence of the development and 
proportionate to the development.  

 
Conclusion 

 
209. In determining planning applications for new housing development where the 

Page 65



Council does not have an up-to-date 5 year housing land supply, the balancing  
exercise is weighted in favour of granting permission, unless any adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits 
when assessed against the policies of the NPPF taken as a whole. 
 

210. Paragraphs 6-9 of the NPPF indicate that ‘sustainability’ should not be interpreted 
narrowly and that the three dimensions (economic, environmental, social) of 
sustainability should be sought jointly and simultaneously. Officers are of the view 
the proposal would have a clear direct and indirect economic benefit, and offers the 
opportunity for social benefits arising through the delivery of new homes, including 
affordable houses, which contribute to the Council’s shortfall at a mix and tenure in 
conformance with the development plan, along with expanding the school, surgery 
and helping to maintain other services and facilities in the village. 
 

211. A development of this size on the edge of the village will have some environmental 
impact, such as visual intrusion into the countryside, and increased traffic 
movements through the village. It is recognised that Members are faced with a 
difficult balancing exercise. Planning law requires applications be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. Officers are of the view, that on balance, the harm arising from the 
scheme does not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the scheme 
which will deliver up to 199 dwellings, including 40% affordable, and 75 bed care 
home, along with associated jobs, and as such there are material considerations 
which justify approval. For the above reasons the application is recommended for 
delegated approval subject to completion of a S106 Agreement 

 
Recommendation 

 
212. Delegated approval, subject to the further comments of Anglian Water and to 

conditions and completion of a Section 106 Agreement. Member will be updated on 
the list of conditions prior to the committee meeting.  

 
  
Background Papers 
Where the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 require documents to be open to inspection by members of the 
public, they must be available for inspection: -  
(a) at all reasonable hours at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council;  
(b) on the Council’s website; and  
(c) in the case of documents to be available for inspection pursuant to regulation 15, on 

payment of a reasonable fee required by the Council by the person seeking to inspect 
the documents at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council.  

 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or an 
indication as to where hard copies can be inspected.  
 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Development Control Policies 

DPD 2007 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Plan Proposed Submission July 2013 
• South Cambridgeshire Supplementary Planning Documents 
• National Planning Policy Framework 2012 
• Planning File References: S/2791/14/OL 
 
Report Author:  Paul Sexton – Principal Planning Officer 

Telephone: (01954) 713255 

Page 66



 
 
 
 

Page 67



Page 68

This page is left blank intentionally.



LB
TCB

13

17
a

1a

7A

12
a

15
a

13
27

17

9

11
5

7

VI
CT

O
RI

A
W

AY
3

2

12

1

6

2

Pryo
r's

Gardens

6

4
3

1

East

West
Barn

Barn

Cemetery

8
7

5

41

24

21

16

32

9

W
A

Y
W

O
R

C
E

S
T

E
R

1

70

61

65

57

1

67

CLOSE

2

2

HINKINS

8

14

32

25

29

31

27

32

Southwell Court

52
22

78

72
74

11

73

6

31

2

8

32

22

35

41

51

60

R
U

S
S

E
T

36

34

3

15

W
A

Y 17

21

23

50
48

El Sub
Sta

3

30a
28a

28

30

26

16

80

116

12
70

D
R

U
R

Y
LA

N
E

5

15

21

11

29

2

1

2918

2

1

O
G

D
EN

C
LO

SE

25

20

10

2

64

66

41

43

9

77a

7c

1

11

O
R

C
H

AR
D

W
AY

1

16

5

6

1
Trayles

4a

4

3 14

31

72

62

17

32

40.2m

60

NEW
RO

AD

42.4m

28.9m

41

45

26

31

40

42

CLEAR
CRESCENT

42a

54

CARLT
ON

RISE

1

12

28

LB

15

36

2

82

18
a

18
b

20

El

Sub Sta

NEW
RO

AD

109

18

27.7m

8 19

7

14

12

28

29

59

AVENUE

BEECHWOOD

48

60

70

22

63

87

75

97

36a

11

36c

42

13

21
20

Hall

15

12

FO
RDHAM

W
AY

22

1

17

18

56

2

4

58

1

JO
H

N

48

29

7

IMPEY WAY

8

TR
IG

G
W

AY

27

1

26

2

12

68

El Sub Sta

39

1

El Sub
Sta

37

2

35

HAG
G

ER'S
CLO

SE

MEDCALFE WAY

10

11a

37

7a

7

2

8

10

2

PALM
ERS

W
AY

9

17

15

1

13

27

18

20

41

1

11

23

38

36

G
A

R
D

E
N

E
N

D

1

8

14

5

1

2

27

25

Ground

13

24

24
b

Poo
l

24

24
a

Surgery

Lych Gate

24

4

Melbourn
1

ORCHARD
ROAD

Chy

31a

31

29

14

PRIM
E

CL

M
EDCALFE

W
AY

31

32

21

28

34a

34

Primary School

33

5

1

37

The

Beeches

1
to

15

Health

Centre

25.6m

2

18

104

30

50

24

28

102

40

23

14

90

20

43

11

18

14

16
14

2

27a

29a

29

27

19b

35

D
R

IV
E

7

1

SPEN
C

ER

M
EADO

W
W

AY

23
a

17

11

2

19

22

1

12

22

11

15

BEETON

CLOSE
40

55

50

45

CLOSE

16

111

29

58

36 29

31

20

7

17

56

GREENGAGE RISE

24

6

60

59

ELM
W

AY

13

4

14

26

1

37

27

29

39

40

El Sub Sta

49

Ppg Sta

6

4

Orchard
Surgery

3

Cawdon Row

22

1

68

63

6 1

2

31

10

ORCHARD

1

12

2

CEDAR

14

16

37

Orchard

36

43

House

Swim
ming

BAR

12

12

31

25

20

N
O

R
G

ETT'S
LAN

E

3

1

5 4a

5

3

1a

8

4

PH

29

4

35

33

1

1b

18
24

26

Pol
Sta

2

Car Park

22.7m

1

7

15

5

19a

2

31

2a

BRAMLEY AVENUE

Track

East Farm

27
a

3

4

Churc
h

Playground

Burial

Melbourn

Planning Dept - South Cambridgeshire DC

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
Scale - 1:5000
Time of plot: 16:28 Date of plot: 21/05/2015

0 1 2 3 4 5 600m

© Crown copyright.

Page 69



Page 70

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 03 June 2015 
AUTHOR/S: Planning and New Communities Director  

 
 
 
Application Number: S/0070/15/FL 
  
Parish(es): Melbourn 
  
Proposal: Erection of a single dwelling and access 

following demolition of extension and 
garage associated with 40 Medcalfe Way 

  
Site address: 40 Medcalfe Way, Melbourn, SG8 6HU  
  
Applicant(s): Mr A De Simone  
  
Recommendation: Approval  
  
Key material considerations: Principle and density of development 

Residential amenity 
Character of the surrounding area 
Highway safety and parking 
 

  
Committee Site Visit: No 
  
Departure Application: No 
  
Presenting Officer: David Thompson 
  
Application brought to Committee because: The recommendation of Melbourn Parish 

Council conflicts with the Officer’s 
recommendation of approval.  

  
Date by which decision due: 3 March 2015 
 

1. Planning History 
  

2. S/0863/90/F – extension to dwelling at 40 Medcalfe Way – refused and appeal 
dismissed 
 

3. SC/0135/52 – erection of dwelling - refused 
 
 
      4. Planning Policies 
 
 

5. National  
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) 

Agenda Item 7

Page 71



 
6. Local Development Core Strategy 2007: 

ST/5 Minor Rural Centres 
 

7. South Cambridgeshire LDF Development Control Policies DPD, 2007: 
DP/1 Sustainable Development 
DP/2 Design of new development 
DP/3 Development Criteria 
DP/4 Infrastructure and New Developments 
HG/1 Housing Density 
NE/1 Energy Efficiency 
NE/6 Biodiversity 
NE/9 Water and drainage infrastructure 
NE/10 Foul Drainage  
SF/10 Outdoor Playspace, informal open space and new development 
SF/11 Open Space standards 
TR/1 Planning for more sustainable travel 
TR/2 Parking Standards  
 

8. South Cambridgeshire LDF Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD): 
District Design Guide 

 
9. Proposed Submission Local Plan  

S/1 Vision 
S/2 Objectives of the Local Plan 
S/3 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
S/9 Minor Rural Centres 
HQ/1 Design Principles 
NH/4 Biodiversity 
H/7 Housing Density 
H/11 Residential space standards for market housing 
TI/2 Planning for sustainable travel 
TI/3 Parking provision 
SC/7 Outdoor play space, informal open space and new development 
SC/8 Open space standards 
 
Consultations 
 

10. Melbourn Parish Council – object to the proposal for the following reasons: 
 

- The proposal would represent overdevelopment of the site 
- The development would not respect the character of the surrounding area 
- Lack of parking provision also needs to be considered 

      11. Local Highway Authority – no objection subject to conditions 
 

12. District Council Environmental Health Officer (EHO) – no objections subject to 
conditions 

 
Representations 
 

13. No representations received  
 

 

Page 72



Planning Comments 
 

14. The application site is land within the curtilage of no. 40 Medcalfe Way in Melbourn. 
The property is one of a pair of semi-detached properties in a residential area which 
is characterised by properties of a similar size, arranged in a mixture of short terraces 
and semi-detached dwellings. There is an existing garage to the rear of the dwelling, 
with the access to this running to the west of the dwelling.    

 
15. The applicant seeks full planning permission for the erection of a dwellinghouse to be 

adjoined to the eastern elevation of the existing property at no. 40. The existing 
garage and the single storey extension on the side elevation of no. 40 would be 
demolished as part of the scheme.  
 
Principle of Development 
 

16. The NPPF advises that every effort should be made to identify and then meet the 
housing needs of an area, and respond positively to wider opportunities for growth. 
Additionally the Development Plan (Core Strategy Development Plan Document 
adopted January 2007 and Development Control Policies Development Plan adopted 
January 2007) identifies Melbourn as a Minor Rural Centre where the construction of 
new residential dwellings within the framework is supported.   

 
17. The site is within the Melbourn development framework. The proposed development 

would have been acceptable in principle having regard to adopted LDF and emerging 
Local Plan policies, had policies ST/5 and DP/7 not become out of date as a 
consequence of the Council not currently being able to demonstrate a five-year 
supply of deliverable housing sites. 
 

18. The application site areas is 0.45 hectares and so the erection of an additional 
dwelling on the site would be in excess of 40 dwellings per hectare and given that the 
plot layout in the surrounding area is relatively high density, this is considered to be 
acceptable in this instance.      

 
Residential amenity  
 

19. The gable elevation of the proposed dwelling adjacent to the boundary with no. 42 
would be 13 metres from the corresponding side elevation of that property. The 
oblique relationship between the properties, the extent of the separation distance to 
be retained and the fact that the gable elevation of the proposed dwelling would be 
blank are factors which are considered to ensure that the development would not 
have an adverse impact on the amenity of that neighbouring property.  

 
20. A separation distance of 20 metres would be retained to the side elevation of no. 1 

Medcalfe Way to the south west of the site. Given the oblique angle to be retained 
and the fact that the rear building line of the proposed property would not extend 
beyond that of 38 and 40, it is considered that the proposed development would not 
allow unreasonable overlooking into or overshadowing of the property at no. 1. 

 
21. In relation to the existing property at no.40, the single storey element at the rear of 

the proposed dwelling has been reduced in projection by 1 metre, to ensure that there 
would not be any unreasonable overshadowing of the ground floor window on the 
rear elevation of that neighbouring property. 

  
22. There would be no adverse impact on the residential amenity of any of the other 

neighbouring properties.      

Page 73



Character of the surrounding area 
 

23. The Parish Council have commented that the proposal would result in 
overdevelopment of the plot and would be contrary to the character of the locality. It is 
the case that the existing property is one of a pair of semi-detached dwellings, as are 
the properties to the north on the opposite side of the road and to the east. 
Nevertheless, there is a row of terraced properties to the north west (17-23 Medcalfe 
Way) and to the south west (1-7 Medcalfe Way). 

 
24. Within this context, given that the proposal would respect the front and rear building 

lines of the existing properties at 38 and 40, it is considered that the development 
would not be out of character with the surrounding area, given the variation in building 
types evident within the street scene. By matching the height and proportions of the 
existing pair of properties, it is considered that the scheme would not result in 
overdevelopment of the plot and would not have an overbearing impact on the 
character of the street scene.      

 
Highway safety and parking 
 

25. The proposal would result in the loss of the garage that currently serves no. 40. The 
scheme would make provision for one on-site parking space per dwelling. In terms of 
the introduction of an additional driveway on the street, the Highway Authority has 
raised no objection to the proposals. Given that a number of properties on the 
opposite side of Medcalfe Way have parking spaces in front of the dwelling, it is 
considered that the proposed on-site parking arrangements would not be detrimental 
to the visual amenity of the surrounding area.      

 
26. The Parish Council has raised the issue of parking capacity in the area and the need 

to avoid a detrimental impact in this regard. The proposal would provide one parking 
space per dwelling. This is below the average parking requirement of 1.5 spaces per 
dwelling across the district stipulated in the Development Control Policies DPD.  
 

27. However, policy TR/2 states that in more sustainable locations, lower levels of 
parking provision will be sought. Melbourn is classified as a Minor Rural Centre and 
the site is 0.5 miles from High Street, where a number of shops and facilities and 
public transport links to Cambridge and Royston exist. Given this situation and the 
fact that a number of the existing dwellings on Medcalfe Way have similar parking 
arrangements to those proposed in this development, it is considered that the 
proposal does meet the requirements of local plan policy in this regard.    

 
Other matters 
 

28. The Environmental Health Officer has raised no objections to the proposed 
development, subject to conditions being imposed in relation to restricting noise 
during construction which can be attached to the decision notice.  

 
29. The proposal would result in the loss of an existing hedgerow at the front of the 

property. Given that there are a range of front boundary treatments evident on the 
street scene, including close boarded, post and wire fencing and hedges of various 
species, it is considered that the removal of the hedge would not harm the character 
of the area on the basis that a suitable replacement boundary treatment is secured. 
This, along with details of proposed landscape planting can be secured by condition.  

 
30. Following the revision to the NPPG in November 2014, developments of 10 dwellings 

or less are no longer subject to the requirement to pay ‘tariff based’ contributions 

Page 74



through section 106 agreements. In this case therefore, no off-site open space or 
infrastructure provision can be secured, despite this being a requirement of the 
adopted policies within the LDF.   

  
Conclusion 

 
31. The proposed development is considered to respect the character of the surrounding 

area in terms of scale, density and design, given the variety of property types 
available within the street scene. The proposal would result in a loss of one on-site 
parking space serving no 40 and only one space is to be provided for the new 
dwelling. Given the sustainable location of the site in terms of connectivity to facilities 
and local transport, this arrangement is considered to comply with policy. The 
Highway Authority and the Environmental Health Officer have not raised any 
objections to the proposals.  
 

32. Any adverse impacts of the development are not considered to significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the material 
considerations set out in this report, and the development remains acceptable 
 
Recommendation 

   
33. Approval subject to the following:  

 
Conditions  

   
a) Time limit 
b) Approved plans 
c) Details of construction materials 
d) Details of boundary treatments to be submitted and agreed 
e) Landscaping scheme 
f) Landscaping maintenance 
g) Car parking spaces to be laid out prior to occupation and retained free from 

obstruction 
h) Details of driveway construction 
i) Pedestrian visibility splays to remain free from obstruction  
j) Removal of permitted development rights for extensions and alterations (including 

front boundary treatments) 
k) Control of noise during construction 
l) Management of traffic and material storage during construction phase 
m) Surface water drainage details 
n) Foul water drainage details  
  

Background Papers 
Where the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 require documents to be open to inspection by members of the 
public, they must be available for inspection: -  
(a) at all reasonable hours at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council;  
(b) on the Council’s website; and  
(c) in the case of documents to be available for inspection pursuant to regulation 15, on 

payment of a reasonable fee required by the Council by the person seeking to inspect 
the documents at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council.  

 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or an 
indication as to where hard copies can be inspected.  
 

Page 75



• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Core Strategy DPD 2007 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Development Control Policies 

DPD 2007 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Supplementary Planning 

Documents 
• Proposed Local Plan  
• National Planning Policy Framework 2012 
 
Report Author:  David Thompson – Principal Planning Officer 

Telephone: (01954) 713250 
 
 

Page 76



LB
TC

O
R

C
H

AR
D

W
AY

13

21
20

Hall

12

1

17

18
56

2
4

JO
H

N

48
29

7

IM
PEY WAY

8

27

1

6

39

1

El Sub
Sta 37

2

35

H
AG

G
ER

'S
C

LO
SE

MEDCALFE WAY

7a

7

2

8

10

2

PALM
ER

S
W

AY
9

17

1

18

20

1

11

23

38

36

1

8

14

5

1

Ground

13

24

Lych Gate

24

14

EDCALFE
W

AY

23

14

W
AY

23
a

2

19

2a

Burial

Planning Dept - South Cambridgeshire DC

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
Scale - 1:1250
Time of plot: 12:34 Date of plot: 21/05/2015

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 150m

© Crown copyright.

Page 77



Page 78

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 3 June 2015  
AUTHOR/S: Planning and New Communities Director  

 
 
 
Application Number: S/1013/15/FL 
  
Parish(es): Cottenham 
  
Proposal: Extension to Local Authority Depot to 

provide Additional Secure Vehicle Parking 
Area and Open Storage and Extension to 
Existing Office/ Welfare Building 

  
Site address: Cambridge Waste Management Park, Ely 

Road, Waterbeach 
  
Applicant(s): Alboro Development Limited 
  
Recommendation: Approval 
  
Key material considerations: Countryside 

Highway Safety 
Biodiversity 
Flood Risk 

  
Committee Site Visit: No. 
  
Departure Application: Yes 
  
Presenting Officer: Karen Pell-Coggins 
  
Application brought to Committee because: The District Council rents the site from the 

applicants. 
  
Date by which decision due: 14 July 2014 
  
 

Planning History 
 
1. S/1306/12/FL - Local Authority Depot including Secure Compound for Vehicle 

Parking Area with Associated Open Storage and Office Building - Approved 
  

Planning Policies 
 
2. National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2012 
 
3. South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework (LDF) Development 

Control Policies DPD, adopted July 2007      
DP/1 Sustainable Development 
DP/2 Design of New Development 

Agenda Item 8

Page 79



DP/3 Development Criteria 
DP/7 Development Frameworks 
ET/5 Development for the Expansion of Firms 
NE/4 Landscape Character Areas 
NE/6 Biodiversity 
NE/7 Sites of Biodiversity or Geological Importance 
NE/11 Flood Risk 
NE/14 Lighting Proposals 
NE/15 Noise Pollution 
CH/2 Archaeological Sites 
TR/1 Planning for More Sustainable Travel 

 TR/2 Car and Cycle Parking Standards 
TR/3 Mitigating Travel Impact 

 
4.  Submission Local Plan (March 2014)  

S/3 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
S/7 Development Frameworks 
E/16 Expansion of Existing Businesses in the Countryside 
HQ/1 Design Principles 
NH/2 Protecting and Enhancing Landscape Character 
NH/4 Biodiversity 
NH/5 Sites of Biodiversity or Geological Importance 
NH/14 Heritage Assets 
CC/9 Managing Flood Risk 
SC/10 Lighting Proposals  
SC/11 Noise Pollution  
SC/12 Contaminated Land 
TI/2 Planning for Sustainable Travel  
TI/3 Parking Provision  

 
5. South Cambridgeshire LDF Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD): 

Landscape in New Developments SPD - Adopted March 2010  
Biodiversity SPD - Adopted July 2009 
District Design Guide SPD - Adopted March 2010 

 
6. Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy DPD 2011 
 CS26 Mineral Safeguarding Areas 
 
7. Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Site Specific Policies 

DPD 2012 
 M1A Cottenham (Sand and Gravel) 

W1K Waterbeach (Waste Management Park)  
W2B Cottenham (Landfill Site) 

 
Consultations  

  
8. Cottenham Parish Council - Comments are awaited.  
  
9. Landbeach Parish Council - Has no objections.  
 
10. Waterbeach Parish Council - Comments are awaited.  
 
11. Local Highways Authority - Comments that the proposal would not have a 

significant impact upon the public highway provided a condition is attached to any 
consent to secure on-site parking and turning. 

Page 80



 
12. County Council Transport Assessment Team - Requests further information in 

relation to existing traffic movements and proposed trip generation details including 
modes of travel and times of arrival and departure from the site, capacity 
assessments of the roundabout and junction on the A10, levels of vehicle parking on 
the site and alternative means of travel to the site to be able to fully assess the 
transport impact of the development.   

 
13. Historic England - Has no objections due to the bund screening and comments that 

the development is an area subject to development, quarrying and landscaping and 
the development is unlikely to have an adverse impact upon the significance of the 
Scheduled Ancient Monument.    

    
14. County Council Historic Environment Team - Has no objections and comments 

that archaeological works are not necessary as the development would be located on 
previously disturbed ground and it is unlikely that significant archaeological features 
will survive.  

 
15. Environment Agency - Comments are awaited. 
 
16. Waterbeach Level Internal Drainage Board - Comments are awaited. 
 
17. Land Drainage Manager - Comments are awaited.  
 
18. Contaminated Land Officer - Has no objections but recommends a condition in 

relation to a contamination investigation due to the previous use of the site for landfill 
and factory works.     

 
19. Environmental Health Officer - Has no objections.  
 
20. Ecology Officer - Comments that the site is adjacent to an area that holds a Great 

Crested Newt population. However, a permanent amphibian fence has been erected 
to prevent animals from coming to harm within the wider area. Subject to to the fence 
being retained and in a good condition, there is no reason to disagree with the 
ecology report submitted with the application. Welcomes the meadow planting and 
the specific seed mix that was previously agreed but is concerned that  

 
21. Landscape Design Officer - Comments that the proposed development would not 

have a detrimental impact upon the landscape character, views and visual receptors. 
However, the proposed meadow planting enhancement measures are insufficient due 
to the proximity to the adjacent woodland. Suggests alternative landscape measures 
such as trees to expand the network of semi-natural habitats as a condition of any 
consent.     

 
22. Trees and Landscapes Officer - Comments that the trees within the adjacent 

County Wildlife Site would not be affected by the floodlighting.  
 
23. County Council Minerals and Waste Team - Comments are awaited.  
 

Representations 
 
24. None received.  

 
Planning Comments 

 

Page 81



25. The key issues to consider in the determination of this application relate to the 
principle of the development and the impacts of the development upon the character 
and appearance of the countryside, highway safety, contamination, drainage, flood 
risk, ecology, landscaping and archaeology.  
 
Site and Surroundings 

 
26. The site is located on the southern section of the Cambridge Waste Management 

Park that is situated outside of any village framework and within the countryside.  It 
lies the north west of the A10 (Cambridge to Ely Road) and former Dickerson 
Industrial Estate, north of the Cambridge Research Park and villages of Waterbeach 
and Landbeach, east of the village of Cottenham and south west of the hamlet of 
Chittering.  
 

27. The site measures approximately 1 hectare in area and currently comprises the 
existing District Council Environmental Services depot. It consists of a hard surfaced 
compound for the parking of refuse vehicles and open storage for associated plant 
and equipment along with a single storey office/welfare building and staff parking 
spaces. A 2.4 high metal palisade fence bounds the site. Six floodlights are situated 
on the perimeter. Access to the site is via the Amey Cespa roundabout on the A10 to 
the north for heavy vehicles and via the internal access road through the industrial 
estate to the east for light vehicles. The hours of operation are 06.00 to 18.00 
Mondays to Saturdays.   

 
28. The site is situated within Flood Zone 1 (low risk) and 2 (medium risk). A number of 

watercourses and water bodies surround the site. The Car Dyke Scheduled Ancient 
Monument is situated in close proximity to the west of the site and the Beach Ditch 
and Landbeach Pitts Willow Wood County Wildlife Sites are situated in close 
proximity to the south and south west of the site.  

 
Proposal 
 

29. This full planning application, received on 14 April 2014, proposes the extension of 
the existing District Council depot to accommodate the City Council Council’s refuse 
vehicles to provide a shared waste service to serve both administrative areas within a 
single management team.  
 

30. The plans seek an extension of 3500 square metres to the hard surfaced compound 
to provide an additional 20 parking spaces for refuse vehicles, 76 parking spaces for 
employees vehicles and an open storage area for equipment. The plans also include 
an extension of 95 square metres to the southern side of the existing office/welfare 
building to provide improved facilities for the additional drivers and crew, the 
repositioning of the existing boundary fence to enclose the new compound and the 
repositioning of one flood light and erection of two new floodlights to the new 
boundary. The access arrangements would remain as existing.    

 
Principle of Development 

 
31. The site is located outside of any village framework and in the countryside. It does not 

fall within an Established Employment Area in the Countryside and the proposed use 
is not related to agriculture, horticulture, forestry, outdoor recreation or other uses 
which need to be located in the countryside. The development would therefore be 
contrary to Policy DP/7 of the adopted LDF and Policy S/8 of the emerging Local 
Plan.  

 

Page 82



32. The development would represent the consolidation of a non-conforming use in terms 
of its location in the countryside a significant distance away from existing settlements. 
The development would not therefore comply with Policy ET/5 of the adopted LDF.  

 
33. However, the proposal would comprise the expansion of an existing firm that has 

been in the Cambridge area for a significant period of time with a viable business, the 
user is named, the development is of scale appropriate to its location, there would be 
no adverse impact upon the character and appearance of the countryside and there 
would not be a significant increase in the amount or different nature of traffic 
generated. The development therefore meets the tests of Policy E/16 of the emerging 
Local Plan.   

 
34. Two representations that support the emerging policy and two representations that 

object to the emerging policy have been received. The support for the policy is 
because it offers appropriate encouragement for the sustainable growth of existing 
businesses in rural areas. The objections to the policy is because it is weaker than 
the existing due to the original operation of the business for 5 years being reduced to 
2 years and the removal of the restriction on the scales of development.  

 
35. Given the current stage of the emerging Local Plan, the limited number and nature of 

the objections received in relation to this emerging policy and the good degree of 
consistency with the NPPF, some weight can be attached to Policy E/16.  

 
36. Paragraph 28 of the NPPF supports economic growth in rural areas in order to create 

jobs and prosperity by taking a positive approach to sustainable new development.  It 
states that local plans should support the sustainable growth and expansion of all 
types of business and enterprise in rural areas, both through conversion of existing 
buildings and well designed new buildings.  

 
37. The proposal would result in a shared refuse service between South Cambridgeshire 

District Council and Cambridge City Council. This would have significant financial 
benefits and operational benefits in the form of more efficient waste collection rounds 
that would reduce HGV miles and heavy traffic associated with the existing City 
Council depot in Mill Road being relocated away from the city centre so that all 
journeys would begin and end at the Cambridge Waste Management Park.  
 

38. Due to the emerging Local Plan policy and NPPF being material considerations in the 
decision making process, that the adopted policy is out of date and the special 
circumstances above, no objections are therefore raised to the principle of the 
development. The application has been advertised as a departure.   

 
Character and Appearance of the Countryside  

 
39. Whilst it is acknowledged that the development would result in some loss of openness 

and rural character, this would have a minimal impact upon the landscape charcater 
of the area as the site is located within an existing industrial complex that is not visible 
from any public viewpoints surrounding the site. The development is not therefore 
considered to adversely affect the character and appearance of the countryside.  
 
Setting of Scheduled Ancient Monument and Archaeology 

 
40. The development would be located 200 metres to the east of the Car Dyke 

Scheduled Ancient Monument. As a result of the existing industrial complex and bund 
that screens the monument from the site, the development is not considered to 

Page 83



damage the setting of this designated historic asset. The proposal would not harm 
any significant features of archaeological interest. 

 
Highway Safety 

 
41. The Transport Assessment submitted with the application states that the proposal 

would not result in an increase in traffic generation from heavy vehicles accessing the 
site via the roundabout on the A10 as this already exists due to Cambridge City 
Council’s refuse vehicles disposing of the waste collected upon the rounds at the 
Cambridge Waste Management Park before returning to the existing city depot for 
overnight storage. The only change would be the times of access to the Cambridge 
Waste Management Park which would alter from entry and exit in the afternoon to 
exit in the morning and entry in the afternoon. Further information is required to be 
able to make an assessment of the impact upon highway safety and the comments of 
the County Council Transport Assessment Team would be sought.    

 
42.   The proposal would, however, result in an increase in traffic generation from light 

vehicles accessing the site via the internal access road through the former Dickerson 
Industrial Estate and on to the A10 as a number of additional employees would be 
based at the depot. This would lead to additional traffic entering the site in the 
morning and exiting the site in the afternoon. Further information is required to be 
able to make an evaluation of the impact upon highway safety and the comments of 
the County Council Transport Assessment Team would be sought.     

     
Parking 

 
43. The depot currently has 134 employees and 74 vehicle parking spaces. The proposal 

would result in an additional 60 employees and 79 parking spaces. This would lead to 
a total of 194 employees and 149 parking spaces. Further information is required on 
the need for this level of vehicle parking on site and the comments of the County 
Council Transport Assessment Team would be sought.     

 
44. The Cambridge City Council Employee Travel Plan 2008 has been submitted with the 

application to demonstrate that there is a package of measures in place to promote 
sustainable travel and decrease the method of travel by the private motor vehicle. 
However, it is not up-to-date and is not relevant to this application as it references 
sites in the city. Further information is required to make an evaluation on the 
alternative modes of transport available and the comments of the County Council 
Transport Assessment Team would be sought. A condition would need to be attached 
to any consent to secure a full travel plan related to this particular site.     

 
Ecology 

 
45. The development would not adversely affect nearby habitats for protected species 

such as Great Crested Newts due to the presence of an amphibian fence. The 
provision of meadow planting would enhance the biodiversity of the site.   

 
Trees and Landscaping  

 
46. The proposal would not result in the loss of any trees or landscaping that is important 

to the visual amenity of the area or the features of the adjacent County Wildlife Site. 
However, biodiversity enhancement measures above meadow planting are required 
to expand the range of semi-natural habitats on the site. This would be a condition of 
any consent.  

 

Page 84



Flood Risk and Drainage 
 
47. The site lies within Flood Zone 1 (low risk). The Flood Risk Assessment submitted 

with the application states site levels would be above the 1 in 100 year flood level 
plus climate change and that that surface water would be discharged to the existing 
water treatment lagoon that has adequate capacity for the storage of run off. 
However, comments from the Environment Agency and Drainage Board are awaited 
to determine the impact of the development upon flood risk and drainage.   

 
Contamination 

   
48. An investigation into contamination is required as a result of the previous use of the 

site to ensure that the development would not cause a risk to human health or 
groundwater. This would be a condition of any consent unless the information is 
submitted prior to the determination of the application and agreed by the 
Contaminated Land Officer and Environment Agency.   

 
Other Matters 

 
49. The site lies close to allocated mineral and waste sites. The comments of the County 

Council Planning Team are awaited to determine the impact of the development upon 
these areas.  

 
50. The development is not considered to harm the amenities of neighbours given the 

surrounding land uses.  
 
 Recommendation 
 
51. It is recommended that the planning committee grant officer delegated powers to 

approve the application subject to the outstanding comments and any conditions 
required by statutory consultees together with the following conditions: -  

 
a) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 

years from the date of this permission.  
(Reason - To ensure that consideration of any future application for 
development in the area will not be prejudiced by permissions for 
development, which have not been acted upon.) 

 
b) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: - Drawing numbers CP/ADL/WCVC/01, 15:021-2 
Revision C, 15:021-4 Revision A and 15:021-5.    
(Reason - To facilitate any future application to the Local Planning Authority 
under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
c) No development shall be occupied until full details of soft landscape works 

have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These details shall include indications of all existing trees and 
hedgerows on the land and details of any to be retained, together with 
measures for their protection in the course of development. The details shall 
also include specification of all proposed trees, hedges and shrub planting, 
which shall include details of species, density and size of stock.  
(Reason - To ensure the development is satisfactorily assimilated into the 
area and enhances biodiversity in accordance with Policies DP/2 and NE/6 of 
the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.) 

 

Page 85



d) All soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of 
the development or in accordance with a programme agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority. If within a period of five years from the date of the 
planting, or replacement planting, any tree or plant is removed, uprooted or 
destroyed or dies, another tree or plant of the same species and size as that 
originally planted shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local 
Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation.  
(Reason - To ensure the development is satisfactorily assimilated into the 
area and enhances biodiversity in accordance with Policies DP/2 and NE/6 of 
the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.) 
 

e) No development approved by this permission shall be commenced, unless 
otherwise agreed, until: 

i) The application site has been subject to a detailed scheme for the 
investigation and recording of contamination and remediation 
objectives have been determined through risk assessment and agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

ii) Detailed proposals for the removal, containment or otherwise 
rendering harmless any contamination (the Remediation method 
statement) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

iii) The works specified in the remediation method statement have been 
completed, and a Verification report submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, in accordance with the 
approved scheme. 

iv) If, during remediation works, any contamination is identified that has 
not been considered in the remediation method statement, then 
remediation proposals for this material should be agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 

v) The application site has been subject to an appropriate scheme for the 
investigation and monitoring of ground gas. 

vi) Where required, detailed proposals for the mitigation or otherwise 
rendering harmless of any ground gas have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

(Reason - To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of 
the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with Policy DP/1 of the 
adopted Local Development Framework 2007.) 

 
f) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a full Travel 

Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details.  
(Reason - To reduce car dependency and to promote alternative modes of 
travel in accordance with Policy TR/3 of the adopted Local Development 
Framework 2007.) 

 
 
Background Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of this 
report:  
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Development Control Policies 

DPD 2007 

Page 86



• South Cambridgeshire Local Plan Submission March 2014 
• South Cambridgeshire Supplementary Planning Documents 
• Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy DPD 2011 
• Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Site Specific Proposals 2012 
• National Planning Policy Framework 2012 
• Planning File References S/1013/15/FL and S/1306/12/FL 
 
Case Officer: Karen Pell-Coggins- Principal Planning Officer 

Telephone: (01954) 713230 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 87



Page 88

This page is left blank intentionally.



8

223 Co9
10

1a 1

225

222

11.1m

Hall

18
2

185

18
0 171

217

B
1049

El

Sub Sta

21
6

221
219

7

B
1049

PH
Garage

209

1

C

CURRIN
GTONS

2

19
4

196LORDSHIP LANE

193

33

35

7

1

6

5
26

3
4

C
LO

S
E 2

32

29

25

1

15 5

CROW
LANDS

7

Club

6

S
TR

E
E

T
4

2

THE
HERONS

1

17

12

6

13

43

27

17a

23

9

17

24

25
13

19

GOODE

Lam
bs

Row

18

9 1

16

12

30

35

9

43

43a

41b

30a

197

H
IG

H

18
8

B
10

49

GVC

Su
rg

er
y

Posts

22
0a

Bea

20
4

House
The Cotton

FRANKLIN
G

ARDENS

Scale - 1:1250
Time of plot: 15:11 Date of plot: 20/05/2015

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 150m

© Crown copyright.

Page 89



Page 90

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 03 June 2015 
AUTHOR/S: Planning and New Communities Director  

 
 
 
Application Number: S/0152/15/FL 
  
Parish(es): Great Shelford 
  
Proposal: Demolition of existing dwelling and 

erection of replacement dwellinghouse 
  
Site address: 1 Mingle Lane, Great Shelford, 

Cambridgeshire CB22 5 BG  
  
Applicant(s): Mr Haslam and Dr. Hussain 
  
Recommendation: Approval subject to conditions 
  
Key material considerations: Principle of development 

Residential amenity 
Character of the surrounding area 
Highway safety and parking 
TPO Tree 
 

  
Committee Site Visit: Yes 
  
Departure Application: No 
  
Presenting Officer: David Thompson 
  
Application brought to Committee because: The recommendation of Great Shelford 

Parish Council conflicts with the Officer’s 
recommendation of approval.  

  
Date by which decision due: 12/03/2015 
 

1. Planning History 
  

2. C/0792/61 – Full planning permission for the erection of a two storey side extension 
to form a garage and w/c at ground floor level and 2 bedrooms at first floor level - 
approved 

 
      3. Planning Policies 
  

4. National  
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) 

 
5. Local Development Core Strategy 2007: 

Agenda Item 9

Page 91



ST/4 Rural Centres 
 

6. South Cambridgeshire LDF Development Control Policies DPD, 2007: 
DP/1 Sustainable Development 
DP/2 Design of new development 
DP/3 Development Criteria 
DP/4 Infrastructure and New Developments 
NE/1 Energy Efficiency 
NE/6 Biodiversity 
NE/9 Water and drainage infrastructure 
NE/10 Foul Drainage  
SF/10 Outdoor Playspace, informal open space and new development 
SF/11 Open Space standards 
TR/1 Planning for more sustainable travel 
TR/2 Parking Standards  
 

7. South Cambridgeshire LDF Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD): 
Trees and Development Sites 
District Design Guide 

 
8. Proposed Submission Local Plan  

S/1 Vision 
S/2 Objectives of the Local Plan 
S/3 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
S/8 Rural Centres 
HQ/1 Design Principles 
NH/4 Biodiversity 
H/7 Housing Density 
H/11 Residential space standards for market housing 
TI/2 Planning for sustainable travel 
TI/3 Parking provision 
SC/7 Outdoor play space, informal open space and new development 
SC/8 Open space standards 
 

 
9. Consultations 
 

Great Shelford Parish Council – object to the proposal (both original and amended 
schemes) for the following reasons: 

 
- The revised scheme would still result in a detrimental impact on the outlook from 

the sitting room window of the neighbouring property at 1A Mingle Lane.  
 

In relation to the original proposals, the Parish Council’s comments were as follows: 
 
- The two storey rear element of the proposed house will dominate, overshadow 

and cut out light to the windows at ground and first floor level on the south eastern 
side of 1B and to the rear conservatory of that property, which is not shown on the 
submitted block plan. 

- The location of the rear building line of the proposed house is contrary to pre-
application advice given by the planning officer. The proposal is contrary to policy 
DP/3 of the Local Plan and advice given on daylight and sunlight in the District 
Design Guide SPD. 

Page 92



- The location of the proposed driveway will have an intrusive impact on the 
occupants of no. 3 Mingle Lane and would therefore be detrimental to the 
residential amenity of that property.  

- The location of the garage proposed to the rear of the property would result in 
harm to the residential amenity of no.1B Mingle Lane through the 
noise/disturbance generated by traffic movements.   

Highway Authority – no objection subject to conditions relating to the provision of 
pedestrian visibility splays from the relocated access, the construction of the new 
driveway and the management of traffic and the storage of materials during the 
construction process.  

 
District Council Environmental Health Officer (EHO) – no objections subject to 
standard conditions relating to the construction process.  
 
District Council Tree Officer – No objections subject to compliance with the ‘no dig’ 
method for laying the paving at the front of the property and the installation of the 
protective fencing as specified in the Tree Survey submitted with the planning 
application.   

 
10. Representations 

 
Objections from the properties at 1B and 5 Mingle Lane have been received in 
response to the amended plans. The following concerns were raised: 
 
- The proposed access running down the side of the property with parking and 

garaging at the rear would create possible access for future development at the 
rear of the site which would not be supported 

- The relocation of the driveway (to the eastern side of the site) would result in 
noise and exhaust pollution to the neighbouring properties   

- The large window on the eastern elevation has been retained in the revised plans 
– this is considered to be an unreasonable invasion of privacy 

- The revised plans do not address the concern with the original scheme in that the 
window in the sitting room of 1B which faces the common boundary with the 
application site will still be overshadowed as the two storey development would 
block light to that window.  

 
Objections were received from no.s 1B, 3 and 5 Mingle Lane in relation to the original 
proposals. The following concerns were raised (in addition to those raised in relation 
to the amended scheme): 
 
- The first floor terrace proposed at the rear would overlook the gardens of the 

neighbouring properties to the east (3 and 5 Mingle Lane) 
- There is a legal covenant on the land in the rear portion of the site which restricts 

the amount of development that can occur 
- The development will allow unreasonable overlooking into the property at 3 

Mingle Lane 
     
 

11. Planning Comments 
 

Page 93



12. Site  
 

13. The application site is 1 Mingle Lane, which is currently occupied by a two storey 
dwelling. The neighbouring property to the south east (no.3) is a bungalow, the 
property to the north west is a two storey dwelling. The existing vehicular access is 
close the location of a Sycamore tree which is protected by a Tree Preservation 
Order.     

 
14. Proposal  

 
15. The applicant seeks full planning permission for the demolition of the existing dwelling 

and the erection of a replacement dwelling, with alterations to the access to the 
property.  
 

16. The scheme has been amended to address officers’ concerns regarding the impact of 
the proposal on the neighbouring properties. The following alterations have been 
made: 

 
- The property has been moved 1.5 metres forward (towards the front boundary) 

within the plot 
- The gable section of the building closest to the south eastern boundary has been 

reduced in depth by 1 metre at both first and ground floor level, setting it back 
from the rear elevation of the central element of the proposal.  

- The balcony originally proposed at first floor level on the eastern side of the 
dwelling has been removed 

- The garage originally proposed at the rear of the dwelling has been removed 
- The applicant has agreed to the removal of the hardstanding shown within the 

root protection area of the Sycamore which is the subject of the TPO 
  

17. Principle of Development 
  

18. The site is within the Great Shelford development framework. Great Shelford is 
classified as a Rural Centre under policy ST/4 of the Core Strategy and would retain 
this status in the emerging Local Plan (policy S/8). The principle of the development 
of a dwelling on the site is therefore acceptable, subject to all other material 
considerations being satisfied.  

 
19. Residential amenity  

 
20. The Parish Council and the occupants of no. 1B Mingle Lane consider that the 

revised proposals do not address the concerns expressed in relation to the impact on 
the residential amenity of that property. Pulling the proposed property forward by 1.5 
metres has reduced the extent to which the dwelling would extend beyond the rear 
building line of 1B, ensuring that the development would remain clear of the 45 
degree line taken from the centre point of the closest window on the rear elevation of 
the neighbouring property. It is therefore considered that the amended scheme would 
not result in unreasonable overshadowing of the rear elevation of that property.       

 
21. The occupant of no.1B has made the point that the living room window in the side 

elevation of that property would still be overshadowed by the corresponding side 
elevation of the proposed dwelling, which would be located 0.5 metres from the 
common boundary. Given that the separation distance between the proposed 
dwelling and that window would be approximately 2 metres, it is acknowledged that 
the two storey height of the building would result in overshadowing to that window.  
 

Page 94



22. However, that window is considered to be secondary because it is immediately 
adjacent to the conservatory which extends from the rear elevation of that property 
and allows light into the room through the internal link door and window panels. The 
revised location of the proposed dwelling ensures that the rear elevation of that 
element of the scheme would only project 1 metre beyond the rear building line of the 
main rear elevation of the property at 1B. This revision means that the development 
would not result in unreasonable overshadowing of the side or rear elevations of the 
conservatory, which is the main source of light into the affected room. Within this 
context, it is considered that the proposed development would, on balance, not result 
in an unreasonable impact on the residential amenity of that property.  

 
23. In relation to the impact on the properties to the south east, the scheme as originally 

submitted would have resulted in a two storey development projecting 7.5 metres 
beyond the rear elevation of the bungalow at no. 3, with a separation distance of just 
4 metres across the common boundary. This situation would have contravened the 
45 degree ‘rule of thumb’ and would have resulted in unreasonable overshadowing of 
the kitchen window of that property.  
 

24. The revised scheme has reduced the length of the south eastern elevation and by 
pulling the building forward on the site, the proposal is now within the 45 degree line, 
with the extent of the projection of the dwelling beyond the rear elevation of no. 3 
reduced down to 5 metres. The applicant has also provided evidence that the vertical 
45 degree line (taken from the kitchen window of the neighbouring and extending 
upwards towards the proposed building.) This indicates that the proposed dwelling 
would not be of a height that would infringe this line. Given that the revised scheme 
accords with both elements of the 45 degree ‘test,’ it is considered that the 
development would not have an adverse impact on the amenity of that property 
through overshadowing.  
 

25. Concerns have been raised by the occupants of no 3 and no. 5 that the large window 
in the south eastern side elevation of the proposed dwelling would allow 
unreasonable overlooking into the rear gardens of those properties. This window 
would serve a landing area on the staircase of the proposed property and not a 
habitable room. However, the applicant has agreed to a condition requiring this large 
window and all of the other high level windows on the two side elevations of the 
dwelling, at first floor level, to be obscurely glazed. This would be reasonable to the 
occupants of the property as all of the other affected windows are either secondary or 
serve bathrooms/en-suites and would prevent any unreasonable overlooking into any 
of the neighbouring properties.  
 

26. In relation to the relocated access, due to the fact that the proposal is for the 
replacement of one dwelling as opposed to the creation of additional units on the site, 
it is considered that the level of traffic generated by the additional accommodation 
would not give rise to any harm to the amenity of neighbouring residents in terms of 
noise or environmental health.        
 

27. It is considered that the re-siting of the property 1.5 metres forward in the amended 
scheme would not result in an adverse impact on the residential amenity of the front 
elevation windows of either of the neighbouring properties. The development would 
remain well within the parameters of the respective 45 degree lines and the 
separation distances to be retained to the potentially affected windows would avoid 
harm to the outlook from the front elevations of those dwellings. No opportunities for 
unreasonable overlooking would result from this alteration to the scheme.     
 

28. Character of the surrounding area 

Page 95



 
29. The proposed dwelling would be significantly larger than the existing property it would 

replace. The amendment to move the property forward 1.5 metres within the plot is 
considered not be to be detrimental to the character of the streetscene due to the fact 
that the development would not sit forward of the front building lines of the garage 
front extensions to 1A and 1B. In addition, the north western element is recessed 
behind the front building line of the south eastern element and this design feature is 
considered to respect the relatively subtle changes in the front building lines in the 
row of properties which include the application site.   
 

30. The design approach is considered to be acceptable as the use of gabled frontages is 
evident on adjacent properties and similar designs have recently been approved at 
no.s 6 and 10 Mingle Lane.  

 
31. Highway safety and parking 

 
32. The Highway Authority has raised no objections to the relocation of the access and 

has recommended standard conditions in relation to the maintenance of pedestrian 
visibility splays, the construction of the driveway (in terms of materials and avoiding 
surface water run off onto the highway) and the management of traffic and the 
storage of materials during the construction process. These can all be added to the 
decision notice. The plans indicate that two parking spaces would be provided at the 
front of the property and this would be sufficient to meet the requirements of policy 
TR/2 of the LDF.     

 
33. TPO 

 
34. The applicant has submitted a tree survey in support of the application. In relation to 

the protected Sycamore tree, the report indicates that the proposed development 
would not have any adverse impact on its condition. The survey proposes means of 
protection during the construction process, including a ‘no-dig’ method for the laying 
of hardstanding in front of the property and the erection of protective fencing to define 
the root protection area. The Council’s Tree Officer has raised no objections to the 
proposals on the basis that these measures are implemented, following the 
applicant’s confirmation that no hardstanding would be installed within the root 
protection area, as appears to be indicated on the plans. Details of both hard and loft 
landscaping can be secured by condition.      
 

35. Other matters 
 

36. The concerns expressed by neighbours and the Parish Council in relation to 
encroachment of the development into the rear portion of the site are noted and the 
garage originally shown to the rear of the property has been removed on the 
amended plans. Planning applications have to be determined on their own merits and 
as this scheme relates only to the replacement of the existing dwelling, the potential 
for future development at the rear of the site is not a material consideration in 
assessing this scheme. Any future applications would also have to be assessed on 
their own merits.    
 

37. The Environmental Health Officer has raised no objections to the proposed 
development, subject to conditions being imposed in relation to restricting noise 
during construction which can be attached to the decision notice.  
 

 
38. Conclusion 

Page 96



 
39. The amended proposal is considered, on balance, to have addressed officers’ 

concerns in relation to the impact of the original submission on the residential amenity 
of the neighbouring properties. There are no objections to the design of the 
replacement dwelling within the context of the surrounding development and the 
impact on the protected Sycamore tree is likely to reduce as a result of the relocation 
of the access. There are no objections to the scheme in relation to highway safety or 
environmental health.  
 

40. The revised scheme is therefore considered, on balance, to comply with the relevant 
local and national planning policies.  
 

   
 

41. Recommendation 
  

Approval subject to the conditions listed in paragraph 42.  
  
  

42. Conditions  
   

a) Time limit 
b) Approved plans 
c) Details of construction materials 
d) Details of boundary treatments to be submitted and agreed 
e) Compliance with mitigation measures listed in Tree Survey 
f) Landscaping scheme 
g) Landscaping maintenance 
h) Car parking spaces to be laid out prior to occupation and retained free from 

obstruction 
i) Details of driveway construction 
j) Pedestrian visibility splays to remain free from obstruction  
k) Removal of permitted development rights for extensions to the dwelling 
l) Obscure glazing of specified windows 
m) Control of noise during construction 
n) Management of traffic and material storage during construction phase 

  
Background Papers 
Where the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 require documents to be open to inspection by members of the 
public, they must be available for inspection: -  
(a) at all reasonable hours at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council;  
(b) on the Council’s website; and  
(c) in the case of documents to be available for inspection pursuant to regulation 15, on 

payment of a reasonable fee required by the Council by the person seeking to inspect 
the documents at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council.  

 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or an 
indication as to where hard copies can be inspected.  
 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Core Strategy DPD 2007 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Development Control Policies 

DPD 2007 

Page 97



• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Supplementary Planning 
Documents 

• Proposed Local Plan  
• National Planning Policy Framework 2012 
 
Report Author:  David Thompson – Principal Planning Officer 

Telephone: (01954) 713250 
 
 

Page 98



59

56

Waverley Park

52HIN
TO

N
W

AY

40

9

GLEBE LANE

TCB

2

39

29

26

Greenacre

Great Shelford

2

RCHARD
ROAD

46

47

62a62

22.4m

64

18
14

49

48

42

4
49

Shelter

6

10

28

Cot
ta

geBe
ll

1

10

15

9

13

6

Hills View

El S
ub

Sta

8

23

1

2

31

27

9a

MillHouse

11

19.0m

13

11
a

18

4

13

MINGLE LANE

14

20

Minglepen

1b

LB

1

1a
The Limes

20

18

M
in

gl
e

C
ot

ta
ge

12

6

6a

6

2

50

8

70

66

60

5268

48

58

54
64

23

El

120
22

20

to

Su
b

St
a

36
38

102

18

26

110

C
ha

st
on

MILL COURT

H
ou

se

5
3

18
CHASTON ROAD

10
46

12

40

Sub Sta

G
rain

H
ouse

1

H
ouse

Q
uern

El

2a

E
l S

ub
S

ta 2

2

3

16

2

9

1

G
R

AI
N

C
LO

SE

H
ouse

B
reaks

7

York Ho

t
S

tation

Lincoln Ho

Anglia House

1072

70 68

BIRCH
TREES

ROAD

14

71

59

13

82

98

84

17

88

100

82
86

92

25

30
28

90

0

k
use

22a

11

Ppg Sta

24a

24

22b
22

14

HAWTHORNE ROAD

21

31

11

13

15

H
E

A
D

LE
Y

G
A

R
D

E
N

S

43

3

7

9

15

10

42

35

44

LE
E

W
A

Y
A

V
E

N
U

E

25

14

13

24

El Sub Sta

5

ables

The
Maltings

Granary
House

Po
st

s

S
helford

S
tation

LC

1

CR

Def

1.
22

m
RH

1.
22

m
R

H

23

23a

Windsor Ho

Dorset Ho

Edinburgh Ho

Halifax Ho

Scale - 1:2500
Time of plot: 15:17 Date of plot: 20/05/2015

0 1 2 300m

© Crown copyright.

Page 99



Page 100

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 3 June 2015  
AUTHOR/S: Planning and New Communities Director  

 
 
 
Application Number: S/0572/15/FL 
  
Parish(es): GREAT SHELFORD 
  
Proposal: External Alterations, Conversion of 

Existing Dwelling to Two Dwellings and 
New Access 

  
Site address: 2 Granhams Road  
  
Applicant(s): Mrs S. Maltby 
  
Recommendation: Approval (as amended) 
  
Key material considerations: Highway Safety 
  
Committee Site Visit: No. 
  
Departure Application: No. 
  
Presenting Officer: Karen Pell-Coggins 
  
Application brought to Committee because: The officer recommendation conflicts with 

the recommendation of Great Shelford 
Parish Council 

  
Date by which decision due: 5 June 2015 
 
 
 

Planning History 
 
1. S/1865/11/F - Repositioning and Redesign of Roof Light - Approved 

S/1862//11/F - Wooden Trellis Fencing (part retrospective - Approved 
S/0963/10/F - Erection of Side/Rear Extension following Demolition of Existing- 
Approved 

 
 Planning Policy 
 
2. South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework (LDF) Core Strategy 

DPD, adopted January 2007      
ST/2 Housing Provision  
ST/4 Rural Centres 

 
3. South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework (LDF) Development 

Control Policies DPD, adopted July 2007      

Agenda Item 10

Page 101



DP/1 Sustainable Development 
DP/2 Design of New Development 
DP/3 Development Criteria 
DP/7 Development Frameworks 
HG/1 Housing Density  
SF/10 Outdoor Playspace, Informal Open Space, and New Developments  
SF/11 Open Space Standards 
TR/1 Planning for More Sustainable Travel 

 TR/2 Car and Cycle Parking Standards 
 
4.  Submission Local Plan (March 2014)  

S/3 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
S/7 Development Frameworks 
S/8 Rural Centres 
HQ/1 Design Principles 
H/7 Housing Density  
SC/6 Indoor Community Facilities  
SC/7 Outdoor Play Space, Informal Open Space and New Developments  
SC/8 Open Space Standards 
TI/2 Planning for Sustainable Travel  
TI/3 Parking Provision  

 
5. South Cambridgeshire LDF Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD): 

Open Space in New Developments SPD - Adopted January 2009  
District Design Guide SPD - Adopted March 2010 

 
Consultation  

  
6. Great Shelford Parish Council – Recommends refusal for the following reasons: - 
  

“There are already two residential units on this site, therefore if permitted 
development rights are removed, we would have no objection to the conversion to 
two dwellings.  
 
The traffic frequently builds up from the junction with High Green because of the 
railway crossing. Provision should be made within the site for parking and turning for 
the cars of both dwellings using the existing access only so that cars do not have to 
back on to the highway and retaining the existing wall.” 

 
7. Local Highways Authority – Requires a conditions for the provision of pedestrian 

visibility splays measuring 1.5 metres x 1.5 metres on both sides of the access and 
maintained free from obstruction over a height of 600mm, the driveway is constructed 
to fall so that private water does not drain across the public highway, the driveway is 
constructed with bound material so that loose material does not spill on to the public 
highway and a construction traffic management plan. Also requests an informative 
with regards to works to the public highway.      

 
8. Environmental Health Officer – Suggests a condition in relation to the hours of 

operation of site machinery and noisy works along with site deliveries. Also request 
informatives with regards to the burning of waste on site, pile driven foundations and 
disturbance during construction.   

 
Representations 

 
9. None received.  

Page 102



 
Planning Considerations 

 
10. The key issues to consider in the determination of this application relate to the 

principle of the development, density, developer contributions and the impacts of the 
development upon the character and appearance of the area, highway safety and 
neighbour amenity. 

 
 Site and Surroundings 
 
11. The site is located within the Great Shelford village framework. It currently comprises 

a semi-detached, single storey, brick and tile bungalow that has been previously 
extended to the south to provide an annexe. There is a driveway to the front of the 
extension with two parking spaces and access on to Granhams Road. A low wall 
aligns the front boundary. The site is situated close to the junction of Granhams Road 
with High Green and a railway crossing.   

 
Proposal 

 
12. The proposal seeks external alterations to the existing dwelling, conversion to two 

dwellings and a new access. The development would result in a three bedroom unit 
and a one bedroom unit. The alterations consist of a new door to the north elevation 
and windows blocked up to the south and east elevations. A fence would subdivide 
the rear gardens of the plots. Part of the existing driveway would be soft landscaped. 
The new access would measure 5 metres in width and be positioned adjacent to the 
northern boundary of the site. Two additional parking spaces would be provided.    

 
Principle of Development 

 
13. The site is located within the village framework of a Rural Centre. The village has a 

wide range of services and facilities and the provision of one additional dwelling on 
the site is supported in policy terms.  

 
Density 

 
14. The site measures 0.05 hectares in area in total. The conversion of the existing 

dwelling to two dwellings would equate to a density of 40 dwellings per hectare. This 
would be in accordance with the density requirement of at least 40 dwellings per 
hectare for sustainable villages such as Great Shelford.  

 
Character and Appearance of the Area 

 
15. The proposed external alterations to the building would be minor and in keeping with 

the character and appearance of the existing building.  
 
16. The provision of a new access would open up the front of the site but this is 

considered to harm the character and appearance of the area.  
 
Highway Safety 

 
17. The proposed access is not considered to be detrimental to highway safety. Whilst it 

is acknowledged that there would be no on-site turning and one additional parking 
space would be provided that would lead to an additional vehicle reversing on to the 
public highway, this would be located further away from the Granhams Road and 
Cambridge Road junction and reduce the reversing from the existing access closer to 

Page 103



the junction. Pedestrian visibility splays would be provided on each side of the access 
that would comply with the Local Highways Authority standards and be a condition of 
any consent.  

 
18. Three vehicle parking spaces would be provided for the existing and proposed 

dwellings that would accord with the Council’s parking standards that require an 
average of 1.5 spaces vehicle parking spaces per dwelling.  

 
 Neighbour Amenity 
 
19. The proposal is not considered to adversely affect the amenities of neighbours or the 

future occupiers of the properties through a loss of privacy or an unacceptable rise in 
the level of noise and disturbance providing conditions are attached to any consent to 
ensure adequate boundary treatment, a scheme of soft landscaping and the removal 
of permitted development rights for hard surfaces.     

 
Developer Contributions 

 
20. The proposal would not lead to an increase in the number of bedrooms and therefore 

developer contributions towards open space and community facilities would not be 
required. A contribution towards waste receptacles is also not required given the 
recent advice in the NPPG in relation to small residential schemes.  

 
Conclusion 

 
21. Having regard to applicable national and local planning policies, and having taken all 

relevant material considerations into account, it is considered that planning 
permission should be granted in this instance. 

 
 Recommendation 
 
22. Approve subject to the following conditions: - 
 

a) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 
years from the date of this permission.  
(Reason - To ensure that consideration of any future application for 
development in the area will not be prejudiced by permissions for 
development, which have not been acted upon.) 

 
b) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: - Drawing numbers SM/GR/P301, SM/GR/P305A, 
SM/GR/P306A, SM/GR/P307A and SM/GR/P309. 
(Reason - To facilitate any future application to the Local Planning Authority 
under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.) 

 
c) No development shall take place until there has been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority a plan indicating the 
positions, design, materials and type of boundary treatment to be erected. The 
boundary treatment shall be completed before development is occupied as 
two separate dwellings in accordance with the approved details and shall 
thereafter be retained.  
(Reason - In the interests of the amenities of the occupiers of the properties in 
accordance with Policy DP/3 of the adopted Local Development Framework 
2007.) 

 

Page 104



d) No development shall take place until full details of both hard and soft 
landscape works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. These details shall include indications of all existing trees 
and hedgerows on the land and details of any to be retained, together with 
measures for their protection in the course of development. The details shall 
also include specification of all proposed trees, hedges and shrub planting, 
which shall include details of species, density and size of stock.  
(Reason - In the interests of the amenities of the occupiers of the properties in 
accordance with Policy DP/3 of the adopted Local Development Framework 
2007.) 

 
e) All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any 
part of the development or in accordance with a programme agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority. If within a period of five years from the date 
of the planting, or replacement planting, any tree or plant is removed, 
uprooted or destroyed or dies, another tree or plant of the same species and 
size as that originally planted shall be planted at the same place, unless the 
Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation.  
(Reason - In the interests of the amenities of the occupiers of the properties in 
accordance with Policy DP/3 of the adopted Local Development Framework 
2007.) 

 
f) The development, hereby permitted, shall not be occupied as two separate 

dwellings until the three vehicle parking spaces have been laid out on the site 
as shown on drawing number SM/GR/P305A.. The vehicle parking spaces 
shall thereafter be retained for parking purposes.   
(Reason - In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy DP/3 of 
the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.) 

 
g) The development, hereby permitted, shall not be occupied as two separate 

dwellings until visibility splays have been provided on both sides of the new 
access within an area of 2 metres x 2 metres measured from and along 
respectively the back of the footway as shown on drawing number 
SM/GR/P305A. The splays shall be retained and maintained free from any 
obstruction over a height of 600mm 
(Reason - In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Policy DP/3 of 
the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.) 
 

h) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting 
that Order with or without modification), no development within Classes A, E 
and F of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the Order shall take place unless expressly 
authorised by planning permission granted by the Local Planning Authority in 
that behalf. 
(Reason - In the interests of the amenities of the occupiers of the properties in 
accordance with Policy DP/3 of the adopted Local Development Framework 
2007.) 

 
Background Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of this 
report:  
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Development Control Policies 

DPD 2007 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Plan Submission March 2014 
• South Cambridgeshire Supplementary Planning Documents 

Page 105



• National Planning Policy Framework 2012 
• Planning File Reference S/0572/15/FL. 
 
Case Officer: Karen Pell-Coggins- Principal Planning Officer 

Telephone: (01954) 713230 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 106



9

15

Malyons

31

7

43

49
to

MARIS GREEN

22 28

27

DE FREVILLE ROAD

26

to
33

14
16

20

81
to

G
ra

nh
am

s 
C

ou
rt

75

G
R

AN
H

AM
'S

R
O

A

20
16

to

Post

The Studio

65

59

34

H
IG

H
G

R
E

E
N

36

34a

TCB

40

20
32

5

7

1

3

GRANHAMS
CLOSE

28

1

12

6

21

Carlton House

15.0m

17

El
Su

b 
St

a

15.4m

15.5m

1

2

2

2
4

15

16

12
14

22

27

Garage
Old
The

15
a

Shelter

15

Quin

5a

ESS

House

7

9

1

The
Oat Barn

Planning Dept - South Cambridgeshire DC

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
Scale - 1:1250
Time of plot: 12:47 Date of plot: 21/05/2015

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 150m

© Crown copyright.

Page 107



Page 108

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 3 June 2015  
AUTHOR/S: Planning and New Communities Director  

 
 
 
Application Number: S/1013/15/FL 
  
Parish(es): Cottenham 
  
Proposal: Extension to Local Authority Depot to 

provide Additional Secure Vehicle Parking 
Area and Open Storage and Extension to 
Existing Office/ Welfare Building 

  
Site address: Cambridge Waste Management Park, Ely 

Road, Waterbeach 
  
Applicant(s): Alboro Development Limited 
  
Recommendation: Approval 
  
Key material considerations: Countryside 

Highway Safety 
Biodiversity 
Flood Risk 

  
Committee Site Visit: No. 
  
Departure Application: Yes 
  
Presenting Officer: Karen Pell-Coggins 
  
Application brought to Committee because: The District Council rents the site from the 

applicants. 
  
Date by which decision due: 14 July 2014 
  
 

Planning History 
 
1. S/1306/12/FL - Local Authority Depot including Secure Compound for Vehicle 

Parking Area with Associated Open Storage and Office Building - Approved 
  

Planning Policies 
 
2. National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2012 
 
3. South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework (LDF) Development 

Control Policies DPD, adopted July 2007      
DP/1 Sustainable Development 
DP/2 Design of New Development 

Agenda Item 11

Page 109



DP/3 Development Criteria 
DP/7 Development Frameworks 
ET/5 Development for the Expansion of Firms 
NE/4 Landscape Character Areas 
NE/6 Biodiversity 
NE/7 Sites of Biodiversity or Geological Importance 
NE/11 Flood Risk 
NE/14 Lighting Proposals 
NE/15 Noise Pollution 
CH/2 Archaeological Sites 
TR/1 Planning for More Sustainable Travel 

 TR/2 Car and Cycle Parking Standards 
TR/3 Mitigating Travel Impact 

 
4.  Submission Local Plan (March 2014)  

S/3 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
S/7 Development Frameworks 
E/16 Expansion of Existing Businesses in the Countryside 
HQ/1 Design Principles 
NH/2 Protecting and Enhancing Landscape Character 
NH/4 Biodiversity 
NH/5 Sites of Biodiversity or Geological Importance 
NH/14 Heritage Assets 
CC/9 Managing Flood Risk 
SC/10 Lighting Proposals  
SC/11 Noise Pollution  
SC/12 Contaminated Land 
TI/2 Planning for Sustainable Travel  
TI/3 Parking Provision  

 
5. South Cambridgeshire LDF Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD): 

Landscape in New Developments SPD - Adopted March 2010  
Biodiversity SPD - Adopted July 2009 
District Design Guide SPD - Adopted March 2010 

 
6. Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy DPD 2011 
 CS26 Mineral Safeguarding Areas 
 
7. Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Site Specific Policies 

DPD 2012 
 M1A Cottenham (Sand and Gravel) 

W1K Waterbeach (Waste Management Park)  
W2B Cottenham (Landfill Site) 

 
Consultations  

  
8. Cottenham Parish Council - Comments are awaited.  
  
9. Landbeach Parish Council - Has no objections.  
 
10. Waterbeach Parish Council - Comments are awaited.  
 
11. Local Highways Authority - Comments that the proposal would not have a 

significant impact upon the public highway provided a condition is attached to any 
consent to secure on-site parking and turning. 

Page 110



 
12. County Council Transport Assessment Team - Requests further information in 

relation to existing traffic movements and proposed trip generation details including 
modes of travel and times of arrival and departure from the site, capacity 
assessments of the roundabout and junction on the A10, levels of vehicle parking on 
the site and alternative means of travel to the site to be able to fully assess the 
transport impact of the development.   

 
13. Historic England - Has no objections due to the bund screening and comments that 

the development is an area subject to development, quarrying and landscaping and 
the development is unlikely to have an adverse impact upon the significance of the 
Scheduled Ancient Monument.    

    
14. County Council Historic Environment Team - Has no objections and comments 

that archaeological works are not necessary as the development would be located on 
previously disturbed ground and it is unlikely that significant archaeological features 
will survive.  

 
15. Environment Agency - Comments are awaited. 
 
16. Waterbeach Level Internal Drainage Board - Comments are awaited. 
 
17. Land Drainage Manager - Comments are awaited.  
 
18. Contaminated Land Officer - Has no objections but recommends a condition in 

relation to a contamination investigation due to the previous use of the site for landfill 
and factory works.     

 
19. Environmental Health Officer - Has no objections.  
 
20. Ecology Officer - Comments that the site is adjacent to an area that holds a Great 

Crested Newt population. However, a permanent amphibian fence has been erected 
to prevent animals from coming to harm within the wider area. Subject to to the fence 
being retained and in a good condition, there is no reason to disagree with the 
ecology report submitted with the application. Welcomes the meadow planting and 
the specific seed mix that was previously agreed but is concerned that  

 
21. Landscape Design Officer - Comments that the proposed development would not 

have a detrimental impact upon the landscape character, views and visual receptors. 
However, the proposed meadow planting enhancement measures are insufficient due 
to the proximity to the adjacent woodland. Suggests alternative landscape measures 
such as trees to expand the network of semi-natural habitats as a condition of any 
consent.     

 
22. Trees and Landscapes Officer - Comments that the trees within the adjacent 

County Wildlife Site would not be affected by the floodlighting.  
 
23. County Council Minerals and Waste Team - Comments are awaited.  
 

Representations 
 
24. None received.  

 
Planning Comments 

 

Page 111



25. The key issues to consider in the determination of this application relate to the 
principle of the development and the impacts of the development upon the character 
and appearance of the countryside, highway safety, contamination, drainage, flood 
risk, ecology, landscaping and archaeology.  
 
Site and Surroundings 

 
26. The site is located on the southern section of the Cambridge Waste Management 

Park that is situated outside of any village framework and within the countryside.  It 
lies the north west of the A10 (Cambridge to Ely Road) and former Dickerson 
Industrial Estate, north of the Cambridge Research Park and villages of Waterbeach 
and Landbeach, east of the village of Cottenham and south west of the hamlet of 
Chittering.  
 

27. The site measures approximately 1 hectare in area and currently comprises the 
existing District Council Environmental Services depot. It consists of a hard surfaced 
compound for the parking of refuse vehicles and open storage for associated plant 
and equipment along with a single storey office/welfare building and staff parking 
spaces. A 2.4 high metal palisade fence bounds the site. Six floodlights are situated 
on the perimeter. Access to the site is via the Amey Cespa roundabout on the A10 to 
the north for heavy vehicles and via the internal access road through the industrial 
estate to the east for light vehicles. The hours of operation are 06.00 to 18.00 
Mondays to Saturdays.   

 
28. The site is situated within Flood Zone 1 (low risk) and 2 (medium risk). A number of 

watercourses and water bodies surround the site. The Car Dyke Scheduled Ancient 
Monument is situated in close proximity to the west of the site and the Beach Ditch 
and Landbeach Pitts Willow Wood County Wildlife Sites are situated in close 
proximity to the south and south west of the site.  

 
Proposal 
 

29. This full planning application, received on 14 April 2014, proposes the extension of 
the existing District Council depot to accommodate the City Council Council’s refuse 
vehicles to provide a shared waste service to serve both administrative areas within a 
single management team.  
 

30. The plans seek an extension of 3500 square metres to the hard surfaced compound 
to provide an additional 20 parking spaces for refuse vehicles, 76 parking spaces for 
employees vehicles and an open storage area for equipment. The plans also include 
an extension of 95 square metres to the southern side of the existing office/welfare 
building to provide improved facilities for the additional drivers and crew, the 
repositioning of the existing boundary fence to enclose the new compound and the 
repositioning of one flood light and erection of two new floodlights to the new 
boundary. The access arrangements would remain as existing.    

 
Principle of Development 

 
31. The site is located outside of any village framework and in the countryside. It does not 

fall within an Established Employment Area in the Countryside and the proposed use 
is not related to agriculture, horticulture, forestry, outdoor recreation or other uses 
which need to be located in the countryside. The development would therefore be 
contrary to Policy DP/7 of the adopted LDF and Policy S/8 of the emerging Local 
Plan.  

 

Page 112



32. The development would represent the consolidation of a non-conforming use in terms 
of its location in the countryside a significant distance away from existing settlements. 
The development would not therefore comply with Policy ET/5 of the adopted LDF.  

 
33. However, the proposal would comprise the expansion of an existing firm that has 

been in the Cambridge area for a significant period of time with a viable business, the 
user is named, the development is of scale appropriate to its location, there would be 
no adverse impact upon the character and appearance of the countryside and there 
would not be a significant increase in the amount or different nature of traffic 
generated. The development therefore meets the tests of Policy E/16 of the emerging 
Local Plan.   

 
34. Two representations that support the emerging policy and two representations that 

object to the emerging policy have been received. The support for the policy is 
because it offers appropriate encouragement for the sustainable growth of existing 
businesses in rural areas. The objections to the policy is because it is weaker than 
the existing due to the original operation of the business for 5 years being reduced to 
2 years and the removal of the restriction on the scales of development.  

 
35. Given the current stage of the emerging Local Plan, the limited number and nature of 

the objections received in relation to this emerging policy and the good degree of 
consistency with the NPPF, some weight can be attached to Policy E/16.  

 
36. Paragraph 28 of the NPPF supports economic growth in rural areas in order to create 

jobs and prosperity by taking a positive approach to sustainable new development.  It 
states that local plans should support the sustainable growth and expansion of all 
types of business and enterprise in rural areas, both through conversion of existing 
buildings and well designed new buildings.  

 
37. The proposal would result in a shared refuse service between South Cambridgeshire 

District Council and Cambridge City Council. This would have significant financial 
benefits and operational benefits in the form of more efficient waste collection rounds 
that would reduce HGV miles and heavy traffic associated with the existing City 
Council depot in Mill Road being relocated away from the city centre so that all 
journeys would begin and end at the Cambridge Waste Management Park.  
 

38. Due to the emerging Local Plan policy and NPPF being material considerations in the 
decision making process, that the adopted policy is out of date and the special 
circumstances above, no objections are therefore raised to the principle of the 
development. The application has been advertised as a departure.   

 
Character and Appearance of the Countryside  

 
39. Whilst it is acknowledged that the development would result in some loss of openness 

and rural character, this would have a minimal impact upon the landscape charcater 
of the area as the site is located within an existing industrial complex that is not visible 
from any public viewpoints surrounding the site. The development is not therefore 
considered to adversely affect the character and appearance of the countryside.  
 
Setting of Scheduled Ancient Monument and Archaeology 

 
40. The development would be located 200 metres to the east of the Car Dyke 

Scheduled Ancient Monument. As a result of the existing industrial complex and bund 
that screens the monument from the site, the development is not considered to 

Page 113



damage the setting of this designated historic asset. The proposal would not harm 
any significant features of archaeological interest. 

 
Highway Safety 

 
41. The Transport Assessment submitted with the application states that the proposal 

would not result in an increase in traffic generation from heavy vehicles accessing the 
site via the roundabout on the A10 as this already exists due to Cambridge City 
Council’s refuse vehicles disposing of the waste collected upon the rounds at the 
Cambridge Waste Management Park before returning to the existing city depot for 
overnight storage. The only change would be the times of access to the Cambridge 
Waste Management Park which would alter from entry and exit in the afternoon to 
exit in the morning and entry in the afternoon. Further information is required to be 
able to make an assessment of the impact upon highway safety and the comments of 
the County Council Transport Assessment Team would be sought.    

 
42.   The proposal would, however, result in an increase in traffic generation from light 

vehicles accessing the site via the internal access road through the former Dickerson 
Industrial Estate and on to the A10 as a number of additional employees would be 
based at the depot. This would lead to additional traffic entering the site in the 
morning and exiting the site in the afternoon. Further information is required to be 
able to make an evaluation of the impact upon highway safety and the comments of 
the County Council Transport Assessment Team would be sought.     

     
Parking 

 
43. The depot currently has 134 employees and 74 vehicle parking spaces. The proposal 

would result in an additional 60 employees and 79 parking spaces. This would lead to 
a total of 194 employees and 149 parking spaces. Further information is required on 
the need for this level of vehicle parking on site and the comments of the County 
Council Transport Assessment Team would be sought.     

 
44. The Cambridge City Council Employee Travel Plan 2008 has been submitted with the 

application to demonstrate that there is a package of measures in place to promote 
sustainable travel and decrease the method of travel by the private motor vehicle. 
However, it is not up-to-date and is not relevant to this application as it references 
sites in the city. Further information is required to make an evaluation on the 
alternative modes of transport available and the comments of the County Council 
Transport Assessment Team would be sought. A condition would need to be attached 
to any consent to secure a full travel plan related to this particular site.     

 
Ecology 

 
45. The development would not adversely affect nearby habitats for protected species 

such as Great Crested Newts due to the presence of an amphibian fence. The 
provision of meadow planting would enhance the biodiversity of the site.   

 
Trees and Landscaping  

 
46. The proposal would not result in the loss of any trees or landscaping that is important 

to the visual amenity of the area or the features of the adjacent County Wildlife Site. 
However, biodiversity enhancement measures above meadow planting are required 
to expand the range of semi-natural habitats on the site. This would be a condition of 
any consent.  

 

Page 114



Flood Risk and Drainage 
 
47. The site lies within Flood Zone 1 (low risk). The Flood Risk Assessment submitted 

with the application states site levels would be above the 1 in 100 year flood level 
plus climate change and that that surface water would be discharged to the existing 
water treatment lagoon that has adequate capacity for the storage of run off. 
However, comments from the Environment Agency and Drainage Board are awaited 
to determine the impact of the development upon flood risk and drainage.   

 
Contamination 

   
48. An investigation into contamination is required as a result of the previous use of the 

site to ensure that the development would not cause a risk to human health or 
groundwater. This would be a condition of any consent unless the information is 
submitted prior to the determination of the application and agreed by the 
Contaminated Land Officer and Environment Agency.   

 
Other Matters 

 
49. The site lies close to allocated mineral and waste sites. The comments of the County 

Council Planning Team are awaited to determine the impact of the development upon 
these areas.  

 
50. The development is not considered to harm the amenities of neighbours given the 

surrounding land uses.  
 
 Recommendation 
 
51. It is recommended that the planning committee grant officer delegated powers to 

approve the application subject to the outstanding comments and any conditions 
required by statutory consultees together with the following conditions: -  

 
a) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 

years from the date of this permission.  
(Reason - To ensure that consideration of any future application for 
development in the area will not be prejudiced by permissions for 
development, which have not been acted upon.) 

 
b) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: - Drawing numbers CP/ADL/WCVC/01, 15:021-2 
Revision C, 15:021-4 Revision A and 15:021-5.    
(Reason - To facilitate any future application to the Local Planning Authority 
under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
c) No development shall be occupied until full details of soft landscape works 

have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These details shall include indications of all existing trees and 
hedgerows on the land and details of any to be retained, together with 
measures for their protection in the course of development. The details shall 
also include specification of all proposed trees, hedges and shrub planting, 
which shall include details of species, density and size of stock.  
(Reason - To ensure the development is satisfactorily assimilated into the 
area and enhances biodiversity in accordance with Policies DP/2 and NE/6 of 
the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.) 

 

Page 115



d) All soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of 
the development or in accordance with a programme agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority. If within a period of five years from the date of the 
planting, or replacement planting, any tree or plant is removed, uprooted or 
destroyed or dies, another tree or plant of the same species and size as that 
originally planted shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local 
Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation.  
(Reason - To ensure the development is satisfactorily assimilated into the 
area and enhances biodiversity in accordance with Policies DP/2 and NE/6 of 
the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.) 
 

e) No development approved by this permission shall be commenced, unless 
otherwise agreed, until: 

i) The application site has been subject to a detailed scheme for the 
investigation and recording of contamination and remediation 
objectives have been determined through risk assessment and agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

ii) Detailed proposals for the removal, containment or otherwise 
rendering harmless any contamination (the Remediation method 
statement) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

iii) The works specified in the remediation method statement have been 
completed, and a Verification report submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, in accordance with the 
approved scheme. 

iv) If, during remediation works, any contamination is identified that has 
not been considered in the remediation method statement, then 
remediation proposals for this material should be agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 

v) The application site has been subject to an appropriate scheme for the 
investigation and monitoring of ground gas. 

vi) Where required, detailed proposals for the mitigation or otherwise 
rendering harmless of any ground gas have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

(Reason - To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of 
the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with Policy DP/1 of the 
adopted Local Development Framework 2007.) 

 
f) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a full Travel 

Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details.  
(Reason - To reduce car dependency and to promote alternative modes of 
travel in accordance with Policy TR/3 of the adopted Local Development 
Framework 2007.) 

 
 
Background Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of this 
report:  
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Development Control Policies 

DPD 2007 

Page 116



• South Cambridgeshire Local Plan Submission March 2014 
• South Cambridgeshire Supplementary Planning Documents 
• Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy DPD 2011 
• Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Site Specific Proposals 2012 
• National Planning Policy Framework 2012 
• Planning File References S/1013/15/FL and S/1306/12/FL 
 
Case Officer: Karen Pell-Coggins- Principal Planning Officer 

Telephone: (01954) 713230 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 117



Page 118

This page is left blank intentionally.



Depot

Tanks

Pump

Dra
in

House

Stone

Dra
in

Track

Water

Tra
ck

Ditc
h

7100

7200

74
00

(Telecommunication

(D
ra

in)

(Drain)

(Drain)

7320
7310

7330

7340

BEACH DRIVE

Tank

Planning Dept - South Cambridgeshire DC

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
Scale - 1:2500
Time of plot: 12:45 Date of plot: 21/05/2015

0 1 2 300m

© Crown copyright.

Page 119



Page 120

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 3 June 2015 
AUTHOR/S: Planning and New Communities Director  

 
 
 
Application Number: S/0619/15/FL 
  
Parish(es): Histon & Impington 
  
Proposal: Erection of Bungalow 
  
Site address: 3 The Crescent   
  
Applicant(s): Mr Oliver 
  
Recommendation: Approval 
  
Key material considerations: Principle 

Setting of Listed Building 
Protected Village Amenity Area  
Design  
Neighbour Amenity 

  
Committee Site Visit: Yes 
  
Departure Application: No 
  
Presenting Officer: Katie Christodoulides 
  
Application brought to Committee because: The recommendation of Histon and 

Impington Parish Council conflicts with the 
Officers recommendation of approval.  

  
Date by which decision due: 30/04/2015 
 

1. Planning History 
  

2. Planning Application reference S/0452/14/FL for a Dwelling was refused by virtue of 
its harm on the setting of the Grade II* listed mill and protected village amenity area 
(PVAA). The application under Appeal reference APP/W0530/A/14/2224682 was 
dismissed due to its harm to the character and appearance of the protected village 
amenity area and failure to preserve the setting of the listed mill building. 
 

3. Planning Application reference S/1955/03/O for a House was refused. 
 

4. Planning Application reference S/1196/97/F for a Conservatory was approved.  
 

5. Planning Application reference S/0800/87/F for the erection of double garage-
Approved.  

 

Agenda Item 12

Page 121



 
      6. Planning Policies 
  

7. National  
National Planning Policy Framework 

 
8. Local Development Core Strategy 2007: 

ST/4 Rural Centres 
 

9. South Cambridgeshire LDF Development Control Policies DPD, 2007: 
Policy DP/1: Sustainable Development 
Policy DP/2: Design of New Development 
Policy DP/3: Development Criteria 
Policy DP/4: Infrastructure and New Developments 
Policy DP/7: Development Frameworks 
Policy CH4: Development Within the Curtilage or Setting of a Listed Building 
Policy CH/6: Protected Village Amenity Areas 
Policy HG/1: Housing Density 
Policy NE/1 Energy Efficiency 
Policy NE/2 Renewable Energy 
Policy NE/6 Biodiversity 
Policy NE/15 Noise Pollution 
Policy SF/10 Outdoor Playspace, Informal Open Space, and New Developments 
Policy SF/11 Open Space Standards 
Policy TR/1 Planning for More Sustainable Travel  
Policy TR/2 Car and Cycle Parking Standards 
 

10. South Cambridgeshire LDF Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD): 
District Design Guide - Adopted March 2010. 
Open Space in New Developments - Adopted January 2009 
Trees and Development Sites-Adopted January 2009 
Landscape in New Developments-Adopted March 2010 
Listed Buildings: Works to or affecting the setting of-Adopted July 2009 

 
11. Proposed Submission Local Plan  

S/8 Rural Centres 
S/2 Objectives of the Local Plan 
S/3 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
HQ/1 Design Principles  
H/7 Housing Density 
H/8 Housing Mix 
NH/4 Biodiversity 
NH/11 Protected Village Amenity Areas 
NH/14 Heritage Assets 
SC/6 Indoor Community Facilities  
SC/7 Outdoor Play Space, Informal Open Space and New Developments 
SC/8 Open Space Standards 
CC/1 Mitigation and Adaption to Climate Change 
SC/11 Noise Pollution 
TI/2 Planning for Sustainable Travel 
TI/3 Parking Provision 
TI/8 Infrastructure and New Developments 
TI/9 Education facilities  

 
12. Consultations 

Page 122



13. Histon & Impington Parish Council-Recommends refusal. Concerns were raised 
regarding the impact on the character of the protected village amenity area, the 
development being out of keeping with the pattern of development in the area and 
impacting on the spaciousness of the mill setting.  
 

14. Conservation Consultancy-Recommends approval. The dwelling at single storey 
would impinge less on the setting of the listed mill and PVAA. The proposal responds 
to the previous concerns. The proposed mono-pitched form is not characteristic of the 
area but does repeat the form of the garage. The proposed zinc roofing would be 
similar to the slate roofs in the area however the render would not be appropriate. 
Requests conditions in regard to the proposed materials should consent be granted.  

 
15. Local Highways Authority-Raises no objects and requests conditions are added to 

any consent granted for the design of the access to be provided prior to any works 
commencing, pedestrian visibility splays, the driveway being constructed so no water 
drains on to the public highway, no unbound material is spread onto the highway and 
an informative that a separate permission is required for any works to the highway.  
 

16. English Heritage- The application should be determined in accordance with national 
and local policy and on the basis of your conservation specialists.  
 

17. Environmental Health Officer-No objections and requests conditions in regard to 
hours of work, no burning of waste and driven pile foundations and informatives in 
regard to noise and dust and Demolition Notice.  
 

18. Tree Officer-No Objections and recommends a condition is added to any consent 
granted to ensure the details in the Tree Survey in regard to tree protection are 
carried out.  
 

19. 6 Amenity Bodies- No comments received (out of time). 
 

20. Society for Protection of Ancient Buildings- The works should be carried out and be 
sympathetic to local tradition and traditional materials be used. 

 
21. Representations 

  
22. No.10 New School Road- Objects to the proposal on the impact to the protected 

village amenity area and adjacent listed windmill particularly the working of the mill, 
that each property has a covenant restricting development and the design of the 
bungalow being out of keeping with the area.  

 
23. No.4 Cambridge Road- Objects to the proposal and raises concerns regarding the 

impact upon the character of the area and protected village amenity area. 
 

24. No.6 Cambridge Road- Objects to the proposal on the grounds of the impact upon 
the protected village amenity area, listed mill, the development representing a 
cramped form of development and not being in keeping with the spacious character 
of the area. 

 
25. No.10 Cambridge Road-Objects to the proposal given the impact on the listed 

windmill, impact upon the wind flow and working nature of the mill, the character of 
the Protected Village Amenity Area, the design and covenants on the plots which 
restrict the sub division.  

 

Page 123



26. No.1 The Crescent-Objects to the proposal on the grounds of impact to the protected 
village amenity area and adjacent listed building. 

 
27. No.18 The Crescent-Objects to the proposal given the impact upon the protected 

village amenity area, previous appeals for dwellings in the area, and impact of the 
proposal on the adjacent listed windmill.  

 
28. Planning Comments 

 
29. Site  

 
30. No.3 The Crescent is a large two storey, brick built detached dwelling lying back from 

the public highway and within a large plot. To the north of the site lies a detached 
single storey garage which is accessed by a separate driveway and seperate parking 
area. The site is well landscaped with substantial trees and hedgerows along its 
boundaries and within the plot.  

 
31. The site lies within the Impington Village Framework, within a Protected Village 

Amenity Area (PVAA) and adjacent to a Grade II* listed windmill (Impington Mill) 
which lies to the south east.  

 
32. Proposal  

 
33. The application seeks consent for a proposed bungalow, following demolition of the 

existing garage. 
 

34. The key issues to consider in this instance are the principle of development, impact 
upon the character and appearance of the area, impact upon the protected village 
amenity area, impact upon the setting of the adjacent listed mill, trees and 
landscaping, highway safety and parking, neighbour amenity, 5 Year Housing Land 
Supply and other matters.  

 
35. Principle of Development 

 
36. Use- The site is located within the village framework of a ‘Rural Centre’. Development 

and redevelopment without any limit on individual scheme size will be permitted 
within village frameworks. The proposed dwelling is therefore considered acceptable 
in principle subject to material planning considerations discussed below. 

 
37. Density- The site measures 0.116 hectares in area. The proposed dwelling and 

existing dwelling on the site would equate to a density of 17 dwellings per hectare. 
This would be significantly below the required density level of achieving 30 dwellings 
per hectare in more sustainable locations under Policy HG/1 Housing Density.  Given 
the character of the area with large dwellings set in large spacious plots, the proposal 
is considered acceptable in terms of density.  
 

38. Impact upon the character and appearance of the area 
  

39. The dwellings along The Crescent are all set back from the public highway and sited 
within large substantial plots of varying sizes. The dwellings comprise of various 
designs, all being quite traditional in their design and appearance, and are of varying 
types and sizes ranging from two storey detached dwellings to semi-detached 
bungalows. The design of the proposed bungalow with the monopitch roof forms 
would not be characteristic and representative of the traditional design of the 
dwellings in the area, however given the design is similar to the design of the existing 

Page 124



garage and significantly contrasting and modern to the existing traditional design of 
the dwellings in the area, the proposal is considered significantly different and would 
be acceptable in terms of visual amenity.  

  
40. Impact upon the protected village amenity area 

 
41. The site and the whole of The Crescent and surrounding area lies within a Protected 

Village Amenity Area (PVAA). Policy CH/6 of the LDF and Policy NH/11 of the 
Proposed Local Plan states that development will not be permitted within a PVAA if it 
would have an adverse impact on the character, amenity, tranquillity or function of the 
village. This area which falls within a PVAA and is characterised by low density 
development and spacious plots with views of the Grade II* listed windmill. The 
proposed bungalow at 4.5 metres in height would replace the existing single storey 
garage which has a height of 4.1 metres. Given the dwelling would be single storey, 
with a minimal increase in height, size, scale and massing from the existing garage 
building, the proposal is not considered to encroach on the character, low density  
appearance and openness of the PVAA. The proposal would not interrupt or obscure 
views of the listed mill. Concerns have been raised regarding the low density 
appearance of the PVAA and the proposed dwelling appearing cramped. Given that 
dwelling would be set within a modest sized plot with a large plot remaining for the 
existing dwelling at No.3 The Crescent and clear separation between the two, the 
proposal is considered acceptable and would not result in harm to the character and 
local amenity of the PVAA and views of the Grade II * listed mill from The Crescent 
and College Road. 

 
42. Impact upon the setting of the adjacent listed mill 

 
43. To the south east of the site lies Impington Mill a Grade II* listed building. The listed 

mill is seen in views along The Crescent in between the detached dwellings and 
through the existing established landscaping, trees and hedgerows within the area.  
Along the northern part of The Crescent and from the junction of College Road, there 
are open views of the top part of the listed mill. The existing single storey outbuilding 
within the site is evident in street scene views from The Crescent and College Road, 
and it does obscure partial views of the listed mill; however it is low in terms of its 
height and size. The proposed dwelling given it would be single storey and of a 
similar height to the existing garage is not considered to significantly intrude or 
impede upon the open views of the Grade II* listed mill from College Road and the 
north west part of The Crescent. The proposal as a result would retain the 
spaciousness and open character of the area and setting of the mill.  

 
44. Trees and landscaping 

 
45. A Tree Survey and landscaping proposal were submitted for the proposed dwelling. 

The proposal is not considered to result in the loss of any important trees and 
landscaping.  
 

46. Should consent be granted a condition shall be added to request hard and soft 
landscaping details are submitted prior to any development and that the works are 
carried out in accordance with the submitted Tree Survey.  

  
47. Highway safety and parking 

 
48. The proposal would result in the utilisation of the existing vehicular access to the 

garage. The Local Highways Authority have commented that the proposal would not 
result in any significant adverse impact upon the public highway subject to the 

Page 125



addition of conditions in regard to the design of the access being provided prior to the 
commencement of works, pedestrian visibility splays, the driveway being constructed 
so no private water drains on to the public highway, no unbound material is spread 
onto the highway and an informative that a separate permission is required for any 
works to the highway. 

 
49. The proposal would comply with the District Council’s set parking standards which 

require 1.5 spaces per dwelling.  
 

50. Neighbour Amenity  
 

51. To the east of the site lies the neighbouring properties at Nos.1 & 6 Cambridge Road. 
The proposed dwelling would be sited away from the rear common boundary with 
No.1 Cambridge Road which forms an established hedgerow but along the majority of 
the rear common boundary which forms a fence and large trees with No.6 Cambridge 
Road. Within the rear part of No.1 Cambridge Road lies a garden shed and area for 
growing vegetables. An outside raised sitting area lies further within the site with a 
large patio area lying to the rear of the property. Given the significant distance at 38 
metres of the neighbouring dwelling at No.1 Cambridge Road from the common 
boundary with the site and outside amenity area, the proposal has been assessed in 
terms of loss of light, loss of privacy and overbearing impact and is not considered to 
result in significant harm to this neighbouring property.  

 
52. The proposed dwelling would be set 1 metre from the common boundary with No.6 

Cambridge Road. A wire fence, hedgerow and substantial leylandii trees form the 
rear boundary of No.6 Cambridge Road. The area of garden immediately adjacent to 
the common boundary is laid to grass. The bungalow at No.6 Cambridge Road lies 
approximately 50 metres from the common boundary. Given this distance of the 
proposed dwelling from the neighbouring bungalow at No.6, the proposal has been 
assessed in terms of loss of light and overbearing impact and is not considered to 
result in significant harm to the neighbouring bungalow at No.6 Cambridge Road.  
The proposed ground floor windows in the rear of the proposed dwelling would serve 
a kitchen, shower room and bedroom 2; a condition shall be added to any consent 
granted to require a two metre high close boarded fence to be erected along the 
eastern boundary to prevent loss of privacy to the rear garden area.  

 
53. 5 Year Housing Land Supply  

 
54. The NPPF advises that every effort should be made to identify and then meet the 

housing needs of an area, and respond positively to wider opportunities for growth. 
Additionally the Development Plan (Core Strategy Development Plan Document 
adopted January 2007 and Development Control Policies Development Plan adopted 
January 2007) identifies Impington as a Rural Centre where the construction of new 
residential dwellings within the framework is supported.   
 

55. The proposed development would have been acceptable in principle having regard to 
adopted LDF and emerging Local Plan policies, had policies ST/4 and DP/7 not 
become out of date as a consequence of the Council not currently being able to 
demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites. 

 
56. Any adverse impacts of the development are not considered to significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the material 
considerations set out in this report, and the proposed development remains 
acceptable. As such it is recommended that permission be granted. 

 

Page 126



57. Other Issues 
 
58. The following issues have been raised but do not represent material planning 

considerations that can be taken into account in this application:  
 
• Legal covenants 

 
59. Recommendation 

  
 Approval  
  

60. Conditions  
   

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years 
from the date of this permission. 
(Reason - To ensure that consideration of any future application for development in 
the area will not be prejudiced by permissions for development, which have not been 
acted upon.) 

   
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: 14/1128/PL.11 Rev A, 13/1128/PL.01, 14/1128/PL.10 Rev 
A, Acacia Arboricultural Report dated 30 January 2014 & 13/1128/PL.02 Rev A.  
(Reason - To facilitate any future application to the Local Planning Authority under 
Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.) 

 
3. No development shall take place until details of the materials to be used in the 

construction of the external surfaces of the buildings hereby permitted have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
(Reason - To ensure the appearance of the development is satisfactory in 
accordance with Policy DP/2 of the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.) 

 
4. No development shall take place until full details of both hard and soft landscape 

works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These details shall include indications of all existing trees and hedgerows 
on the land and details of any to be retained, together with measures for their 
protection in the course of development. The details shall also include specification of 
all proposed trees, hedges and shrub planting, which shall include details of species, 
density and size of stock. (Reason - To ensure the development is satisfactorily 
assimilated into the area and enhances biodiversity in accordance with Policies DP/2 
and NE/6 of the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.) 
 

5. All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of 
the development or in accordance with a programme agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority. If within a period of five years from the date of the planting, or 
replacement planting, any tree or plant is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, 
another tree or plant of the same species and size as that originally planted shall be 
planted at the same place, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written 
consent to any variation.  
Reason - To ensure the development is satisfactorily assimilated into the area and 
enhances biodiversity in accordance with Policies DP/2 and NE/6 of the adopted 
Local Development Framework 2007.) 
 

Page 127



6. No development shall take place until there has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority a plan indicating the positions, design, 
materials and type of boundary treatment to be erected. The boundary treatment shall 
be completed before the dwelling is occupied in accordance with the approved details 
and shall thereafter be retained.  
(Reason - To ensure that the appearance of the site does not detract from the 
character of the area in accordance with Policy DP/2 of the adopted Local 
Development Framework 2007.) 
 

7. The Tree Protection details shall be carried out in accordance with the Arboricultural 
Report by Acacia Tree Surgery Ltd dated 30 January 2014. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
(Reason: To protected trees which are to be retained in order to enhance the 
development, biodiversity and the visual amenities of the area in accordance with 
Policies DP/1 and NE/6 of the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.) 
 

8. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification), no development within Classes A, B, C & E of Part 1 of 
Schedule 2 of the Order shall take place unless expressly authorised by planning 
permission granted by the Local Planning Authority in that behalf. 
(Reason - In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policies CH/4 and 
CH/6 of the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.) 
 

9. No development shall commence until details of the design of the access have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority; the 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
(Reason - In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy DP/3 of the 
adopted Local Development Framework 2007.) 
 

     10. Visibility splays shall be provided on both sides of the access and shall be maintained 
free from any obstruction over a height of 600mm within an area of 2m x 2m 
measured from and along respectively the: 
(a) highway boundary 
(Reason - In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Policy DP/3 of the 
adopted Local Development Framework 2007.) 

 
      11. The proposed driveways shal be constructed using a bound material to prevent 

debris spreading onto the adopted public highway. 
(Reason - In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy DP/3 of the 
adopted Local Development Framework 2007.) 

 
      12. The proposed driveways shall be constructed so that its falls and levels are such that 

no private water from the site drains across or onto the adopted public highway. 
(Reason - In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy DP/3 of the 
adopted Local Development Framework 2007.) 
 

      13. During the period of demolition and construction, no power operated machinery shall 
be operated on the site before 0800 hours and after 1800 hours on weekdays and 
1300 hours on Saturdays, nor at any time on Sundays and Bank Holidays, unless 
otherwise previously agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  
(Reason - To minimise noise disturbance for adjoining residents in accordance with 
Policy NE/15 of the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.) 
 

Page 128



      14. There shall be no burning of any waste or other materials on site without prior 
consent from the Environmental Health Department. 
(Reason - To minimise disturbance for adjoining residents in accordance with Policy 
NE/16 of the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.) 
 

      15. Should driven pile foundations be proposed, a statement of the method for 
construction for these foundations shall be submitted and agreed by the District 
Environmental Health Officer. 
(Reason - To minimise noise disturbance for adjoining residents in accordance with 
Policy NE/15 of the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.) 

 
 Informatives  
   

1. The granting of planning permission does not constitute a permission or licence to a 
developer to carry out any works within, disturbance of, or interference with, the 
Public Highway, and that a separate permission must be sought from the Highway 
Authority for such works.  

 
2. Before the existing property is demolished, a Demolition Notice will be required from 

the Building Control Section of the council’s planning department to establishing the 
way in which the property will be dismantled, including any asbestos present, the 
removal of waste, minimisation of dust, capping of drains and establishing hours of 
working operation. This should be brought to the attention of the applicant to ensure 
the protection of the residential environment of the area. 

 
3. The applicant should take all relevant precautions to minimise the potential for  

disturbance to neighbouring residents in terms of noise and dust during the 
construction phases of development. This should include the use of water 
suppressions for any stone or brick cutting and advising neighbours in advance of 
any particularly noisy works. The granting of this planning permission does not 
indemnify against statutory nuisance action being taken should substantiated noise or 
dust complaints be received. For further information please contact Environmental 
Health Service.   

 
  
Background Papers 
Where the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 require documents to be open to inspection by members of the 
public, they must be available for inspection: -  
(a) at all reasonable hours at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council;  
(b) on the Council’s website; and  
(c) in the case of documents to be available for inspection pursuant to regulation 15, on 

payment of a reasonable fee required by the Council by the person seeking to inspect 
the documents at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council.  

 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or an 
indication as to where hard copies can be inspected.  
 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Core Strategy DPD 2007 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Development Control Policies 

DPD 2007 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Supplementary Planning 

Documents 
• Proposed Local Plan  

Page 129



• National Planning Policy Framework 2012 
• Planning File Reference: S/0452/14/FL  
• Appeal Reference: APP/W0530/A/14/2224682 
 
Report Author:  Katie Christodoulides – Senior Planning Officer 

Telephone: (01954) 713314 
 
 

Page 130



7

7a

to

5

16

20

5a
5b

47a
47

C
A

M
B

R
ID

G
E

R
O

A
D

15.8m

16

6

14.7m

10

to
15

11

Regency
House

10

27

41
15.5m

17
41

Windmill

(dis)

9

14.9m

3a

3

1

2

2

1a

1

4

11

A
RO

AD

2

21

3

7C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

TH
E

14

8a

5

12 10 8

1 4

13.4m

9

10
6

12

2a
2

13.7m

1

El Sub Sta

U
nd

11

3

COLLEGE ROAD

Scale - 1:1250
Time of plot: 17:16 Date of plot: 04/05/2015

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 150m

© Crown copyright.

Page 131



Page 132

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 3 June 2015 
AUTHOR/S: Planning and New Communities Director  

 
 
 
Application Number / type of 
application: 

S/0324/15/FL / Full Application  
  
Parish(es): Linton 
  
Proposal: Replacement windows and doors in front and rear 

elevations 
  
Recommendation: Approval subject to conditions in paragraph 8. 
  
Material considerations: Visual Impact 

Setting of Conservation Area/Listed Buildings 
  
Site address: 2 High Street, Linton 
  
Applicant(s): Raj Wadhwani, Linton Dental Practice 
  
Date on which application 
received: 

20 February 2015 
  
Site Visit: None 
  
Conservation Area: Yes 
  
Departure Application: No 
  
Presenting Officer: Katie Christodoulides, Senior Planning Officer 
  
Application brought to 
Committee because: 

The recommendation of Linton Parish Council conflicts 
with the Officer recommendation of approval  

  
Date by which decision due: 29 April 2015 
 
 Executive Summary 
 
1.  The application was originally submitted for the replacement of all the windows and   

    door in the front elevation, and replacement of the patio doors in the rear elevation of   
     the building with white, wood grain effect UPVC windows.  Following Amended Plans  
    received on the 15 May 2015 the proposal seeks consent for the replacement of the  
    windows and doors in the front and rear elevation with timber.This follows  
    unauthorized work in which the existing white timber windows  and door were replaced  
    with black UPVC windows 

 
  Planning History  
 
2.      S/0226/14/FL- Change of use from a dwelling to a dental practice-Approved. 

Agenda Item 13

Page 133



 Planning Policies  
 
3. National Planning Policy  

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 

Local Development Framework Development Control Policies 2007: 
DP/1 Sustainable Development 
DP/2 Design of New Development 
DP/3 Development Criteria 
CH/5 Conservation Areas 

 
South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Supplementary Planning 
Documents: 
District Design Guide SPD  
Conservation Area SPD  

 
Proposed Submission Local Plan (July 2013) 
NH/14 Heritage Assets  

  
 Consultation with Council Services and Statutory consultees 
 
4. Linton Parish Council- Recommends refusal. The proposed windows are timber and 

proposed design does not match the original windows and other buildings in the area. 
Concerns are raised regarding loss of privacy from the CCTV cameras and parking of 
contractor vehicles.  

 
 Conservation Consultancy- The proposed timber sash windows and door will 

improve the traditional appearance of the buildings and enhance the Conservation 
Area.  

 
 Representations from members of the public 
 
5. Hill House, 4, The Grip-The proposed CCTV cameras would detract from the 

character of the building and street scene. The proposed UPVC windows would not 
be sympathetic to the character of the area and would be out of keeping. 

 
No Address Provided- Raises concerns regarding the materials and design of the 
proposed windows and CCTV.  

 
No Address Provided-Raises concerns regarding the materials, design, colour of the 
revels and CCTV to the character of the area.  

 
Hill House, The Grip-Raises concerns regarding the character, design, appearance, 
detail and materials for the proposed windows and impact upon the street scene and 
character of the area. Concerns raised regarding the CCTV.  

 
No Address Provided- Objects to the proposal on the grounds of character and the 
proposed windows and doors being out of keeping with the character of the area.  

 
6. Comments from the Planning Officer 
 

The proposal seeks consent for the replacement of five windows and the front door in 
the front elevation of the building, and replacement patio doors in the rear elevation 
with white timber windows and a black timber door. This follows unauthorized work in 
which the existing white timber windows and door were replaced with black UPVC 

Page 134



windows. The site lies within the Conservation Area, with numerous listed buildings 
and more modern buildings located along the High Street. The building is prominent 
in street scene views due to its siting and position on the corner of the High Street 
and A1307.  

 
The proposed white timber windows and patio door, and proposed black front 
elevation door, although not similar in style to the original windows and doors would 
comprise of a traditional sash design. The proposal would be in keeping with the 
simple design and character of the existing property, and the proposed materials and 
detailing would enhance the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. 
The proposed windows and doors would not detract from the character and 
appearance of the existing property, Conservation Area and setting of the adjacent 
listed buildings.  

  
A condition shall be added to ensure the works are completed within three months of 
the date of the permission, given the current works are unauthorized and subject to 
Enforcement action. 

 
Other matters 
Linton Parish Council and various neighbours have raised concerns regarding 
parking outside the property. There is sufficient parking available to the rear of the 
building and an informative will be added to any consent granted to advise the 
applicant of this.  

 
Conclusions  
Having regard to applicable national and local planning policies, and having taken all 
relevant material considerations into account, it is considered that planning 
permission should be granted in this instance. 

 
 Recommendation and Reasons for Approval  
 
8. Approval subject to:          

 
 Conditions 
   
 (a) 

 
 

The development hereby permitted shall be completed within 3 months from 
the date of this permission. 
(Reason – To ensure compliance of the works and that the appearance of 
the development is satisfactory in accordance with Policy DP/2 of the 
adopted Local Development Framework 2007.) 
 

 (b) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans: 14:295/09 Rev C, 14:295/23 Rev A, 14:295/24 
& 14:295/08 Rev B.  
(Reason - To facilitate any future application to the Local Planning Authority 
under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.) 
 

   
 
 Informatives 
   
 (a) The applicant should ensure that construction and delivery vehicles park off 

the public highway and within the site to the rear of the building. 
   
   

Page 135



Background Papers:  
Where the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 require documents to be open to inspection by members of the 
public, then they must be available for inspection—  
(a) at all reasonable hours at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council;  
(b) on the Council’s website; and  
(c) in the case of documents to be available for inspection pursuant to regulation 15, on 

payment of a reasonable fee required by the Council by the person seeking to inspect 
the documents at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council.  

 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or an 
indication as to where hard copies can be inspected. 
 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Core Strategy DPD 2007 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Development Control Policies 

DPD 2007 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Supplementary Planning 

Documents 
• Proposed Submission South Cambridgeshire Local Plan July 2013 
• National Planning Policy Framework 2012 
• National Planning Policy Guidance 
• Planning File: S/0226/14/FL 
 
Report Author:  Katie Christodoulides – Senior Planning Officer 

Telephone: (01954) 713314 

Page 136



Hall

8

Linton Unit

10

28

24

H
E

G
R

IP

28a

B
10

52

16

41.5m

40.9m

20

LB

A 1307

19
21

22

H
IG

H17

2
4

14c

14d

5

3
14

10

14
a

3b

3a

6

7
10a

10

12
8a

16

11
8

B
10

52

6
2

2

The

1

8

8a

46

14b

9

5

3

10
a

Pol
Sta

8

29
a

26

32

30

1

29

1

25

28

41.2m

ST
R

EE
T

3

32

4

Mews

(PH)

Crown

Green Hill

JOINER'S COURT

38

32

14
2

1

4

Coopers Court

FLINT COURT

7to10
3to6

1

18

12

Planning Dept - South Cambridgeshire DC

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
Scale - 1:1250
Time of plot: 12:43 Date of plot: 21/05/2015

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 150m

© Crown copyright.

Page 137



Page 138

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 3 June 2015 
AUTHOR/S: Planning and New Communities Director  

 
 
 
Application Number: S/1888/14/OL 
  
Parish: Dry Drayton 
  
Proposal: Outline application for redevelopment of 

existing garden centre to provide new 
garden centre building, outdoor sales and 
storage areas, establishment of orchards 
and tree and plant nurseries, creating of a 
balancing lake, access and parking 
alterations, and associated and ancillary 
activities (all matters reserved) 

  
Site address: Land south of Huntingdon Road, Dry 

Drayton 
  
Applicant: Hackers Fruit Farm and Garden Centre 
  
Recommendation: Refusal 
  
Key material considerations: Principle of development (whether 

inappropriate development in the Green 
Belt by definition), any other harm to the 
Green Belt, landscape and highway 
impact, very special circumstances  
 

  
Committee Site Visit: No 
  
Departure Application: Yes 
  
Presenting Officer: Paul Sexton 
  
Application brought to Committee because: Officers are of the view that the proposal 

raises issues that merit consideration by 
Planning Committee, and at the request of 
Councillor Bunty Waters 

  
Date by which decision due: 27 November 2014 
 
  
 Executive Summary 
 
1. This proposal seeks permission for the erection of a garden centre building, car 

parking and associated works in the Green Belt and open countryside. 
 

Agenda Item 14

Page 139



2. The proposal is not considered to be acceptable in a planning policy context. The 
development is not consistent with the National Planning Policy Framework or the 
adopted Local Development Framework. The development amounts to inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt by definition. 
 

3. The development will also undermine the reasons for including land in the Green Belt 
and will result in a loss of openness and harm to countryside character. 
 

4. The applicant considers the proposed works are required in the light of the proposed 
improvements to the A14 to enable the long established Hacker’s operation to remain 
viable and competitive and that this provides the ‘very special circumstances’ 
required to justify approval of inappropriate development in the Green Belt. The ‘very 
special circumstances’ have been carefully considered, however, officers are of the 
view that these do not clearly outweigh the identified harm. 
 
Site and Proposal 
 

5. This outline application, with all matters reserved relates to approximately 14.2 
hectares (35 acres) of land located on the south side of the A14. The land concerned 
is largely now in use as arable farmland and includes buildings associated with the 
nursery use. The site is generally flat and includes field hedgerows; these also 
include some hedgerow trees.  
 

6. The northern part of the site is immediately adjacent to the A14. To the south east is 
the Cambridge Crematorium and to the north west is junction 30 of the A14. Existing 
site accesses are available from the A14 and Oakington Road. The land to the south 
of the site is for the most part arable farmland within the open countryside.  
 

7. Generally, apart from the existing nursery buildings located adjacent to the A14, the 
application site is undeveloped and has the appearance of being a part of the open 
countryside. 
 

8. The application, as amended by illustrative details received on 16 March 2015, 
proposes the erection of a garden centre building of approximately 2800m2, along 
with covered area and outdoor plant display, located to the west of the existing 
Hacker’s Fruit Farm buildings, immediately to the south of the A14 and the existing 
access driveway from Dry Drayton Road, and east of the Dry Drayton interchange. 
 

9. A new area of car parking is shown to the south of the proposed building and display 
area, with new orchards to the south of this, and a tree nursery and plant preparation 
area to the east. 
 

10. The illustrative layout plan shows the proposed new route of the new local road 
proposed as part of the A14 Improvements, and access to the garden centre will be 
from the Oakington road, at the new junction proposed by the Highways Agency.  

 
11. The application is accompanied by a Planning Statement, Design and Access 

Statement, Transport Assessment, Ecological Report, Arboricultural Report, Flood 
Risk Assessment and Retail Impact Assessment. 

  
Planning History 

 
12. S/2008/14/OL – Erection of buildings to form garden centre together with access and 

car parking and provision of World War 1 living museum – Refused 
 

Page 140



13. S/1245/13/LD – Lawful Development Certificate for existing use of land for retail of 
garden centre products, trees, shrubs, seeds, fertiliser, garden equipment, home 
produce etc. – Application Awaiting Determination. (This application relates to the 
existing buildings at Hackers Fruit Farm). 
 

14. The site is subject to a number of applications for planning permission relating to the 
developed area of the existing Fruit Farm. None are relevant to the determination of 
this application. 
 
Policy 
 

15. National Policy 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 

16. Paragraph 79 states that the fundamental aim of Green Belt Policy is to prevent 
urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics of 
Green Belts are their permanence and openness. 
 

17. Paragraphs 87 to 90 advise on the definition of inappropriate development, and harm 
to the Green Belt (see paras 66-68 below). 
 

18. Paragraph 19 states that planning should operate to encourage and not act as an 
impediment to sustainable growth. Therefore significant weight should be placed 
upon the need to support economic growth through the planning system.  

 
19. South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Core Strategy 

ST/1 Green Belt  
ST/9 Retail Hierarchy   

 
20. South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Development Control 

Policies 
DP/1 – Sustainable Development 
DP/2 – Design of New Development 
DP/3 – Development Criteria 
DP/4 – Infrastructure and New Developments 
DP/7 – Development Frameworks 
GB/1 – Development in the Green Belt 
GB/2 – Mitigating the Impact of Development in the Green Belt 
ET/5 – Development for the Expansion of Firms 
SF/2 – Applications for New Retail Facilities 
SF/5 – Retailing in the Countryside 
SF/6 – Public Art and New Development 
NE/1 – Energy Efficiency 
NE/3 – Renewable Energy Technologies in New Development 
NE/4 – Landscape Character Areas 
NE/6 – Biodiversity 
NE/9 – Water and Drainage Infrastructure 
NE/10 – Foul Drainage – Alternative Drainage Systems 
NE/11 – Flood Risk 
NE/12 – Water Conservation 
NE/14 – Light Pollution 
NE/17 – Protecting High Quality Agricultural Land 
CH/2 – Archaeological Sites 
TR/1 – Planning for More Sustainable Travel 
TR/2 – Car and Cycle Parking Standards 

Page 141



TR/3 – Mitigating Travel Impact 
TR/4 – Non-motorised Transport 

 
21. South Cambridgeshire LDF Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) 

Landscape in New Developments SPD - Adopted March 2010  
Biodiversity SPD - Adopted July 2009 

 
22. Draft Local Plan 

S/1 – Vision 
S/2 – Objectives of the Local Plan 
S/3 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
S/5 – Provision of New jobs and Homes 
S/7 – Development Frameworks 
CC/1 – Mitigation and Adaptation to Climate Change  
CC/3 – Renewable and Low Carbon Energy in New Developments 
CC/4 – Sustainable Design and Construction 
CC/6 – Construction Methods 
CC/7 – Water Quality 
CC/8 – Sustainable Drainage Systems 
CC/9 – Managing Flood Risk 
HQ/1 – Design Principles 
HQ/2 – Public Art and New Development 
NH/2 – Protecting and Enhancing Landscape Character 
NH/3 – Protecting Agricultural Land 
NH/4 – Biodiversity 
NH/7 – Mitigating the Impact of Development in and Adjoining the Green Belt 
NH/9 – Redevelopment of Previously Developed Sites and Infilling in the Green Belt 
E/16 – Expansion of Existing Businesses in the Countryside 
E/21 – Retail Hierarchy 
E/22 – Applications for New Retail Development 
SC/10 – Lighting Proposals 
TI/2 – Planning for Sustainable Transport 
TI/3 – Parking Provision 
TI/8 – Infrastructure and New Developments 

 
Consultation by South Cambridgeshire District Council as Local Planning 
Authority  
  

23. Dry Drayton Parish Council – recommends refusal because of concerns about 
increased traffic, and development within the Green Belt. 

 
24. Oakington and Westwick Parish Council – No objections in principle, but would 

expect to see comprehensive details of transport access and water management 
plans with any full application. 
 

25. Boxworth Parish Meeting – Approve. 
 

26. Swavesey Parish Council – No objection. 
 

27. Landscapes Officer – Objects to the construction and location of the proposed 
garden centre buildings, covered area and outdoor plant display. The Green Belt is of 
great importance and to prevent urban sprawl. It is recommended that the applicant 
considers replacement of existing buildings provided that the new building is no larger 
than the existing foot print. 
 

Page 142



28. The revised layout indicates a relocated car parking space and garden centre to the 
northern boundary of the site. The fishing lake/balancing pond have been removed 
from the illustrative plan. The above comments still apply to the revised layout. 
 

29. The landscape quality of the site has been assessed as Good with a clear pattern of 
characteristic elements and with minor incongruous elements. It is considered that 
the site and the surrounding area would have a high landscape sensitivity to the 
proposed development. Key characteristics of the landscape are highly vulnerable to 
the type of change being assessed, with such change likely to result in a significant 
change in valued character. These include the removal of arable farmland and rural 
character. 
 

30. The visual effects from the north of the site would be minimal due to the retention of 
existing large conifers. However, the effects of change and development on the views 
to the south, east and west would be adverse. Applicant has indicated some planting 
adjacent to the car to reduce this effect. These works would be insufficient and both 
the car park and the new garden centre would still be visible.  
 

31. The application cannot be supported because of the unacceptable adverse impact on 
both the landscape and visual amenity. 

 
32. Ecology Officer – No objection to the principle of development. The scheme has the 

potential to significantly diversify the range of habitats present on site which, as they 
mature, should provide habitat gain. 
 

33. The Ecology Officer states that he has previously discussed the potential extent of 
Great Crested Newt (GCN) habitat that was on site, and concluded that this was 
negligible given that the vast majority of it is in arable land in cultivation. A condition 
can be included in any consent requiring a survey to be carried out for GCN. 
 

34. The large orchards and waterbody are particularly welcomed. 
 

35. The ecological assessment also identified a low level of badger activity in the area. 
Should any consent be granted then pre-commencement surveys for badgers should 
be undertaken. 

 
36. A condition should be used to control the removal of vegetation during the bird 

breeding season. Bird and bat boxes should be erected to provide instant nesting and 
roosting sites whilst on-site trees mature. 

 
37. Highways Agency – No objection subject to conditions requiring no direct access to 

the A14, and provisions is the event that the proposed A14 Cambridge to Huntingdon 
Improvement scheme is constructed simultaneously with the development. 
 

38. Local Highway Authority – believes that there should be no significant adverse 
effect on the public highway, as the main populations to the site are connected by the 
Highway Agency’s network, which has a far more convenient access. 
 

39. The Highway Authority believes that it is unlikely that vehicles will use Dry Drayton, 
but not impossible, although the village economy may benefit through trade and 
employment.  
 

40. Cambridgeshire County Council (Transportation) – lodges a holding objection, 
stating that it requires a standalone Transport Assessment document detailing the 
current proposals and associated trip generation, with it being made clear that the 

Page 143



WW1 Museum no longer forms part of the application. Comments on the revised 
document will be reported.  
 

41. Environmental Health Officer – No objections. 
 

42. Scientific Officer (Contaminated Land) – comments that the land has been used 
for intensive agriculture, which has the potential to cause land contamination. A 
condition should be included to secure a scheme for remediation of any 
contamination, not previously identified, found during the course of development. 
 

43. Environment Agency – No objection subject to conditions requiring detailed surface 
and foul water drainage, pollution control schemes for the site, and a condition 
dealing with any contamination found during the course of development. 
 

44. Cambridgeshire Archaeology – comments that the site was subject to an 
archaeological evaluation in connection with a previous application for this site, which 
demonstrated that no significant archaeological assets survive. It is considered that 
no further archaeological work, or condition, is required. 
 

45. Asset Information Definitive Map Officer (Cambridgeshire County Council) – 
comments in respect of the original layout that Public Bridleway No.12 Dry Drayton 
runs through and along the edge of the application site. The plan appears to indicate 
that the bridleway may be blocked at one point by additional landscaping, but it is not 
clear. The bridleway must remain open at all times, and there would be an objection 
to any attempt to block it. 
 

46. Any change of surface to the bridleway must be agreed. The fact that the applicant is 
considering creating new pedestrian and cycling access connection is welcomed. 
Details of this should be submitted when available, and would help to compensate for 
the additional traffic along Bridleway 12 that this application creates. 
 

47. Comments on the revised illustrative layout will be reported. 
 

Representations 
 

48. One letter has been received in respect of the original proposal from the occupier of 
Crouchfield Villa, Huntingdon Road, expressing concern about the impact on outlook 
and traffic. 
 

49. Cllr Bunty Waters supports the application. 
 
Applicants Representations 
 

50. In a letter and the Planning Design and Access Statement accompanying the 
application it is stated that proposed garden centre has been substantially reduced in 
size, with the garden centre building being one-third of the site originally proposed. 
The applicant considers this the minimum to size to constitute a viable development 
in the open market, and would ensure the future of the Hackers business, which 
would otherwise have to close. 
 

51. Expansion of Hackers Fruit Farm & Garden Centre will save it from closure.  Hackers 
Fruit farm was established over 90 years ago and employed up to 150m people. The 
garden centre element was added in the 1970’s and 1980’s but trade has suffered 
immensely in recent years because of inadequate access as a result of the closure of 
access points on the A14. Expansion of the garden centre is acceptable in terms of 

Page 144



planning policy for the expansion of existing businesses. Although the retail aspect is 
not an exception to green belt policy, its development as a leisure proposal is 
undoubtedly acceptable in this location. 

 
52. The existing buildings on the application site are obsolete, sited in a haphazard 

fashion and mixed with residential property. All the buildings at the farm (other than 
the farm workshop) and enclosures (some 1600 sq. m) are to be demolished to make 
way for the new residential/farm access, revised residential curtilages and storage for 
the fruit farm. 
 

53. A modern garden centre building (approx. 2800 sq. m or 1200 sq. m net) is to be 
sited on the adjoining land together with a modern outdoor sales area and parking for 
150 cars. The overall size of the garden centre extension has been reduced from the 
refused scheme of 13,800 sq. m to the new proposed 7,800 sq. m. The new building 
will permit the expansion of products on sale, or which were on sale until the recent 
demise of the garden centre business, and the products which were described both in 
the Hacker’s history supporting document and the currently undetermined Lawful Use 
application. 

 
54. The statement states that the proposals will help maintain openness of the Green Belt 

and provide a foil to the introduction of the engineering works that will constitute the 
A14 improvements. 
 

55. The applicant is of the view that the revised proposal is acceptable development in 
the Green Belt in that it either relates to agriculture/horticulture and does not affect 
openness, or it relates to an expansion of an existing business. It is accepted that the 
expansion of the retail element can be regarded as inappropriate development within 
the Green Belt, but the applicant considers that there are ‘very special circumstances’ 
why this redevelopment of the garden centre should be permitted, and these are set 
out in paragraphs 56 - 63 below, and relate to business viability, the A14 
improvements, recreational benefits, environmental benefits, and reduction in building 
size. 
 

56. Business viability.  The scheme has been substantially reduced from that previously 
proposed and refused, and will allow for potential annual sales of between £4-5m, 
which is the minimum that has been advised as necessary for the garden centre to 
compete in the market place. This figure is lower than the £8 referred to in the earlier 
application due to the substantial reduction in infrastructure and highway costs as a 
result of the reduced size of the application proposal. Cash flow figures are set out in 
Appendix 6 of the Planning Design and Access Statement.  
 

57. The applicant considers the above to be a very special circumstance as this local 
family business should be maintained, rather than closing. This is in line with Local 
Plan and NPPF policies supporting the expansion of existing businesses. Some 30 
years ago Hacker’s employed between 100-150 people on this and other sites. The 
proposed redevelopment will provide approximately 50 new jobs for people in the 
local area. The proposed improvements will fill a void in the garden centre sales in 
the north-west sector out of Cambridge, and will allow the Hacker’s business to revive 
and expand so as to compete with larger garden centres at Coton and Huntingdon, 
and the recently enlarged garden centre at Oakington. 
 

58. The statement refers to garden centre premises in Coton and Great Shelford, which 
are also on Green Belt sites, and which have recently been extended to update them 
to modern retail requirements. The smaller garden centre a mile to the east of the 
application site in Oakington is also in the Green Belt but is now allowed to provide 

Page 145



extensive catering facilities, and sells a wide variety of goods. The need for modern 
facilities were advanced as ‘very special circumstances’ at all these sites. 
 

59. A14 Improvements. It is considered that these are of national importance and in 
themselves represent ‘very special circumstances’ as the application helps to 
implement this particular section of the works. In addition it must be accepted that the 
A14 improvements as proposed will irretrievably change the appearance of this part 
of the Green Belt, and the substantial proposals for planting as part of the overall 
proposals in terms of new orchards, strategic planting, provision of a landscaped car 
park, and the provision of tree nurseries, will all help to reduce the impact of the road 
proposals in this area and to maintain the openness of the Green Belt. 
 

60. Recreational benefits. A combination of the now proposed Cambridge access road, 
as part of the A14 improvements, along with the proposals to link both Dry Drayton 
and Bar Hill (and possibly Northstowe) to the site will enable a considerable extension 
of the footpath/cycleway connections from the area direct into the centre of 
Cambridge. Details were referred to in the original travel plan and are now made 
more possible by the latest amendments to the A14 improvements, with the proposed 
road 25a. As such these recreational benefits are regarded as being ’very special 
circumstances’. To aid these recreational benefits it is proposed as part of the 
facilities of the garden centre to provide eating and drinking facilities for walkers and 
cyclists, in additional to the normal cafeteria facilities within the garden centre. 
 

61. Environmental benefits. The ability to redevelop the present garden centre and 
provide a complex in sustainable materials is also a ‘very special circumstance’ The 
details of these are set out in the ‘Design Considerations’ section of the Planning 
Design and Access Statement. 
 

62. Reduction in building size. The redevelopment proposals, which entail the demolition 
of existing outdated buildings on the present site, together with the provision of a new 
garden centre on adjoining land, allows the business to sufficiently expand, with only 
a net increase of 1200 sq.m of floor space. This is a clear opportunity to retain the 
existing business with minimum impact upon the green belt, which should also be 
regarded as a ‘special circumstance’.   
 

63. The Green Belt policy allows necessary expansion of business. Without the 
expansion, as proposed, there will be no business and therefore the Green Belt policy 
and its appropriateness or otherwise will be irrelevant. 
 

64. A further letter in support of the application, which has been submitted by the 
applicant for Member’s consideration, along with additional comments from the 
applicant’s agent and proposed layout plan, are attached at Appendix 1. 
 
Planning Considerations 

 
65. There are a number of key issues for Members to consider in this case; whether the 

proposed development is appropriate development by definition in the Green Belt; 
whether the proposal results in any other harm to the Green Belt; landscape impact; 
highway safety, residential amenity, lighting; ecology; drainage, archaeology and any 
other matters. 
 

66. If it is concluded that the proposal is inappropriate by definition, then this, and the 
extent of any other harm, will require Members to consider whether the applicant has 
demonstrated that very special circumstances exist which clearly outweigh that harm. 
 

Page 146



Principle of development 
 

67. Paragraph 87 of the NPPF confirms that inappropriate development is, by definition, 
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances.  Paragraph 88 states that substantial weight should be given to any 
harm to the Green Belt and that ‘very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the 
potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, 
is clearly outweighed by other considerations. 
 

68. Paragraph 89 of the NPPF states that the construction of new buildings in the Green 
Belt is inappropriate, but lists exceptions, which include buildings for agriculture or 
forestry; provision of appropriate facilities for outdoor recreation as long as it 
preserves the openness of the Green Belt and does not conflict with the purposes of 
including and within it; the replacement of a building provided the new building is in 
the same use and is not materially larger than the one it replaces; and the partial or 
complete redevelopment of previously developed site, whether redundant or in 
continuing use,  provided it would not have a greater impact on the openness of the 
Green Belt and the purpose of including land within it than the existing development. 
 

69. The proposed garden centre (which is not a leisure/recreation use, but a Class A1 
retail use) and in officers view does not fall with the categories of exceptions set out 
above. 
 
Any other harm to the Green Belt 
  

70. The development, the building proposed and the associated works such as car 
parking areas would detract significantly from the openness of the Green Belt. The 
revised illustrative scheme shows the proposed building sited close to the A14 and 
will be largely screened from views from the north by the existing line of conifer trees, 
which are to be retained. However the development would result in the loss of a 
significant area of presently undeveloped Green Belt land. In coming to this view 
officers recognise that the removal of some of the existing much smaller buildings 
within the current area of buildings may increase openness, but consider any benefit 
to be outweighed by the scale and impact of the new building. The development is 
considered to conflict with the purposes of including land in the Green Belt and to 
have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt and, hence, fails to comply 
with the NPPF and Policy GB/1 in this respect. 

 
Impact on landscape character 
 

71. The development of the application site would result in a significant change in the 
character and appearance of the site. At the present time, apart from the limited 
previously developed are of the Fruit farm adjoining the A14, the land is open 
farmland with field hedgerows. The majority of the site therefore is undeveloped and 
has a rural and arable open countryside appearance. Development would introduce a 
significant amount of buildings, roads, parking and associated external lighting onto 
the site which would detract from the appearance of the site in the open countryside. 
It is considered that the introduction of this level of development would be harmful to 
the appearance of the site and the open countryside. 
 

72. Officers accept that the proposed A14 improvement works will have an impact on the 
current openness and character of the land to the south of the site, particularly from 
the new local access road and junction with Dry Drayton Road. Officers are also of 
the view that the proposed location of the new building, other than being on the site of 
the existing buildings, is in the optimum position to reduce visual impact as far as 

Page 147



possible. The applicant has also provided details of a possible design for the new 
building, which would result in a low profile ‘rural’ building, and officer would support 
that design approach. 
 
Access and highway safety 
 

73. There has been no objection in principle to the development on highway from either 
the Highways Agency or Local Highway Authority. Access and highway safety was 
not a reason for refusal in respect of the earlier application, and the scale of 
development proposed has now reduced. 
 
Introduction of additional retail activities 
 

74. The application is accompanied by a retail impact assessment. This seeks to 
demonstrate that the proposed garden centre is acceptable in terms of retail impact. 
The assessment considers existing garden centres for the most part and not wider 
retailing and associated issues. It also makes assumptions in relation to potential 
catchment area based on 20 minute travel times and estimates catchment as being 
some 325,000 people. Following estimating and discounting trade to other garden 
centres, the assessment determines that catchment will be some 165,000, including 
urban extensions. The assessment also estimates expenditure and turnover. 
However, the assessment contains little detail to underpin its assumptions. The 
assessment also goes on the consider site access and layout. Apart from the limited 
material relating to catchment and turnover, there is little conclusive material as to 
impact of the proposed development. Nor is there any meaningful analysis of impact 
on other retailing.  
 

75. The assessment contains little if any sequential analysis relating to the proposed 
location of the garden centre. It has not therefore demonstrated that the proposed site 
is an appropriate location for an enlarged retail development of this size.  However, 
the reasons for refusal of the earlier application, which proposed a larger retail 
floorspace, did not make specific reference to this matter. Officers are therefore of the 
view that it would be unreasonable to object to the current application on these 
grounds. 

 
Other matters (including very special circumstances) 
 

76. Officers have concluded that the proposal is inappropriate development by definition 
as it will not preserve the openness of the Green Belt. 
 

77. The applicant does not agree with the officer view but has, without prejudice to that 
view, set out what are considered to be the very special circumstances that exist in 
this case. These are outlined in paragraphs 56-63 above.  
 

78. Officers recognise that the Local Development Framework and NPPF encourages 
and supports rural businesses, and the need set out for the expansion of the 
business on viability grounds, however policy states that Green Belt issues still need 
to be considered where sites are located within that area. Officers are of the view that 
in this case the harm to the Green Belt identified above outweighs the argument for 
the redevelopment of the existing site in paragraphs 56-63 above. 
 

79. The recreational benefits are recognised, but are not considered to be of a scale in 
this case that would outweigh the identified harm. 
 

Page 148



80. The applicant has referred to other garden centre on Green Belt sites in the 
Cambridge Area, and the consents granted to these. Each application will have been 
considered on its merits, but there are no recent consents that would compare to the 
erection of a new building of the size currently proposed. The cafeteria referred to at 
Oakington was secured by way of the conversion of an existing building rather than a 
new build. 

 
81. In officers view the applicant has not demonstrated that these circumstances are 

“very special” to warrant a departure from advice in the NPPF or from the Council’s 
own adopted policies. The applicant has not provided any real justification as to why 
the proposed development should be considered to be an exception. 

  
 Conclusion 
 
81. This proposal is clearly not consistent with guidance set out in the NPPF relating to 

the Green Belt. The proposed development does not fall within the exceptions for 
development within the Green Belt set out in the NPPF nor within the Council’s own 
adopted planning policies or emerging Local Plan. The development proposed will 
result in a loss of openness of the Green Belt and in addition detriment to the 
appearance of the application site, both as a part of the Green Belt and also as a part 
of the open countryside. 
 
Officer s have considered the ‘very special circumstances’ put forward in support of 
the application. However, whilst officers would like to be able to support a scheme 
which aids the retention and future viability of a long established local company, in 
this case the harm to the Green Belt in terms of being inappropriate development by 
definition, and the other harm to the Green Belt and landscape referred to above. The 
‘very special circumstances’ put forward are not considered to clearly outweigh the 
identified harm. 

 
Recommendation 

  
That the application is refused for the following reasons: 
 
1. The proposed development does not fall within any of the exception 

categories set out within the National Planning Policy Framework relating to 
development within the Green Belt and as such is unacceptable in principle. It 
would lead to an unacceptable loss of the openness and the essential 
undeveloped nature of the Green Belt. The development proposed would be 
inappropriate development within the Green Belt and would not therefore be 
consistent with guidance set out in the National Planning Policy Framework 
and conflict with Policy GB/1 of the adopted Local Development Framework 
2007. 

 
2. Notwithstanding the harm by reason of inappropriateness, the proposed 

development would result would result in a significant change in the character 
and appearance of the site which is located within the open countryside. The 
present undeveloped, arable and open appearance of the site as an integral 
part of the open countryside would be lost as a consequence of the 
development proposed. The development of the site is therefore considered to 
be detrimental to the appearance of the open countryside and the appearance 
of the site. Consequently, the proposal would be contrary to Policy DP/3 (m) of 
the adopted Local Development Framework 2007, which states that 
development will not be permitted if it would have an unacceptable adverse 
impact on the countryside and landscape character. 

Page 149



 
3. Insufficient very special circumstances, have been put forward to demonstrate 

why the harm, by reason of inappropriateness in the Green Belt and other 
harm identified above, is clearly outweighed by these considerations. The 
application therefore fails to satisfy the requirements of paragraph 88 of the 
NPPF 2012.  

 
Background Papers 
Where the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 require documents to be open to inspection by members of the 
public, they must be available for inspection: -  
(a) at all reasonable hours at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council;  
(b) on the Council’s website; and  
(c) in the case of documents to be available for inspection pursuant to regulation 15, on 

payment of a reasonable fee required by the Council by the person seeking to inspect 
the documents at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council.  

 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or an 
indication as to where hard copies can be inspected.  
 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Development Control Policies 

DPD 2007 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Plan Proposed Submission July 2013 
• South Cambridgeshire Supplementary Planning Documents 
• National Planning Policy Framework 2012 
• Planning File References: S/2008/13/OL and S/1245/13/LD 
 
Report Author:  Paul Sexton – Principal Planning Officer 

Telephone: (01954) 713255 
 
 
 
 

Page 150



Dra
in

A 14

Gas

Governor

MS

Tank

PC
Cambridge

Pond

Dra
in

De
f

Hacker's Fruit

Farm

Lay-by

The Folly

Drain

Drain

21.6m

OAKINGTON

Track

Tr
ac

k

Drain

Drain

Stone

ED & Ward Bdy

Def

DRY
DRAYTO

N
ROAD

Stone

Stone

Pond

1.22m Tk H
Ward Bdy

1.22m RH

1.
22

m
Tk

H

Drain

 Station

wage

ROMAN ROAD

HUNTINGDON
ROAD

Drain
Def

ED
& Ward Bdy

Dr
ai

n

Pond

A
14

Dr
ai

n

1.
22

m
R

H

22
m

R
H

HUNTINGDON
ROAD

ROMAN ROAD

Golf Course

Gantry

Dra
in

Crematorium

Westdene

ROAD

Planning Dept - South Cambridgeshire DC

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
Scale - 1:5000
Time of plot: 08:25 Date of plot: 19/05/2015

0 1 2 3 4 5 600m

© Crown copyright.

Page 151



Page 152

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 3 June 2015 
AUTHOR/S: Planning and New Communities Director  

 
 
 
Application Number: S/2829/14/FL 
  
Parish: Fowlmere 
  
Proposal: Conversion of redundant former barn 

building and alterations to form residential 
dwelling and erection of detached garage  

  
Site address: Rear of Lanacre, Chrishall Road 
  
Applicant(s): Mr Colin Blundell 
  
Recommendation: Approval  
  
Key material considerations:  Principle of conversion and housing need 

 Whether the building is capable of          
 conversion 
 Impact on surrounding area and  
 neighbours 
 Access 

   
Committee Site Visit: None 
  
Departure Application: No 
  
Presenting Officer: Andrew Winter/John Koch 
  
Application brought to Committee because: The recommendation of the Parish Council 

conflicts with that of Planning Officers 
  
Date by which decision due: 28 January 2015 
 
 
 Planning History 
  
1. Planning permission was granted for a glasshouse, polytunnel and sales building in 

1995 (ref S/1456/95/F).  
 
2. In 2012 a lawful development certificate (ref S/0436/12/LD) was issued to allow 

occupation of the dwelling at No.86 Chrishill Road by persons not in agriculture work 
as per application SC/72/1244. 

 
Planning Policies 

  
3 . National Planning Policy Framework 2012 
 

Agenda Item 15

Page 153



4. South Cambridgeshire LDF Development Control Policies DPD, 2007: 
 

DP/1 Sustainable Development 
DP/2 Design of New Development 
DP/3 Development Criteria 
DP/7 Village Frameworks 
HG/8 Conversion of Buildings in the Countryside for Residential Use 
TR/2 Car and Cycle Parking Standards 

 
5. South Cambridgeshire LDF Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD): 
 

District Design Guide SPD – adopted March 2010 
 

6. Proposed Submission Local Plan (July 2013) 
 
CC/4 Sustainable Design and Construction 
H/16 Re-use of Buildings in the Countryside for Residential Use 
HQ/1 Design Principles 
S/3 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
S/7 Development Frameworks 
TI/3 Parking Provision 

 
 Consultations 
  
7. Parish Council – Recommends refusal: “Fowlmere Parish Council does not support 

this application (voted 6-0 in favour of refusal to approve). The Parish Council pay 
regard to the National Planning Policy Framework but alongside it the Local 
Development Framework can still be considered where such are up to date and 
consistent with the NPPF – we consider this to be a case in point. The NPPF at page 
14, item 6, para 55 is consistent with the LDF July 2013 chapter 7, ‘Reuse of 
buildings in the countryside for residential use’, policy H/16 ‘Reuse of buildings in the 
countryside for residential use’. The PC feels it doesn’t fulfil the criteria required in the 
NPPF nor does it appeal to follow the criteria in H/16 LDF. 

 
8. The building appears to be a very light-weight construction, more in keeping with a 

shed rather than a substantial agricultural building. The building would appear to need 
a large amount of construction work doing to it i.e. not as described in para b (of 
H/16). This would in reality make it practically a ‘new-build’. 

 
9. The information given as to the marketing of the building for employment purposes 

seems minimal and there is no proof that it has been marketed thoroughly, as would 
have been expected. The circulation areas of the papers employed to market the 
property are very narrow and restricted and one would have expected also that there 
would be a bill-board at the site itself. A 5-year lease seems very restrictive and would 
also reduce the attractiveness. 

 
10. The site lies outside the village framework, and is therefore wholly contrary to 

established policy. Any approval on this site would set a precedent.” 
 
Council’s Rural Consultant (Peter Chillingworth) –  
 

11. “In his letter, Mr Marshall indicates the property has been offered for rent since 
December 2013, some 16 months. He states there has been little interest. He 
mentions that since October there have been four enquiries, none of which 
proceeded. He makes the point in his letter and to me when we spoke that he has 

Page 154



made clear to prospective occupiers that there was considerable flexibility over the 
rental terms and conditions. 
 

12. Advertising has been mainly via websites and he has used 21 sites. I found the 
property is still advertised on Rightmove under commercial property and is easily 
found. The letter mentions a site board that was placed initially and then removed. I 
understand the reasons for removal, and do not consider this will have had a 
significant effect, bearing in mind the rural location and the wide electronic coverage. 

 
13. The issue that has concerned me is the rent indicated on the publicity material. This 

is £10,000 p.a. for 1456 sq ft gross, or £6.87 p.sq.ft. Bearing in mind the rural 
location, limited services, the condition of the rather constrained space and likely 
work needed to the interior before use, to me this seems very high. It is difficult to find 
exact comparable being marketed at the moment; there are very few rural buildings 
on the market, most premises I considered are on industrial estates around south 
Cambridgeshire. Rents advertised for storage/office accommodation can be found at 
similar or below that for the Old Stables and these will have good access to other 
commercial centres, have full services and flexible work space. Notwith standing that, 
some occupiers may find the rural location attractive for certain uses as indicated by 
those who have made enquires, although I consider this a comparatively limited 
market and would generally attract a lower rent than that advertised. 

 
14. Turning to the parish council’s comment, the first paragraphs are not for me to 

assess. However, the comment on marketing fails in my view to consider the 
evidence submitted, but perhaps were not aware at the time of the comments. They 
mention the limited circulation of papers used for advertising; I consider the use of 
websites is far more likely to bring in serious business enquiries than newspapers 
these days. I have already referred to the siting of a bill-board above. 
 

15. I have considered whether the marketing of the Old Stables demonstrates the 
building is inappropriate for suitable employment use in accordance with Policy HG/8 
of the Local Plan. In my view, the marketing has been carried out professionally and 
through the right medium for an appropriate time of 16 months, a period normally 
considered adequate to test the market. I consider the advertised rent is too high 
compared with other property in the area and this might have put some people off. 
However, the fact that the agent is prepared, under instruction from his client, to be 
very flexible when negotiating on the terms of a lease and the rent itself when dealing 
with serious enquiries does help to cancel out the high published rental figure. On 
balance, the marketing exercise indicates, in my opinion, that there is insufficient 
interest in this property to maintain a commercial use and therefore the test of 
unsuitability has been met.” 

 
16. Local Highway Authority – No significant adverse effect upon the public highway 

should result from this proposal, should it gain benefit of planning permission.  
 
17.  Representations 
  

None received 
 
 Planning Comments 
  
18. The main issues in this application are: 
 

• Principle of conversion and housing need 

Page 155



• Whether the building is capable of conversion 
• Impact on surrounding area and neighbours 
• Access 

 
Principle of conversion 

 
19. Paragraph 14 of the NPPF explains that the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development means granting permission unless any adverse impacts would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, or policies in the NPPF indicate 
that development should be resisted. 

 
20. The key policies to consider in this instance are adopted Policy HG/8 of the LDF 

2007, draft Policy H/16 of the local plan and paragraph 55 of the NPPF 2012. 
National planning policy encourages local authorities to avoid isolated homes in the 
countryside except in exceptional circumstances, one of which is where the 
development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and lead to an 
enhancement to the immediate setting. Adopted Policy HG/8 and Draft Policy H/16 
reflect this aim and are therefore consistent with the NPPF. 

 
21. Under the aforementioned local policies the applicant must first demonstrate that 

there is no demand for the existing agricultural building for employment use with at 
least 12 months of marketing evidence at a realistic price. To address this 
requirement, the applicant has submitted evidence from ‘Marshalls’ (letter dated 27 
October 2014), to confirm that there has been no significant interest in the property 
since it was marketed in December 2013. The method and extent of this marketing 
has, however, been called into question by the Parish Council and therefore the local 
planning authority has requested a second opinion from an independent rural 
consultant.  
 

22. The consultant’s report (dated 24 April 2015) argues that the marketing has been 
carried out through the right medium for an appropriate period of 16 months in total. 
The marketing agent has been under instruction from his client to adopt a flexible 
negotiating approach to both the rent and lease period. This, in the consultant’s 
opinion, has helped to cancel out the high published rental figure compared to other 
properties in the area. He concludes that, on balance, the marketing exercise 
indicates that there is insufficient interest in the property to maintain a commercial 
use. On this basis, it would be very difficult for officers to defend a refusal of the 
application based on a lack of sufficient marketing. 
 

23. A further consideration is the council’s lack of a five-year housing land supply, which 
was identified in the two appeal decisions in Waterbeach in June 2014. The Council’s 
housing supply policies in adopted and emerging plans are therefore out of date, and 
in such circumstances paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that there is a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development. It says that where relevant policies are out of 
date, planning permission should be granted for development unless the adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole, or where specific 
policies in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted.   
 

24. The principle of the proposal is therefore considered acceptable taking into account 
the submitted marketing evidence, the opinion of the council’s rural consultant and 
the requirements of paragraphs 14 and 55 of the NPPF. 
 

Page 156



Whether the building is capable of conversion 
 

25. Adopted Policy HG/8 states that any barn that is proposed for conversion must be 
structurally sound and capable of re-use without materially changing its existing 
character. 
 

26. The proposal has been assessed by a professional engineer (GA Gawn Associates) 
on behalf of the applicant and a structural survey submitted in the application. This 
survey recommends that the: 
 
• existing corrugated roof sheeting is replaced with more conventional roof 

coverings (e.g. tiles) and the existing roof structure can be retained; 
 
• internal/external insulation will need to be applied to the detached store; 

 
• ground bearing floor slabs be retained and insulation and damp protection 

added; 
 
• timber framed wall cladding can be retained with insulation applied between 

the studwork framing; 
 
• new internal spaces are divided using new timber framed walls and used to 

support roof structure over; and 
 
• windows and doors set into the perimeter walling. 

 
27. On this basis, it is reasonable to conclude that the existing barn and store can be 

upgraded in a progressive manner to meet habitable standards of accommodation 
without the need for complete demolition and replacement. Consequently, despite the 
objections of the parish council, a recommendation of refusal on these grounds is 
untenable in light of the evidence submitted in the application. A suitable condition 
has been recommended to cover this point. 
 
Impact on surrounding area and neighbours 
 

28. The site is well screened from the surrounding area and neighbours by established 
planting to its boundaries, and the conversion of the building together with the new 
garage is considered to be in keeping with its surroundings. In addition, the 
development would be sufficiently divorced from surrounding neighbours to avoid any 
adverse impact upon residential amenity. Accordingly, the development accords with 
the aims and objectives of Policies DP/2, DP3 and criterion 2(f) of Policy HG/8. 
 
Access 
 

29. The site is served by an existing access and the local highway authority has 
confirmed that it has no objections to the proposed use of the existing access onto 
Chrishall Road. 

 
Conclusion 
 

30. Paragraph 14 of the NPPF explains that the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development means granting permission unless any adverse impacts would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, or policies in the NPPF indicate 
that development should be resisted. 

Page 157



 
31. On balance, the principle of the development is considered acceptable in this 

instance having regard to the submitted marketing evidence and the lack of demand 
for employment use. The building is capable of conversion and its impact on the 
surrounding area is considered to be minimal. The proposal is therefore considered to 
represent sustainable development and appropriate weight must therefore be given in 
favour of the application taking into account the requirements of paragraphs 14 and 
55 of the NPPF. 
 
Recommendation 

  
32.  Approval, subject to the following: 
 
 Conditions  
 

a) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans: 8090-P01, 8090-P05, 8090-P06, 8090-P07 and 
8090-P08. 
(Reason - To facilitate any future application to the Local Planning Authority under 
Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.) 

 
b) The external materials of the development, hereby permitted, shall be 

installed in accordance with the specifications set out in the application 
forms and approved plans.  
(Reason - To ensure the appearance of the development is satisfactory in 
accordance with Policy DP/2 of the adopted Local Development Framework 
2007.) 

 
c) No development shall commence until a schedule of proposed works 

detailing all those elements of the building involved in the conversion to be 
repaired, renewed, rebuilt or newly constructed, including below ground 
features and specifications of materials to be used, has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The works shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved schedule and any materials 
considered necessary as work progresses shall also be approved. 
(Reason – To ensure the development extensively only involves the conversion of 
the building as approved, in accordance with Policy HG/8 of the adopted Local 
Development Framework 2007.) 
 

d) During the period of construction, no power operated machinery shall be 
operated on the site before 0800 hours and after 1800 hours on weekdays 
and 1300 hours on Saturdays, nor at any time on Sundays and Bank 
Holidays, unless otherwise previously agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority.  
(Reason - To minimise noise disturbance for adjoining residents in accordance 
with Policy NE/15 of the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.) 

 
 
Background Papers 
Where the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 require documents to be open to inspection by members of the 
public, they must be available for inspection: -  
(a) at all reasonable hours at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council;  
(b) on the Council’s website; and  

Page 158



(c) in the case of documents to be available for inspection pursuant to regulation 15, on 
payment of a reasonable fee required by the Council by the person seeking to inspect 
the documents at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council.  

 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or an 
indication as to where hard copies can be inspected.  
 
• Planning File Refs: S/1456/95/F & S/0436/12/LD 

 
Report Author:  Andrew Winter – Senior Planning Officer 

Telephone: (01954) 713082 

Page 159



Page 160

This page is left blank intentionally.



Shelter

LB

1

4

25

Recreation Ground

18
b

20b

20a

LO
N

D
O

N
R

O
A

D

25.5m

20

19

21

Cottage

B
13

68

B
13

68

Appleacre

Pump

3213

8

Piggery

C
H

R
IS

H
A

LL
R

O
A

D

28.3m

Lanacre

Appleacre Park

12

7

Newlands

Appleacre Lodge

5

24a

Track

Planning Dept - South Cambridgeshire DC

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
Scale - 1:2500
Time of plot: 08:36 Date of plot: 19/05/2015

0 1 2 300m

© Crown copyright.

Page 161



Page 162

This page is left blank intentionally.



 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  
Report To: Planning Committee  

 
3 June 2015 

Lead Officer: Legal and Democratic Services Manager   
 

 
 

Public Speaking Protocol – Review of arrangements at Planning Committee meetings 
 
 

Purpose 
 
1. To conduct a review of the public speaking protocol and, specifically, to consider 

paragraphs 8 and 9. 
 
Recommendations 

 
2. It is recommended that the Planning Committee endorses the draft protocol attached 

at Appendix A, reflected the changes highlighted in paragraphs 8 and 9 of this report, 
and Appendix B (changes included). 
 
Reasons for Recommendations 

 
3. The protocol needs to be reviewed at regular intervals in order to remain effective, 

relevant and understandable. 
 

Background 
 
4. At its meeting on 24 May 2007, Council resolved that public speaking at Planning 

Committee be introduced, and that the Planning Committee be authorised to review 
and amend the scheme at its discretion, Part 4 of the Constitution being amended 
accordingly.   
 

5. Planning Committee last reviewed the protocol in May 2014 but did not make any 
changes to the Protocol agreed 12 months earlier.   

 
Considerations 

 
6. Public speaking at Planning Committee meetings, which includes contributions from 

local Members not on the Committee and members of parish councils, has been well 
received generally, and has allowed applicants, their agents, and objectors to take a 
greater part in the planning application process. 

 
7. During the past few years, public speaking has operated well, but unforeseen 

circumstances have arisen from time to time, which have been dealt with under the 
Committee Chairman’s general discretionary powers.   
 

8. Recent experience has shown how difficult it is to estimate what time individual 
applications will be considered at meetings. Factors such as withdrawal of earlier 
items from the agenda, the number of public speakers, and unforeseen 
circumstances can all play a part. Therefore, it is proposed that formal advice should 
be that all public speakers should be in the Council Chamber at the beginning of the 
meeting. 

Agenda Item 16

Page 163



 
9. At the meeting in May, a Parish Council was represented by an agent, Although the 

current protocol requires Parish Councils to be represented either by elected or co-
opted Councillors, it is the case that applicants and objectors sometimes appoint 
agents. There have been a few instances where local Members have been 
represented by other Members. There is no legal reason why Parish Councils should 
not be represented by agents. Officers propose therefore that Parish Councils should 
be allowed to appoint agents, and that those agents should include their Clerks.  

 
Options 

 
10. To leave the public speaking protocol as it is, namely as agreed in 2013 and 

reaffirmed last year. 
 

11. To endorse and adopt the protocol, as amended and set out in Appendix A to this 
report. 
 

12. To amend the protocol in some other way, perhaps omitting the proposals set out in 
either paragraph 8 or 9, and perhaps reflecting other issues. 

 
Implications 
 

13. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk 
management, equality and diversity, climate change, community safety and any other 
key issues, the following implications have been considered: - 

 
 Equality and Diversity 
14. The protocol is available electronically and in hard copy.  Provision has been made 

for the document to be provided in alternative formats.  Democratic Services Officers 
can advise verbally about the protocol’s main requirements. 

 
Consultation responses (including from the Youth Council) 

 
15. External consultation was not deemed appropriate. 
 

Effect on Strategic Aims 
 
16.. The introduction of, and subsequent agreement of improvements to, the public 

speaking scheme, enables effective engagement by residents and parish councils 
with the decision-making process. 

 
 
Background Papers 
 
None 
 
Report Author:  Ian Senior – Democratic Services Officer  

Telephone: (01954) 713028 

Page 164



 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Public Speaking  
at meetings of the Planning Committee 

 
 

Approved May 2013 
Reaffirmed May 2014 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 165



 

 

 

 

What is the Planning Committee? 
 
The Council’s Planning Committee consists of 13  [number] District Councillors and is responsible for the 
determination of the larger, more complex or sensitive planning applications submitted to the Council.  It also 
deals with other matters such as some public rights of way, the protection of important hedgerows, tree 
preservation and the administration and enforcement of building regulation regimes for existing or proposed 
buildings.  A complete list of matters decided by the Planning Committee can be found by looking at the 
Council’s Constitution (insert link).  

When and where do Planning Committee meetings take place? 
 
The Planning Committee meets in the Council Chamber at South Cambs Hall, Cambourne Business Park, 
Cambourne, Cambridge, CB23 6EA at 10.00am[time] on a Wednesday, which is usually the first Wednesday 
each month.  Further details, including contacts, directions, and variations to dates are available on the 
Council’s website (www.scambs.gov.uk and follow the links from ‘Your Council’) or by phoning Democratic 
Services on 03450 450 500. 

Can anyone attend Planning Committee meetings? 
 
Meetings of the Planning Committee are open to the public, so anyone is able to attend.  A range of people with 
differing interests in specific applications observe these meetings, whether they are applicants or an applicant’s 
agent, objectors, neighbours or other residents, local District Councillors or members of Parish Councils. 
Despite being a public meeting, in some very occasional cases the law does allow the committee to consider 
some matters in private.  For example, an application may contain information of a personal or commercially 
sensitive nature that the Council would not be able to publicise.  In every case, however, the public interest in 
excluding the press and public from the meeting room must outweigh the public interest in having the 
information disclosed. 

Can anyone speak at Planning Committee meetings? 
 
The Planning Committee welcomes public speaking and participation from outside of the Committee’s 
membership.  Other than Members of the Planning Committee and the Council’s officers, there are four main 
categories of other people able to speak at meetings of the Committee: - 
 

(1) 1 x Objector or objector’s agent 
(2) 1 x Supporter (usually the applicant or planning agent) 
(3) 1 x Parish Council representative (but not the Clerk)(elected or co-opted Councillor, agent or Parish 

Clerk) 
(4) Local District Councillor(s) or another cllr appointed by them.   

 
Parish Councils and local Members speak as part of the planning process, regardless of whether they support 
or oppose an application.  Objectors and Supporters speak as part of the specific application and, except in 
exceptional circumstances identified by the Committee Chairman prior to the meeting, number one in favour 
and one against.  Where more than one objector or supporter exists, they are encouraged to agree between 
themselves on a presentation that covers all their concerns. 
 
In exceptional circumstances, the Committee Chairman may opt to make special arrangements such as where 
a neighbouring parish is perceived as being significantly affected by a proposal, or for a Portfolio Holder to 
speak. 
 

Page 166



 

 

 

It is impossible to say at what time each application on the agenda will be discussed. Public speakers should 
therefore be prepared to address the cttee at any time after the beginning of the meeting. 
 

What can people say and for how long can they speak? 
 
Each speech is limited to three minutes.  Speakers are advised to restrict themselves to material planning 
considerations such as: 
 
· Design, appearance, layout, scale and landscaping 
· Environmental health issues such as noise, smells and general disturbance 
· Highway safety and traffic issues 
· Impact on trees, listed buildings, biodiversity, conservation areas and other designated sites. 
· Loss of an important view from public land that compromises the local character 
· Planning law and previous decisions including appeals  
· National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Policy Guidance 
· South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework  
· Visual and residential amenity 
 
Committee members will not be able to take into account issues such as:  
 
· boundary and area disputes 
· perceived morals or motives of a developer 
· the effect on the value of property 
· loss of a private view over adjoining land (unless there is a parallel loss of an important view from public 

land) 
· matters not covered by planning, highway or environmental health law 
· covenants and private rights of access  
· suspected future development, 
· processing of the application, 
· the retrospective nature of a planning application 
 
Speakers should be careful not to say anything derogatory or inflammatory, which could expose them to the risk 
of legal action.  After the objector and supporter have spoken, Committee members may ask speakers to clarify 
matters relating to their presentation.  If those registered to speak are not present in the meeting room by the 
time the relevant item is considered, the Committee won’t be able to wait, and will determine the application – 
officers will be able to say whether a particular item is at the beginning, middle or end of the agenda, but cannot 
give an accurate idea of when it will be considered. 
 
Committee members will have read the written reports prepared for them, so speakers should try to avoid 
repeating points that are already explained in that material.  

Can public speakers give Committee members written information or 
photographs relating to an application or objection? 
 
Yes, but not at the meeting itself. Councillors will be given lots of information to read and digest before the 
meeting, so need to be given as much time as possible to read or view the information.   
 
Please send such information, preferably by e-mail, to Democratic Services (ian.senior@scambs.gov.uk), who 
will circulate the information for you.  In practical terms, such information will not be distributed earlier than 
seven days or later than two days before the meeting.  Please do not supply information directly to members of 
the Planning Committee. 
 
Projection equipment operated by Council officers is available in the Council Chamber.  

Formatted: Normal

Page 167



 

 

 

How are applications considered?  
 
The appropriate planning officer will introduce the item. Committee members will then hear any speakers’ 
presentations.  The order of speaking will be as stated above   The Committee will then debate the application 
and vote on either the recommendations of officers in the agenda or a proposal made and seconded by 
members of the Committee. Should the Committee propose to follow a course of action different to officer 
recommendation, Councillors must give sound planning reasons for doing so. 
 

 
The Council is committed to improving, for all members of the community, 

access to its agendas and minutes.  We try to take all circumstances into account 
but, if you have any specific needs, please let us know, and we will do what we 

can to help you. 
 

Further information is available from Democratic Services, South Cambridgeshire District Council, South Cambs Hall, 
Cambourne Business Park, Cambourne, Cambridge, CB23 6EA – Telephone 03450 450 500. 

democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 
 

Updated: 8 May 2013June 2015 
 

Page 168



 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Public Speaking  
at meetings of the Planning Committee 

 
 

Approved  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 169



 

 

 

 

What is the Planning Committee? 
 
The Council’s Planning Committee consists of  [number] District Councillors and is responsible for the 
determination of the larger, more complex or sensitive planning applications submitted to the Council.  It also 
deals with other matters such as some public rights of way, the protection of important hedgerows, tree 
preservation and the administration and enforcement of building regulation regimes for existing or proposed 
buildings.  A complete list of matters decided by the Planning Committee can be found by looking at the 
Council’s Constitution (insert link).  

When and where do Planning Committee meetings take place? 
 
The Planning Committee meets in the Council Chamber at South Cambs Hall, Cambourne Business Park, 
Cambourne, Cambridge, CB23 6EA at [time] on a Wednesday, which is usually the first Wednesday each 
month.  Further details, including contacts, directions, and variations to dates are available on the Council’s 
website (www.scambs.gov.uk and follow the links from ‘Your Council’) or by phoning Democratic Services on 
03450 450 500. 

Can anyone attend Planning Committee meetings? 
 
Meetings of the Planning Committee are open to the public, so anyone is able to attend.  A range of people with 
differing interests in specific applications observe these meetings, whether they are applicants or an applicant’s 
agent, objectors, neighbours or other residents, local District Councillors or members of Parish Councils. 
Despite being a public meeting, in some very occasional cases the law does allow the committee to consider 
some matters in private.  For example, an application may contain information of a personal or commercially 
sensitive nature that the Council would not be able to publicise.  In every case, however, the public interest in 
excluding the press and public from the meeting room must outweigh the public interest in having the 
information disclosed. 

Can anyone speak at Planning Committee meetings? 
 
The Planning Committee welcomes public speaking and participation from outside of the Committee’s 
membership.  Other than Members of the Planning Committee and the Council’s officers, there are four main 
categories of other people able to speak at meetings of the Committee: - 
 

(1) 1 x Objector or objector’s agent 
(2) 1 x Supporter (usually the applicant or planning agent) 
(3) 1 x Parish Council representative (elected or co-opted Councillor, agent or Parish Clerk) 
(4) Local District Councillor(s) or another cllr appointed by them  

 
Parish Councils and local Members speak as part of the planning process, regardless of whether they support 
or oppose an application.  Objectors and Supporters speak as part of the specific application and, except in 
exceptional circumstances identified by the Committee Chairman prior to the meeting, number one in favour 
and one against.  Where more than one objector or supporter exists, they are encouraged to agree between 
themselves on a presentation that covers all their concerns. 
 
In exceptional circumstances, the Committee Chairman may opt to make special arrangements such as where 
a neighbouring parish is perceived as being significantly affected by a proposal, or for a Portfolio Holder to 
speak. 
 
It is impossible to say at what time each application on the agenda will be discussed. Public speakers should 
therefore be prepared to address the cttee at any time after the beginning of the meeting. 

Page 170



 

 

 

 

What can people say and for how long can they speak? 
 
Each speech is limited to three minutes.  Speakers are advised to restrict themselves to material planning 
considerations such as: 
 
• Design, appearance, layout, scale and landscaping 
• Environmental health issues such as noise, smells and general disturbance 
• Highway safety and traffic issues 
• Impact on trees, listed buildings, biodiversity, conservation areas and other designated sites. 
• Loss of an important view from public land that compromises the local character 
• Planning law and previous decisions including appeals  
• National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Policy Guidance 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework  
• Visual and residential amenity 
 
Committee members will not be able to take into account issues such as:  
 
• boundary and area disputes 
• perceived morals or motives of a developer 
• the effect on the value of property 
• loss of a private view over adjoining land (unless there is a parallel loss of an important view from public 

land) 
• matters not covered by planning, highway or environmental health law 
• covenants and private rights of access  
• suspected future development, 
• processing of the application, 
• the retrospective nature of a planning application 
 
Speakers should be careful not to say anything derogatory or inflammatory, which could expose them to the risk 
of legal action.  After the objector and supporter have spoken, Committee members may ask speakers to clarify 
matters relating to their presentation.  If those registered to speak are not present in the meeting room by the 
time the relevant item is considered, the Committee won’t be able to wait, and will determine the application – 
officers will be able to say whether a particular item is at the beginning, middle or end of the agenda, but cannot 
give an accurate idea of when it will be considered. 
 
Committee members will have read the written reports prepared for them, so speakers should try to avoid 
repeating points that are already explained in that material.  

Can public speakers give Committee members written information or 
photographs relating to an application or objection? 
 
Yes, but not at the meeting itself. Councillors will be given lots of information to read and digest before the 
meeting, so need to be given as much time as possible to read or view the information.   
 
Please send such information, preferably by e-mail, to Democratic Services (ian.senior@scambs.gov.uk), who 
will circulate the information for you.  In practical terms, such information will not be distributed earlier than 
seven days or later than two days before the meeting.  Please do not supply information directly to members of 
the Planning Committee. 
 
Projection equipment operated by Council officers is available in the Council Chamber.  

Page 171



 

 

 

How are applications considered?  
 
The appropriate planning officer will introduce the item. Committee members will then hear any speakers’ 
presentations.  The order of speaking will be as stated above   The Committee will then debate the application 
and vote on either the recommendations of officers in the agenda or a proposal made and seconded by 
members of the Committee. Should the Committee propose to follow a course of action different to officer 
recommendation, Councillors must give sound planning reasons for doing so. 
 

 
The Council is committed to improving, for all members of the community, 

access to its agendas and minutes.  We try to take all circumstances into account 
but, if you have any specific needs, please let us know, and we will do what we 

can to help you. 
 

Further information is available from Democratic Services, South Cambridgeshire District Council, South Cambs Hall, 
Cambourne Business Park, Cambourne, Cambridge, CB23 6EA – Telephone 03450 450 500. 

democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 
 

Updated: June 2015 
 

Page 172



  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 
LEAD OFFICER: Planning and New Communities Director

 
 
Purpose 
 

1. To inform Members about 
Summaries of recent enforcement notices

 
Enforcement Cases Received and Closed

 
2. Period 
 1st Qtr. 2015 
 April 2015 
 May 2015 
 June 2015 
 2015 YTD 
 2014 
 
 

   
Planning Committee  
Planning and New Communities Director 

 

Enforcement Report 

To inform Members about planning enforcement cases, as at 22nd May
enforcement notices are also reported, for information.

Enforcement Cases Received and Closed 

Cases Received Cases Closed
124 
44 
- 
- 

168                                                                                                          
504 

  

3 June 2015 

22nd May 2015 
are also reported, for information. 

Cases Closed 
126 
57 
- 
- 

183 
476 

Agenda Item 17

Page 173



 
 

Enforcement Cases on hand:   
 
3. Target 150    

 
4. Actual 81 
 

Notices Served 
 

5. Type of Notice Period Year to date 
 

    
  April 2015 2015 
    
 Enforcement 1 5 
 Stop Notice 0 0 
 Temporary Stop Notice 0 1 
 Breach of Condition 0 7 
 S215 – Amenity Notice 1 1 
 Planning Contravention Notice 0 1 
 Injunctions 0 1 
 High Hedge Remedial Notice 0 0 
 

Notices issued since the last Committee Report  
  
6. Ref. no.  Village 

 
Address Notice issued 

 PLAENF 1501 Great Chisel 2 North Hall Farm Enforcement  
Notice 

 PLAENF 1598 Melbourn 73 High Street Amenity Notice 
  

-20

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Q1 
2104

Q2 
2014

Q3 
2014

Q4 
2014

Q1 
2015

Q2 
2015

Q3 
2015

Ca
se
s

Planning Enforcement Investigations

Cases Received

Cases Closed

Reduction/Addition to In 
hand

Page 174



7. Details of all enforcement investigations are sent electronically to members on a 
weekly basis identifying opened and closed cases in their respective areas along with 
case reference numbers, location, case officer and nature of problem reported. 
 

8. Full details of enforcement cases can be found on the Councils Web-site 
 

Updates on items that are of particular note 
 
9. Updates are as follows: 
 

a. Stapleford: Breach of Enforcement Notice on land adjacent to Hill Trees, 
Babraham Road. 
Work still in progress regarding legal action relating to the current breach of 
enforcement.  Additional concern noted since the March report regarding the 
stationing of a mobile home on the nursery land section and the importation of 
brick rubble to form a track to link the upper field to the main residence.  
Assessment to the Planning Contravention response and the site inspection 10th 
May 2013 has confirmed the breach of planning control relating to the engineering 
operation to the new track, and breaches relating to the planning enforcement 
notices.  A report to the planning committee was prepared and submitted. The 
Committee authorised officers to apply to the Court for an Injunction under 
Section 187B of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  Members agreed the 
reasons for the application as being the desire to protect and enhance the 
character and amenity of the immediate countryside and the setting of 
Cambridge, Stapleford and Great Shelford in view of the site’s prominent location, 
and the need to address highway safety issues arising from access to the site 
directly from the A1307 
 

The draft statements supporting the proposed proceedings have now been 
considered by Counsel with further information and authorisations being 
requested in order that the Injunction application can be submitted.  
 

In May 2014, Committee resolved to give officers the authority sought and further 
work on compiling supportive evidence undertaken since.  Periodic inspections of 
the land have been carried out, most lately in April 2015 (confirming occupation 
has not ceased, and that breaches of control are continuing and consolidating). 
Statements accordingly being revised and finalised to reflect; injunction 
proceedings still appropriate and proportionate to pursue 
  

b. 1-6 Pine Lane – Smithy Fen 
Previously the subject of a planning consent resulting from an appeal decision 
14th October 2003 under reference APP/W0530/C/03/1113679 The planning 
permission is no longer valid as the owners have failed to comply with their 
planning permission relating to conditions. Additionally a further permission 
granted at appeal for plots 4 & 5 Pine Lane 30th August 2012 under reference 
APP/W0530/A/12/2170121 has also lapsed due to planning conditions contained 
in the appeal decision not being complied with/met. A planning application for 
plots 4/5 has been submitted but not validated.  An application for the remaining 
plots in Pine Lane, 1, 2, 3 & 6 is in the process of being submitted. 
 

Valid planning applications relating to plots 1-6 inclusive have not been received 
as requested therefore a file has been submitted to legal requesting the issue of a 
planning enforcement notice. Notices have now been issued and are effective 
from 21st March 2014 

Page 175



 

Planning enforcement notice issued relating to plots1 to 5 inclusive. Plot no6 is 
currently empty and not in breach of planning control.  Planning application 
covering plots 1 to 5 inclusive subsequently submitted and validated. Planning 
Reference no S/0638/14 refers. Application referred to Planning Committee – 
Application considered by the Committee and refused contrary to officer 
recommendation within the report. A letter issued to owner/occupiers including a 
copy of the Planning decision notice and enforcement notice issued to Plots 1 to 5 
Pine Lane instructing them to vacate the land as set out in the enforcement notice 
- Informed by the Planning Inspectorate (PINS) that an appeal has been 
submitted and validated. Appeal hearing 18th February 2015    
Appeal decision issued 20th May 2015 under reference number 
APP/W0530/A/14/2223632. Appeal allowed subject to conditions. Application for 
award of costs refused. 

 
c. Buckingway Business Park, Swavesey 

Complaint received regarding the stationing of buses belonging to Sun Fun Travel 
on land adjacent to the business park without the benefit of planning permission. 
Retrospective planning application submitted under reference no S/0065/14/FL– 
Outstanding items submitted, application now validated – Planning application 
with external planning consultants – Planning application considered, The Council 
refused permission for use of land for parking of double decker buses / coaches 
and the laying of surfacing, erection of metal fencing and a gate (Part Retention) 
17th September 2014. Sun Fun Travel instructed to vacate the land as soon as 
possible but no longer than 30 days. Sun Fun Travel failed to comply which has 
resulted in a file being submitted to legal for the issue of an enforcement notice. 
Enforcement Notice Issued - Compliance period 1 Month – 10th March 2015. 
Enforcement Notice complied with and buses removed – Further planning 
application received and waiting decision. 
  

d. Pear Tree Public House, High Street Hildersham 
Complaint received regarding the reported change of use of the premises to 
residential without the benefit of planning.  Investigation carried out; however the 
results did not reveal any breaches of planning control at this time.  Further report 
received from parish council, content of which investigated resulting in an out of 
hour’s inspection. Planning breach identified as ground floor being used for 
residential purposes. Breach resolved, situation being monitored. No further 
information at this time. Planning application - Change of use of shop and 
ancillary residential use (use class A1), to a 4 Bedroom house. Planning 
reference S/0040/15 –Refused 27th February 2015. Appeal submitted - Monitoring 
continues 

 
e. Plot 11, Orchard Drive – Smithy Fen 

 
Application received for the change of use of plot 11 Orchard Drive to provide a 
residential pitch involving the siting of 1 mobile home and one touring caravan, an 
amenity building for a temporary period until 2 May 2018. 
The application has in accordance with section 70C of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 been declined.      

 
f. Land at Arbury Camp/Kings Hedges Road 

 
Failure to comply with planning conditions at land known as Parcel H1, 
B1 and G Under planning references S/0710/11, S/2370/01/O, 
S/2101/07/RM, 2379/01/O and S/1923/11 

Page 176



Notices part complied, remaining items under review 
  

Summary 
 
10. As previously reported Year to date 2014 revealed that the overall number of cases 

investigated by the team totalled 504 cases which was a 1.37% decrease when 
compared to the same period in 2013.  The total number of cases YTD 2015 totals 
168 cases investigated which when compared to the same period in 2014 is a 7.69% 
increase in cases   

 
11. In addition to the above work officers are also involved in the Tasking and 

Coordination group which deals with cases that affect more than one department 
within the organisation, including Environment Health, Planning, Housing, Anti-Social 
behaviour Officers, Vulnerable Adults and Safeguarding Children Teams.  Strategic 
Officer Group, dealing with traveller related matters 

 
Effect on Strategic Aims 

 
13. This report is helping the Council to deliver an effective enforcement service by 
 

Engaging with residents, parishes and businesses to ensure it delivers first 
class services and value for money 

 
Ensuring that it continues to offer an outstanding quality of life for its residents 

 
 
Background Papers:  
The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report: None 
 
Report Author:  Charles Swain – Principal Planning Enforcement Officer 

Telephone:  (01954) 713206 

Page 177



Page 178

This page is left blank intentionally.



  
 
  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 3 June 2015 
LEAD OFFICER: Planning and new Communities Director 

 
 

 
APPEALS AGAINST PLANNING DECISIONS AND ENFORCEMENT ACTION 

 
Purpose 

 
1. To inform Members about appeals against planning decisions and enforcement 

action, and proposed hearing and inquiry dates, as 22 May 2015. Summaries of 
recent decisions of importance are also reported, for information. 

 
Decisions Notified By The Secretary of State 

 
2. Ref.no  Details Decision Decision Date 
 S/1759/14/FL Mr D Harrington 

Rear of Lea Court 
Coles Road Milton 
Dwelling 

Dismissed 21/04/14 

 S/1626/14/FL Mr J Pearson 
Adj 22 Church End 
Gamlingay, 
Dwelling 

Dismissed 28/04/15 

 S/1078/14/FL Mr C Blundell 
135 High Street 
Harston 
Extension and one 
dwelling 

Allowed 19/05/15 

 S/0638/14 Mr T Wall 
1-5 Pine Lane 
Smithy Fen  
Cottenham 

Allowed 20/05/15 

 S/2841/14/FL Mr  A Aslam 
1 Iceni Way 
Orchard Park 
Utility Room extended 
into garage with 2 
rooflights 

Allowed 20/05/15 

 
Appeals received 
 

3. Ref. no.  Details 
 

Decision Received 
 S/0462/14/FL 

 
Ms D Collingridge 
Land Morden Grange 
Farm Odsey. 
Fertilizer storage tank 

Refused 27/04/15 

 S/3019/14/FL Mr A Moran 
Tiptofts House station 

Refused 27/04/15 

 

Agenda Item 18

Page 179



Road Harston 
 

 S/2276/14/PB Mr J Tilley 
45 North Road 
Great Abington 
2 Agricultural Buildings 
to form 3 houses 

Refused 01/05/15 

 S/3004/14/FL Dr J Priddle 
59 High Street 
Barrington 
Instalation and 
replacement of new 
windows 

Refused 04/05/15 

 S/0095/15/FL Mr & Mrs Jakes 
19 Burrough Field 
Impington 
Extension 

Refused 12/05/15 

 S/0115/15/FL Mr P Jeffery 
18 Hillside  
Sawston 
Extension and Dormer 

Refused 14/05/15 

 S/0232/15/FL Mr D Starr 
53 Station Road 
Harston 

Refused 15/05/15 

 
Local Inquiry and Informal Hearing dates offered or confirmed in the next few months. 

  
4. Ref. no.  Name 

 
Address Hearing 

 S/1451/14/FL 
S/1476/13/LD 
S/2097/14/VC 

Mr T Buckley 
 

The Oaks  
Willingham 

Inquiry 
20/10/15 
Offered 

     
 Summaries of recent decisions 
 
5. None 
 
 
Back ground Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of 
this report: None 
 
Contact Officer:  Tony Pierce – Development Control Manager  

 
Report Author:  Sara James- Appeals Admin 

Telephone: (01954) 713201 

Page 180


	Agenda
	Public Seating and Speaking
	2 Declarations of Interest
	4 Hauxton: Proposed diversion of public footpath no. 1 under Section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
	Appendix B Order Plan

	5 S/2365/14/OL - Barrington (Former CEMEX Cement Works, Barrington Cement Plant, Haslingfield Road)
	Site plan
	Application file

	6 S/2791/14/OL - Melbourn (Land East of New Road)
	Site plan

	7 S/0070/15/FL - Melbourn (40 Medcalfe Way)
	Site plan
	Application file

	8 S/2625/14/FL - Cottenham (1 Lambs Lane)
	Site plan
	Application file

	9 S/0152/15/FL - Great Shelford (1 Mingle Lane)
	Site plan
	Application file

	10 S/0572/15/FL - Great Shelford (2 Granhams Road)
	Site plan
	Application file

	11 S/1013/15/FL - Cottenham (Cambridge Waste Management Park, Waterbeach)
	Site plan
	Application file

	12 S/0619/15/FL - Impington (3 The Crescent)
	Site plan
	Application file

	13 S/0324/15/FL - Linton ( 2 High Street)
	Site plan
	Applicationfile

	14 S/1888/14/OL - Dry Drayton (Hackers Fruit Farm)
	Site plan
	Application file

	15 S/2829/14/FL - Fowlmere (Rear of Lanacre, Chrishall Road)
	Site visit
	Application file

	16 Public Speaking Protocol - Review of arrangements at Planning Committee meetings
	Appendix A - Public speaking protocol showing proposed changes
	Appendix B  - Public speaking protocol with proposed changes included

	17 Enforcement Report
	18 Appeals against Planning Decisions and Enforcement Action

